FINAL OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED NOVEMBER 18, 2020

New Money / Refunding Issue: Book-Entry-Only Ratings: S&P Global Ratings ........ “AA+"
Fitch Ratings ........cccce...... “AA+"

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based on existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing compliance with certain
covenants and procedures relating to requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code™), interest on the Series
2020 Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not treated as an item of tax preference for purposes of
computing the federal alternative minimumtax. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based on existing statutes, interest on the Series 2020 Bonds
is excluded from Connecticut taxable income for purposes of the Connecticut income tax on individuals, trusts and estates, and is excluded
from amounts on which the net Connecticut minimum tax is based in the case of individuals, trusts and estates required to pay the federal
alternative minimum tax. See“ Tax Matters’ herein.

$23,765,000

City of Stamford, Connecticut
Water Pollution Control System and Facility
Revenue Bonds, Issue of 2020, Series A

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: As Shown on Inside Cover Page

The $23,765,000 City of Stamford, Connecticut Water Pollution Control System and Facility Revenue Bonds, Issue of 2020, Series
A (the “Series A Bonds’) are being issued by the City of Stamford, Connecticut (the “ City”) to finance various capital projects of the Water
Pollution Control Authority of the City of Stamford (“SWPCA”) and for financing costs related to the issuance of the Series A Bonds. See
“Use of Series A Bond Proceeds’ herein. The Series A Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as more fully described herein. (See
“Optional Redemption” herein).

Interest on the Series A Bonds will be payable semiannually on May 15 and November 15 in each year until maturity, commencing
May 15, 2021.

$15,850,000
City of Stamford, Connecticut
Water Pollution Control System and Facility
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Issue of 2020, Series B

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: As Shown on Inside Cover Page

The $15,850,000 City of Stamford, Connecticut Water Pollution Control System and Facility Revenue Refunding Bonds, Issue of
2020, Series B (the “Series B Bonds’) are being issued by the City of Stamford, Connecticut to refinance the SWPCA’s Clean Water Fund
project loan obligation and for financing costs related to the issuance of the Series B Bonds. See “Series B Bonds Plan of Refunding” and
“Sources and Uses of Funds’ herein. The Series B Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.

Interest on the Series B Bonds will be payable semiannually on February 15 and August 15 in each year until maturity, commencing
February 15, 2021.

The Series A Bonds and the Series B Bonds (collectively, the“ Series 2020 Bonds") will beissued asfully registered bonds, registered
in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”). Purchases of the Series 2020
Bonds will be made in book-entry-only form, in the denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, and no physical delivery of the
Series 2020 Bonds will be made to purchasers. Solong as Cede & Co. istheregistered owner of the Series 2020 Bonds, principal and interest
are payableto DTC by U.S. Bank National Association (as successor to Wachovia Bank, National Association), as Trustee and Paying Agent
(the“Trustee”). See“BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM” herein.

The Series 2020 Bonds ar e special limited obligations of the City, payable solely from Revenues and other receipts, fundsand
moneys pledged therefor pursuant to the Indenture, and are secured on a parity basis with other Bonds (as defined herein) and
obligations of the City to the State of Connecticut (the “ State”) issued pursuant to the Clean Water Fund Act, as provided for in the
Indenture (see “SECURITY AND PLEDGE OF THE INDENTURE" herein). The Series 2020 Bonds are not general obligations of
the City. Neither thefull faith and credit nor thetaxing power of the City, the State nor any political subdivision or agency of the State
ispledged to the payment of the Series 2020 Bonds.

The Series 2020 Bonds are offered when, as and if issued, subject to the final approving opinion of Robinson & Cole LLP, Bond
Counsdl, Hartford, Connecticut, and to certain other conditions referred to herein. Certain legal matterswill be passed upon for the Underwriter
by its counsel, Shipman & Goodwin LLP, Hartford, Connecticut. Phoenix Advisors, LLC, Milford, Connecticut has served as municipal
advisor to the City (the “Municipal Advisor”) in connection with the issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds. It is anticipated that the Series 2020
Bonds will be available for delivery through the facilities of DTC or its custodia agent on or about December 9, 2020.



$23,765,000
City of Stamford, Connecticut
Water Pollution Control System and Facility
Revenue Bonds, Issue of 2020, Series A

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: November 15,
As shown below:

Year Principal Coupon Yield cusiPp ! Year Principal Coupon Yield cusip’

2021 $535,000 3.000% 0.220% 852660EK1  2031* $ 865,000 4.000% 1.110% 852660EV7
2022 555,000 4.000% 0.230% 852660EL9 2032* 895,000 3.000% 1.380% 852660EW5
2023 580,000 5.000% 0.250% 852660EM7  2033* 920,000 3.000% 1.550% 852660EX3
2024 610,000 5.000% 0.290% 852660EN5  2034* 955,000 4.000% 1.430% 852660EY1
2025 645,000 5.000% 0.340% 852660EPO 2035* 995,000 4.000% 1.480% 852660EZ8
2026 675,000 5.000% 0.460% 852660EQ8  2036* 1,035,000 4.000% 1.530% 852660FA2
2027 710,000 5.000% 0.560% 852660ER6 2037* 1,075,000 4.000% 1.590% 852660FB0O
2028 745,000 5.000% 0.700% 852660E4 2038* 1,120,000 4.000% 1.630% 852660FC8
2029 785,000 5.000% 0.830% 852660ET2 2039* 1,165,000 4.000% 1.650% 852660FD6
2030 825,000 5.000% 0.920% 852660EU9  2040* 1,215,000 4.000% 1.670% 852660FE4

$6,860,000 4.000% Term Bond due November 15, 2045* 2 — Yield 1.830% 852660FF1

*Priced assuming redemption on November 15, 2030; however any such redemption is at the option of the City

$15,850,000
City of Stamford, Connecticut
Water Pollution Control System and Facility
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Issue of 2020, Series B

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: February 15, 2021; August 15, 2021-2024,
As shown below:

Year Principal  Coupon Yield cusip * Year Principal  Coupon Yield cusiP !
2021% $1,580,000 3.000% 0.220% 852660FG9 2023 $3,220,000 5.000% 0.250% 852660FKO0
2021 2,970,000 3.000% 0.220% 852660FH7 2024 5,005,000 5.000% 0.290% 852660FL8
2022 3,075,000 4.000% 0.230% 852660FJ3

8 February 15th, maturity.

1 Copyright, American Bankers Association. CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP numbers have
been assigned by an independent company not affiliated with the City and are included solely for the convenience of the holders of the Series
2020 Bonds. The City is not responsible for the selection or use of these CUSIP numbers, does not undertake any responsibility for their
accuracy, and makes no representation as to their correctness on the Series 2020 Bonds or as indicated above. The CUSP number for a
specific maturity is subject to being changed after the issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions including,
but not limited to, a refunding in whole or in part of such maturity or as a result of the procurement of secondary market portfolio insurance
or other similar enhancement by investors that is applicable to all or a portion of certain maturities of the Series 2020 Bonds.

2 Qubject to mandatory sinking fund redemption (See “ Redemption Provisions — Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption” herein).



No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the City, the Municipal Advisor or the Underwriter
to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this Official Statement and, if given or
made, such information and representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the City, the Municipal Advisor
or the Underwriter. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there
be any sale of the Series 2020 Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it isunlawful for such person to make such offer,
solicitation or sale. The information set forth herein has been obtained from the City and other sources which they believe to be
reliable, including the information relating to DTC, but neither the City nor the SWPCA makes any representation as to the
accuracy or completeness of such information received from other sources. The information and expressions of opinion herein
are subject to change without notice, except as described herein under “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE.” The delivery of this
Official Statement at any time does not imply that the information herein is current as of any time subsequent to its date.

Bond Counsel is not passing upon and does not assume responsibility for the accuracy or adequacy of the statements
made in this Official Statement (other than matters expressly set forth as its opinion) and it makes no representation that it has
independently verified the same.

Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (the*Underwriter”) has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official
Statement. The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with and as part of its
responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the
Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN EXAMINATION OF
THE SWPCA AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED. THESE
SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR
REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE
ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE
CONTRARY ISA CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

This Official Statement contains forecasts, projections and estimates that are based on current expectations. In light of
the important factors that may materially affect the financial condition of the City, the SWPCA and other economic and financial
matters, the inclusion in this Official Statement of such forecasts, projections and estimates should not be regarded as a
representation by the City, the SWPCA, the Municipal Advisor or the Underwriter that such forecasts, projections and estimates
will occur. Such forecasts, projections and estimates are not intended as representations of fact or guarantees of resullts.

" ou [T

If and when included in this Official Statement, the words “expects,” “forecasts,” “projects,” “intends,” “anticipates,”
“estimates’ and analogous expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements as defined in the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and any such statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties that could cause actua
results to differ materially from those projected. Such risks and uncertainties include, among others, general economic and
business conditions, factors affecting water consumption rates such as weather, changes in political, social and economic
conditions, regulatory initiatives and compliance with governmental regulations, litigation and various other events, many of
which are beyond the control of the City and the SWPCA. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this
Officia Statement. The City and the SWPCA disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions
to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in the City’s expectations with regard thereto or any
changes in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE SERIES 2020 BONDS, THE UNDERWRITER MAY
OVERALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF SUCH
SERIES 2020 BONDS AT LEVELS ABOVE THOSE WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET.
SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.
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CITY OF STAMFORD, CONNECTICUT

Principal Municipal Officials

Manner of

Office Name Selection Term
MO e e s David R. Martin Elected/4 years 6 Y2 years !
Chief of Staff .....oooviii Michael E. Pollard Appointed/4 years 6 Y2years
Director of Administration .................. SandralL. Dennies Appointed/4 years 7 months *
Director of Operations....................... Mark McGrath Appointed/4 years 1%yeas
Director of Legd Affairs.................... Kathryn Emmett, Esqg. Appointed/4 years 6 Y2years
Director of Public Safety, Hedth
andWelfare ..o Thaddeus K. Jankowski, Sr.  Appointed/4 years 8 Y2 years °
Director of Economic Development ....... Thomas Madden, AICP Appointed/4 years 6 yeas
Controller .......coooviiiiiii David A. Yanik Unclassified/indefinite 8 Y2years
Director of Policy & Management ......... Jay Fountain Unclassified 4L years *
Superintendent of Schools.................. Tamu Lucero Appointed/3 years 1lyear °

1 David R. Martin was elected Mayor of the City in November 2013, took office on December 1, 2013, and appointed his cabinet members
shortly thereafter. Mayor Martin represented the 19th District on Stamford’s Board of Representatives for 26 years (from 1987 to 2009) and
served as president for 8 years (2001 to 2009). Mayor Martin was elected to the Board of Financein November of 2011 and served through
November of 2013.

2 Ms. Dennies was appointed as Director of Administration on an interim basis as of 3/2/2020. On July 24, 2020 she was appointed as
Director of Administration. Ms. Denniesalso served asthe Director of Administration under a prior administration.

8 Mr. Jankowski served asa cabinet member for the previous administration and was appointed by Mayor Martin.

4 Mr. Fountain was appointed Acting Director of Policy & Management on November 30, 2015 and Director of Policy & Management on
August 14, 2017. Heisa CPA and CGFM and hasbeen involved in state and local government for the past 45 years, most recently serving
asa menber of the City's Board of Representatives and as Chair of the Fiscal Committee.

5 Ms. Lucero was appointed Superintendent of Schools as of April 24, 2019. She was engaged by Stamford Public Schools as Assistant
Superintendant in June of 2013 and appointed Deputy Superintendent July 1, 2018.

WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
Board of Directors

Name Title
Edward Kelly......oeovecniiieee, Chairman
Merritt Nesin...... Vice Chairman
Robert Barocas Member
Sandy Dennies........oocoeenereneenenennn, Member
MonicaDiCostanzo Member
David Mannis........cccceeeeeeeeecreenennen. Member
Mark McGrath.........ccoceovvvecreenenen. Member
Steven Bagwin........ Member
Adam Perlacky Member
Management and Staff
Name / Title Position
William P. Brink, P.E., BCEE........ Executive Director
Rhudean Bull..........ccccoovevrvievnnnnenn. Administration Manager
Robert Pudelka.........cccoeevveeriennnnn Plant Supervisor
ANNBrown ......coovvvieereerieeeernenn, Supervising Engineer
BOND COUNSEL MUNICIPAL ADVISOR
Robinson & Cole LLP Phoenix Advisors, LLC

Hartford, Connecticut Milford, Connecticut
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Official Statement

$23,765,000
City of Stamford, Connecticut
Water Pollution Control System and Facility
Revenue Bonds, Issue of 2020, Series A

$15,850,000
City of Stamford, Connecticut
Water Pollution Control System and Facility
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Issue of 2020, Series B

Introduction

The purpose of this Official Statement isto furnish information regarding the City of Stamford, Connecticut
(the “City”), the Water Pollution Control Authority of the City of Stamford (the “SWPCA”) and the issuance and
security for the $23,765,000 aggregate principal amount of the City’s Water Pollution Control System and Facility
Revenue Bonds, | ssue of 2020, Series A (the“ Series A Bonds”) and $15,850,000 City of Stamford, Connecticut Water
Pollution Control System and Facility Revenue Refunding Bonds, Issue of 2020, Series B (the “Series B Bonds® and
together with the Series A Bonds, the “ Series 2020 Bonds”), i ssued pursuant to Chapter 103 of the Connecticut General
Statutes (the “Bond Act”) and the Indenture of Trust, by and among the City, the SWPCA and U.S. Bank National
Association (as successor to Wachovia Bank, National Association), as Trustee and Paying Agent (the “Trustee”),
dated as of December 21, 2001 (the “Original Indenture”), as amended and supplemented by the First Supplemental
Indenture dated as of October 1, 2003, the Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 28, 2006, the Third
Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 1, 2006, the Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 1, 2009,
the Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 1, 2013, the Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 1,
2015, the Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 1, 2019 and the Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as
of December 1, 2020, each by and among the City, the SWPCA and the Trustee, and, to be entered into by and among
the City, the SWPCA and the Trustee prior to the issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds. The Original Indenture, as
amended and supplemented to the date of issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds, is herein referred to as the “Indenture.”

The Indenture constitutes a contract among the City, the SWPCA, the Trustee and the holders from time to
time of the Series 2020 Bonds. The Series 2020 Bonds are the sixth issuance of bonds to the public under the
Indenture. In addition to the Series 2020 Bonds, there is $20,250,000 aggregate principal amount outstanding of
Water Pollution Control System and Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2013, $28,990,000 aggregate principal amount
outstanding of Water Pollution Control System and Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 and $15,700,000 aggregate
principal amount outstanding of Water Pollution Control System and Facility Revenue Bonds, Series2019. Inaddition
to bonds, the Indenture also secures the City’s obligations issued pursuant to the Clean Water Fund Act. The Series
2020 Bonds and all bonds of the City issued pursuant to the Indenture on a parity basis with the Series 2020 Bonds
and obligations issued pursuant to the Clean Water Fund Act are referred to herein as the “Bonds.”

Unless otherwise defined in this Official Statement, all capitalized terms used herein will have the meanings
assigned such termsin the Indenture, certain of which are summarized in “ Appendix D — SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE” herein.

The City of Stamford

The City islocated in Fairfield County, Connecticut on Long Island Sound about one hour from New Y ork
City by rail or highway transportation. According to the 2018 U.S. Census Bureau statistics, the City has a population
of 129,026. The City occupies an area of 39.9 square miles and is governed by a Mayor and a Board of
Representatives. See“Appendix A — INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CITY” herein.

Sewer Charges and Benefit Assessments

Sewer Charges and Benefit Assessments are determined by the Board of Directors of the SWPCA in
accordance with Chapter 103 of the Connecticut General Statutes. See “Sewer Charges and Benefit Assessments”
herein.



Security for the Series 2020 Bonds

The Series 2020 Bonds are special limited obligations of the City, payable solely from Revenues (as defined
in Appendix D) and other receipts, funds and moneys pledged therefor pursuant to the Indenture. Under the Indenture,
the City and the SWPCA have covenanted to fix, charge and collect rates, charges, rents, fees and assessments derived
or to be derived from or for the operation, use or services of the Sewerage System and to maintain Revenues available
for debt service on the Series 2020 Bonds in each fiscal year that will equal or exceed 115% of the required debt
service fund deposits. See “SECURITY AND PLEDGE OF THE INDENTURE” herein. As reflected in Table 4
contained under “ Projected Financia Results,” the projected debt service coveragefor the Series 2020 Bondsfor fiscal
years up to and including 2020-21, will not fall below 1.15 times.

The Series 2020 Bonds ar e not general obligations of the City. Neither thefull faith and credit nor the
taxing power of the City, the Statenor any political subdivision or agency of the Stateis pledged to the payment
of the Series 2020 Bonds.

Stamford Water Pollution Control Authority

The SWPCA was established pursuant to Ordinance No. 803 adopted on November 28, 1996, pursuant to
statutory authority as set forth in Chapter 103, Sections 7-245 through 7-273a inclusive, of the Connecticut General
Statutes, Revision of 1958, as amended (the “Connecticut General Statutes’). Prior to that date, the functions of the
SWPCA operated under the Office of Operations of the City. The SWPCA was created to (a) operate the Sewerage
System including the treatment plant located at 111 Harbor View Avenue (the “Treatment Plant”) and to (b) use,
equip, re-equip, repair, maintain, supervise, manage, operate and perform any act pertinent to the collection,
transportation, treatment and disposal of sewage. In addition, the SWPCA manages the City’ s hurricane barrier and
storm water pumping stations. Currently, the average daily flow at the Treatment Plant is about 18 million gallons
per day (“MGD”). The Treatment Plant provides the following unit processes. screenings, raw waste pumping, two
130-foot-diameter primary clarifiers, primary sludge degritting, 15 million gallon capacity biological reactors, four
130-foot-diameter secondary clarifiers, gravity thickeners, gravity belt thickeners and belt filter presses. The
disinfection of the wastewater is provided by ultraviolet light. It provides such services for the City and for certain
portions of the Town of Darien. See“STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY” herein.

Governance and Management

Board Membership and Responsibilities

The SWPCA is governed by a nine-member Board of Directors (the “Board”). By ordinance, the Board
includesthe Director of Operations, Director of Administration, Chairman of the Board of Finance (or his’her designee
from the Board of Finance) and the President of the Board of Representatives (or his/her designee from the Board of
Representatives) and five at-large members appointed by the Mayor and approved by the Board of Representatives.
At least one of the at-large members must be an accountant or financial manager and at least one must be an engineer.
City officials who become members of the SWPCA Board of Directors shall retain this responsibility throughout their
tenures in their non-WPCA positions as City officials. At-large members shall be appointed for three (3) years. The
members of the Board of Directors are shown on the next page:



Length of
Name / Title Title Appointed By Service
Edward Kelly......coooovvvecneieseaine Chairman Mayor 7 years
Merrit NESIN......ccveeereereeieerereeeeens Vice Chairman (Engineer) | Mayor, subject to approva of 7 years
Board of Representatives
Mark McGrath.........ccccvvenerinnennnen. Member, City of Stamford Mavor 2 vears
Director of Operations & y
MonicaDiCostanzo...........cccceeervne. Member, City of Stamford | Mayor, subject to gpprova of 6 years
Board of Representatives Board of Representatives
David Mannis.......cccceevveeneeieenieenns Member, City of Mayor, subject to approva of <1year
Stamford Board of Finance Board of Representatives
SandraDennies.........cccooevvereeenennnnne Member, City of Stamford | Mayor, subject to gpprova of <1year
Director of Administration Board of Representatives
Robert Barocas........cccovevevereeniennnnns Member Mayor, subject to approva of 2 years
Board of Representatives
Adam Perlaky.......cccoeviveiienceeneeinenns Member (Financid Mayor, subject to approva of <1year
M anager) Board of Representatives
Steven Bagwin.........cccovceeenenccnennnd Member Mayor, subject to gpproval of <1yea
Board of Representatives
Management and Staff

The SWPCA is headed by the Executive Director, who is responsible for all technical and administrative
operations of the SWPCA and the implementation of programs, policies and procedures at the direction of the Board.
Brief resumes of the senior SWPCA management appear below:

William P. Brink, P.E., BCEE, Executive Director —Mr. Brink has more than thirty years of progressive experience
in engineering and management of large environmental projects has a unique combination of skills in business
management (MBA in finance from University of Connecticut) |eadership, wastewater utility operations, finance and
engineering. He holds a P.E. in Connecticut and received his B.S. in Civil Engineering and M.E. in Sanitary
Engineering from Drexel University, PA and Cornell University, NY, respectively. Prior to the SWPCA, Mr. Brink
worked for Stearns and Wheelers (now GHD Inc.) leading multi-disciplinary project teams on large wastewater
collection and treatment project including, but not limited to, projects for the Hartford Metropolitan District
Commission, Danbury Water Pollution Control Plant, and Bridgeport Water Pollution Control Authority.

Robert Pudelka, Plant Supervisor — Mr. Pudelka supervises the operation and maintenance of the Stamford Water
Pollution Control Facility and is responsible for compliance of the facility with its National Pollution Discharge
Elimination System (NPDES) discharge permit. He has thirteen years' experience in the wastewater industry, joining
SWPCA in December 2016 as Assistant Plant Supervisor. He became Acting Plant Supervisor in July 2018 upon the
retirement of the previous Plant Supervisor, and became Plant Supervisor in February 2020. Prior to joining SWPCA,
Mr. Pudelka was Superintendent of the New Milford, Connecticut Wastewater Treatment Facility and was a Plant
Operator at the Town of Greenwich Water Pollution Control Facility. He has a Class IV (highest level) Wastewater
Treatment Plant Operator’ s license in Connecticut.

Ann Brown, P.E., Supervising Engineer —Ms. Brown assists the Executive Director in the planning and managing
of engineering and capital projectsincluding design, preparation and review of contract plans and specifications, plant
and pumping station construction management, and sanitary sewer repair and construction management. She also
oversees staff and consultants assigned to the construction projects. Ms. Brown isaProfessional Engineer in the states
of Connecticut and New Jersey with over 30 years of experience in the environmental and civil engineering field. She
earned her Bachelor of Engineering from Stevens Institute of Technology in Hoboken, NJ where she majored in
Mechanical Engineering. Since 2006, Ms. Brown has worked for the City of Stamford Engineering Department on
the Stamford Urban Transitway project aswell asthe Coordinator of Inspectionsand Plan reviews. Sheisexperienced
in civil and environmental design, project management and engineering during construction, and well established in
federal and state procurement and project reporting requirements. Prior to her work with the City, Ms. Brown worked
for consulting engineering firmsin New Jersey on various wastewater and municipal engineering projects.



Rhudean Bull, Administration Manager —Ms. Bull isresponsible for planning, developing, analyzing, evaluating,
and improving various management control systems, policies, work methods and procedures for the efficient operation
of the SWPCA. She assists the Executive Director in identifying the SWPCA's financial, personnel, and material
needs. She manages various administrative activities and human resources functions as well as the hilling function
for the SWPCA. Ms. Bull received a B.S. Degree from South Carolina State University and a Master of Public
Administration with a concentration in Human Resources Management from City University of New Y ork — John Jay
College. She has been certified as a Professional in Human Resources by the Society of Human Resources
Management since 2001 and has over twenty years experience in management and human resources management
fields.

Mark Turndahl, Accountant — Mr. Turndahl joined the SWPCA in 2012 and is responsible for the financial
management of the SWPCA - monitoring and recording cash receipts, preparing monthly financial statements
including budget variance reports and analysis, reconciling bank accounts, approving invoices for payment and
preparing monthly receivable reports. In addition, he ensures monthly debt service payments are made, prepares
requestsfor grant and construction loan funding and workswith the SWPCA'’ s Auditorsto prepare the annual financial
statement. Mr. Turndahl earned a B.S. in Business Administration from the University of Buffalo, aMBA from Pace
University concentrating in Accounting and passed the CPA exam. He has over thirty years of experience having held
audit, financial analysis and controller/treasurer positions in local town and school governments, as well as major
metropolitan New Y ork firms.

Stephen Pietrzyk, Collection System Supervisor —Mr. Pietrzyk has been with the SWPCA for ten years, and serves
as the Collection System Supervisor responsible for the SWPCA’'s Capacity, Management, Operation and
Maintenance (* CMOM”) program via planning, coordinating, and supervising mechanics to operate and maintain the
collection system and pumping stations and the hurricane barrier storm water pumping stations, and the Regulatory
Compliance Coordinator who inspects food preparation establishments for compliance with the Fats, Oil and Grease
(“FOG”) abatement program. Prior to this he owned and operated two environmental consulting businesses for over
twenty years participating in numerous residential, commercial and industrial development projects. Mr. Pietrzyk
received his MS and BS from the University of Connecticut and an AS in Landscape Development from State
University of New Y ork Cobleskill.

In addition, certain City personnel are responsible for providing key support services for the SWPCA, asfollows:

Director of Operations. The Executive Director of the SWPCA reports to the Director of Operations who
provides oversight for operating and capital budget, staff assistance for sewer expansion projects and major
SWPCA policy decisions.

Director of Administration. The Office of Administration provides purchasing, payroll, accounting and
debt management services to the SWPCA.

Director of Legal Affairs. The Office of Legal Affairs provideslegal support and human resource services
to the SWPCA. The office writes and reviews contracts and acts as legal advisor to the SWPCA.

The SWPCA FY 2020 budget includes 47 employees; 46 full-time, and 1 permanent part-time, all of whom are
employees of the SWPCA. The nhumber of employees has generally remained consistent since FY 2017.

Each of the full-time and part-time employees belongs to one of three collective bargaining units represented within
the City. The Municipal Administrators Association (“MAA") and United Automobile, Aerospace, and Agricultural
Implement Works of America (“UAW?") collective bargaining contracts are City-wide. The International Union of
Operating Engineers (“UOE") collective bargaining contract iswith the SWPCA. The collective bargaining contracts
are negotiated through the City’s Office of Legal Affairs.

The collective bargaining agreement between the SWPCA and UOE Local 30 representing the SWPCA operators,
mechanics and utility workers expires on June 30, 2021.

The collective bargaining agreement between the City and UAW who represent the SWPCA laboratory and clerical
staff and electricians expires on June 30, 2021.

The collective bargaining agreement between the City and the MAA Local #2657 of Council #4 of the American
Federation of State, County and Municipa Employees, AFL-CIO representing SWPCA administrators and
supervisors, including the Executive Director, expires on June 30, 2023.



In FY2021, the SWPCA created a new position of Environmental Technician to assist the Regulatory Compliance
Coordinator with the Fats, Oil and Grease (“FOG”) abatement program.

The organizational structure of the SWPCA is generally consistent with similar-sized wastewater utilities and it
appears that al required functions of the SWPCA are adequately staffed. Currently, there are three open positions at
the SWPCA, the Assistant Plant Supervisor, Shift Foreman, and Mechanic. There are no observed shortcomings in
the operation and maintenance of the system due to the open staffing positions. The Authority is actively recruiting
to staff these positions.

Global Health Emergency Risk

The outbreak of COVID-19, arespiratory virus caused by a new strain of coronavirus, has been declared a
Public Health Emergency of International Concern by the World Health Organization. On March 13, 2020, in response
to the COVID-19 outbreak, the President of the United States declared a national emergency. The spread of the virus
has affected travel, commerce and financial markets globally, and is expected to affect global, national and State
economic growth. Financial marketsin the United States and throughout the world have seen asignificant increasein
volatility attributed to COVID-19 concerns, including significant declinesin the stock and bond markets.

In the State of Connecticut, the Governor declared a state of emergency on March 10, 2020 as aresult of the
COVID-19 outbreak. In an attempt to slow the spread of COVID-19 the Governor has issued numerous Executive
Orders restricting social and recreational gatherings and cancelled all public-school classes for al students for the
2019-2020 school year.

On April 1, 2020, the Governor issued Executive Order No. 7S entitled “Protection of Public Health and
Safety During COVID-19 Pandemic and Response — Safe Stores, Relief for Policyholders, Taxpayers, and Tenants”,
which was subsequently amended by Executive Order No. 7W issued April 9, 2020 (as amended, “ Executive Order
No. 7S"). Section 6 of Executive Order 7S established two programs, a “Deferment Program” and a“Low Interest
Rate Program”. The Deferment Program, for the period April 1, 2020 through and including July 1, 2020, offers
eligible taxpayers, businesses, nonprofits, and residents a deferment by three (3) months of any taxes on real property,
personal property or motor vehicles, or municipal water, sewer and electric rates, charges or assessments for such tax,
rate, charge, or assessment from the time it became due and payable. Eligible taxpayers, businesses, nonprofits, and
residents are those that attest to or document significant economic impact by COVID-19, and/or those that document
they are providing relief to those significantly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. The Low Interest Rate Program
provides athree percent (3%) per annum interest rate to al taxpayers on the delinquent portion of the principal of any
taxes on real property, personal property or motor vehicles, or municipal water, sewer and electric rates, charges or
assessments, or part thereof, for three (3) months from the time when it became due and payable until the same is
paid, for any such tax, rate, charge, or assessment due and payable from April 1, 2020 through and including July 1,
2020, unless such delinquent portion is subject to interest and penalties at |ess than three percent (3%) per annum.

Municipalities are required to participate in one or both programs by vote of its legislative body no later than
April 25, 2020. On April 21, 2020, the Board of Representatives voted to participate in the Deferment Program. The
SWPCA Board of Directors was advised by its legal counsel, according to the Executive Order, the municipality’s
governing body (Board of Representatives) determines what the municipality will do. The SWPCA was obligated to
do the same asthe City. The City doesnot believe participation in the Deferment Program will have amaterial adverse
effect on the finances of the SWPCA or ability to pay debt service on the Series 2020 Bonds. A more detailed
discussion of the anticipated impact of COVID-19 on the financial operations of the SWPCA is set forth in Sections
8.2 of “Appendix C- ENGINEERING REPORT” herein.

On November 9, 2020, the Governor issued Executive Order No. 9L, which extended all executive orders
that were unexpired and in effect as of that date, to February 9, 2021. Additional Executive Orders may be issued
from time to time. The State has a dedicated website providing up-to-date information concerning the State’ s actions
in response to the COVID-19 virus, including the Executive Orders, at: CT.Gov/coronavirus. Neither the City, the
SWPCA, nor any of the other partiesinvolved with theissuance of the Series 2020 Bonds has reviewed theinformation
provided by the State on this website and such parties take no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.




City and SWPCA Responseto COVID-19

The City of Stamford began tracking COVID-19 in January of thisyear. In February 2020 the City became
operationalized with the activation of the Emergency Operations Center to focus on preparedness and response efforts
for the safety, health and welfare of employees, residents and visitors. On February 28, 2020 Mayor Martin issued a
press release announcing preparedness efforts for residents. On March 6, 2020 Mayor Martin briefed the press on
further COVID-19 preparedness and response activities. On March 10, 2020 a Public Health and Civil Preparedness
emergency was declared by the Governor with which Stamford complied. The first positive COVID-19 case in
Stamford was reported on March 10, 2020.

To date, there have been many preparedness efforts, interventions and responses to the Public Health
Emergency including the procurement of necessary persona protective equipment, medical equipment, food, shelter
and other necessities during this pandemic. Over 150,000 masks have been distributed; more than 12,500 residents
tested; thousands of patient contacts called upon; hundreds of social service and assistance encounters and countless
hours responding 24/7 to residents needs and concerns.

The City’ s Board of Representatives, Board of Finance and Board of Education are conducting meetings on
aremote basis in accordance with Executive Order No. 7B and most employees and staff are also working remotely
or with staggered office hours and meetings by appointment only. Police, fire, and other first-responders continue their
normal shifts, observing social distancing when able.

The SWPCA, follows City guidelines in its response to COVID-19. The Board of Directors of the SWPCA
is conducting meetings on aremote basis in accordance with Executive Order No. 7B, and the SWPCA administrative
staff are working remotely or with staggered office hours and conducting meetings remotely. SWPCA operational
staff continue their normal shifts, wearing masks and observing social distancing when able.

Potential I mpact

The potential impact of the national and State response to COVID-19 to date, and the continued spread of
COVID-19 and the national and State response thereto, cannot be predicted at this time, but could have a materially
adverse effect on the economies of the State and its municipalities, including the City and the SWPCA and the
SWPCA’s finances, credit ratings and ability to pay the debt service on the Series 2020 Bonds in the future.

This Officia Statement and information incorporated herein include “forward-looking statements’ within
the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, asamended. Such statements are generally identifiable by the terminology used such as“plan,” “ expect,”
“estimate,” “anticipate,” “budget,” “approximately” or other similar words. All forward-looking statements included
in this Official Statement or incorporated herein are based on information available to the City and the SWPCA up to
the date of this Official Statement. The achievement of certain results or other expectations involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results to differ materialy from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements. Neither the City nor the SWPCA assume any obligation to update
any such forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances that arise after the date hereof.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)



The Service Area

The City of Stamford is divided into four geographic taxing districts, based upon municipal services furnished to the
jurisdiction. As the City extends sanitary sewer lines into previously unsewered areas, municipal garbage collection
isalso extended, and the tax district classification is changed accordingly.

The service area of the SWPCA includes the two City taxing districts that are served by sanitary sewer lines, namely
taxing districts A (1) and C/S (4). Within the City, the service areais generally bounded by the Merritt Parkway to the
north, the Noroton River (constituting the border line with Darien) to the east, Old Greenwich to the west, and the
Long Island Sound to the south. The service area includes residential, commercial, government and non-profit
customers.

The SWPCA a so provides transmission and treatment services to sewered areas within the Town of Darien, as noted
previously. Pump stations owned and operated by the Town of Darien convey wastewater to the east side of the City
where the wastewater is then conveyed through the SWPCA’ s collection system to the Treatment Plant.

The section of the City north of the Merritt Parkway is predominantly served by septic systems. The City’s current
Master Plan (2015-2025) focuses on encouraging new housing units and developments to utilize the existing sewer
main. Although the Master Plan does not address extending the sanitary sewer system into areas currently not served
by public sewers, a number of sewer extension projects were completed in recent years.

The customer base served by the SWPCA consists of a diverse mix of residential and commercial customers. In
Stamford, approximately 88% of customersareresidential (including home owners, condominium owners and renters)
and 12% of customers are commercial and industrial in nature. In the recently completed fiscal year ended June 30,
2020, the top ten customers, their total user fees and user fees as a percentage of SWPCA's total operating revenues
are set forthin Table 1 below:

TABLE 1

Overall Top Ten Customers

2020
Annual Billed
Consumption Percent of Total

Name (100 CCF) Consumption?
Stamford Hospitdl..........ccceeeeveeieeeieienens $ 65,978 1.58%
Stamford Housing Authority.........cccceeeeenn 48,286 1.16%
City of Stamford......cccccevvvvevvceecceceecee 44 866 1.07%
Rippowan Park Associates LP................... 42,822 1.03%
SLC Operaing LLC......ccooveeeviviierieneniiens 32,946 0.79%
Cornerstone Apartments..........ccccoceeeveeene 29,864 0.71%
Hoyt Bedford Apartments.........ccccceeeeeueenne. 29,190 0.70%
Stamford Town Center.........ooeeeeeveeeeeeeennn. 27,572 0.66%
Stamford Marriott Hotel .......cccceeeevveeeennnns 22,628 0.54%
Hilton Stamford Hotel..........vveeeeevieinnnees 21,006 0.50%
TOtal. e $ 365,158 8.74%

1
Based on the Fiscal Year 2020 Total Consumption of $4,176,811.



Service Contracts and Agreements

Sludge Processing Agreement with Synagro — The SWPCA performs sludge thickening and dewatering, and
contracts with Synagro for sludge drying, transportation and disposal services. Synagro is responsible for processing
the sludge received from the WPCF to produce a marketable product. This includes testing of the product, marketing
the product, and disposing of the processing residuals. Ultimate disposal of the sludge by Synagro is through land
application, incineration at one of Connecticut’s permitted facilities (e.g., Naugatuck, Waterbury, or Hartford), or
landfill (e.g., York, PA). Sludge processing costs accounted for approximately 20 percent of the SWPCA's annual
operating costs for FY 2019 and is 17.3 percent of operating costs for FY 2020. The agreement with Synagro expired
on March 2, 2019, and the SWPCA negotiated an amendment (Second Amendment) to the contract with Synagro,
which was effective March 3, 2019 and extended the contract an additional fiveyears. The current agreement includes
the following major items: dryer operation 24-hours, five days aweek, SWPCA’s maximum sludge delivery is 6,240
dry tons per year, cost of disposal of sludge cake is avaried price per disposal facility of $84 to 118 per wet ton, and
the base operating charge from $1,776,241.62. As part of the agreement, Synagro is responsible for making a capital
contribution in an amount up to $300,000 toward the cost of one or more capital modifications at the sludge drying
facility and/or the wastewater treatment plant over the five-year contract term. Due to an explosion of the sludge dryer
in August 2019, Synagro was unable to process sudge until repairs were completed in October 2020. During that
time, sludge cake was hauled offsite and disposed at sludge incinerators, landfills, or composting facilities.

Billing and Collection Agreement with Computil — The SWPCA contracts with Computil to provide billing and
collection service assistance as well as consumption data analysis, customer service and reporting. A new contract
was executed on June 4, 2020 for aterm of three yearswith an option to extend for two successive periods of one year
each. According to the terms of the contract, the SWPCA is to pay Computil a lump sum fee of $443,850 for each
contract year for the duration of the agreement (including any extensions).

Darien Interlocal Agreement — As previously stated, the City provides wholesale treatment and discharge services
to the Town of Darien viaan Interlocal Agreement. The agreement includes both capital reimbursement and operation
and maintenance cost share components. The capital reimbursement and operation and maintenance cost shareis based
primarily on measured wastewater flow contribution (by volume). Under the current agreement, the Town of Darien
islimited to an average annual daily flow of not more than 3.7 million gallons per day (MGD) and a combined peak
flow of not more than 9.25 MGD. However, if flows from Darien exceed the allowable maximum, the SWPCA shall
be held harmless from liability, cost, or expense resulting from any incurred penalties, cleanup, and repair costs. If a
regulatory agency takes action against the SWPCA in connection with flow discharges above the limits, payment of
costs, fines, penalties, or damages will be apportioned between the SWPCA and Darien. Additionally, the Town of
Darien will share nitrogen trading credits generated through the operation of the Treatment Plant, based on the greater
of 12 percent or the percentage by volume represented by Darien’'s flow. The agreement provides a formula for
compensation to the SWPCA for operation and maintenance costs and for capital improvements of the Treatment
Plant and collection sewers which convey Darien’ swastewater. Darien contracted revenue (including both capital and
operation and maintenance components) for FY 2019, accounts for approximately 5.8 percent of SWPCA's total
operating revenue. The prior Darien Interlocal Agreement expired on June 30, 2018 and anew agreement was executed
on July 26, 2019, retroactive to October 1, 2018. The new agreement includes flow metering at two additional
interlocal connections (Heather Lane and Lake Drive) from Darien. Thetwo interlocal connections were not metered
previously dueto reportedly low and/or intermittent flow; however, it wasidentified during the flow metering program
for the Infiltration and Inflow Study that the flows from those interlocal connections are higher than expected. The
FY 2019 flow charges to Darien were retroactive to October 1, 2018. Based upon the total flow increase, annual
revenue from Darien increased 10% in FY 2019 and 6% in FY 2020.

Aquarion Agreement — The City accepts water treatment plant sludge from the Aquarion Water Company’s
(Aquarion) Stamford Water Treatment Plant (“ASWTP’) pursuant to the terms and conditions of Aquarion’s
agreement with the SWPCA. Aquarion'sresidua sludge revenueis approximately $300,000 annually to the SWPCA.
Historically, this has represented approximately 1 percent of the SWPCA's total income. Aquarion is addressing
previous issues related to solids buildup in the SWPCA's gravity sewer lines and increased aluminum content in the
ASWTP sludge from ASWTP operations and pilot programs, through the installation of centrifuges at the SWTP. The
SWPCA has notified Aquarion that a condition to Aquarion’s General Permit is that the centrifuges are installed and
the discharge of ASWTP sludge to the SWPCA sanitary sewer be discontinued as soon as possible. The centrifuges
are anticipated to be installed by April 2022. In the meantime, the SWPCA monitors the gravity sewer lines and has
implemented preventative maintenance cleaning to mitigate surcharging events, which is billed to Aquarion. In
addition, any additional disposal costs to the SWPCA related to aluminum content in the sludge will be charged to
Aquarion, but has not occurred at the time of this Official Statement.



City Pooled Cash Arrangement — Under a long-standing agreement with the City, the SWPCA shares in a pooled
cash account controlled by, and in the name of, the City. The SWPCA draws from this account to fund unexpected or
not yet funded capital improvements and to cover operating costs during the periods when the SWPCA’ s on hand cash
balances are not sufficient to meet its operating needs. The SWPCA' s share of this pooled cash account had historically
beenin adeficit. Atthe end of FY 2020, the SWPCA had approximately $24 million in the operating, capital reserve,
and surplus fund accounts. In FY 2019 and FY 2020, the SWPCA maintained a positive pooled cash balance and did
not require any cash advances from the City to cover short-term cash needs.

Sewer Charges and Benefit Assessments

In addition to the establishment of water pollution control authorities, the Bond Act vests authorities with the
power to acquire property by purchase, condemnation or otherwise, to prepare a water pollution control plan, to
acquire, construct and operate a sewerage system, and to establish and revise rules and regulations for the supervision,
management, control, operation and use of the sewerage system, including regulations regarding discharge into the
sewerage system.

The Bond Act a so grants water pollution control authorities with the power to levy benefit assessments upon
the land and buildings in the community which, in its judgment, are benefited by the sewerage system. Assessments
may include a proportionate share of the cost of any part of the sewerage system, including preliminary studies and
surveys, the cost of acquiring land, construction costs, interest during construction and related legal and other
expenses. Revenues from the assessment of benefits may only be used for the acquisition and construction of the
sewerage system providing such benefits or for the payment of principal and interest on bonds or notes issued to
finance such acquisition or construction. Assessments may not exceed the value of the special benefit to accrueto the
property and are due and payable on the date and at the time fixed by the authority. Assessments may be paid in
annual installments, plus interest, not exceeding thirty years. Assessments not paid within thirty days are delinquent
and subject to interest at statutory rates applicable to unpaid property taxes. Any unpaid assessment and interest due
is considered alien on the real estate against which it was levied. Each such lien shall take precedence over al other
liens and encumbrances except taxes and may be enforced in the same manner as property tax liens. Liensfor benefit
assessments may be assigned by municipalities to athird party for collection.

Whenever a municipality has pledged revenue to be derived from charges for connection with or for the use
of a sewerage system to the payment of principal or interest on bonds or notes, the Bond Act requires the water
pollution control authority to establish and revise charges at rates sufficient to produce revenues for the punctual
payment of the principal and interest on such bonds or notes. The Bond Act authorizes municipalities to finance the
acquisition and construction of any part of a sewerage system through the issuance of bonds, notes or other obligations
secured by (a) the full faith and credit of the municipality, (b) revenues derived from the sewerage system use charges
and/or benefit assessments, or (c) both. The Bond Act provides for the other terms and particulars for the issuance of
bonds, notes or other indebtedness, including a maximum maturity of thirty years.



Operating Budget

The SWPCA operating budget is prepared by the Executive Director and submitted to the SWPCA Board for
review and approval. Typically the budget is approved at the February Board meeting. The approved budget is then
forwarded to the Board of Finance as part of the City’s budget package. Unlike other City departments, the Mayor
cannot amend the SWPCA budget. The Board of Finance and the Board of Representatives can approve or reject the
SWPCA budget, but cannot eliminate individual line items. If the budget is rejected, it is returned to the SWPCA
Board with recommendations and comments. The SWPCA can then resubmit an amended or revised budget to the
Board of Finance and the Board of Representatives for approval. By ordinance, all budgets must be approved no later
than May.

The SWPCA, through its Board of Directors, is responsible for setting and imposing sewer user rates and
charges for all customers in the Service Area (which includes Darien and residential and commercia users directly
billed by the SWPCA within Stamford). The Board requires that rates be maintained at levels sufficient to pay
operating and maintenance expenses for the collection and treatment system, to pay debt service on bonds and provide
for reserves. The primary source of Revenuesis from user fees.

Historical Financial Results

The SWPCA was established as a Special Revenue Fund of the City of Stamford beginning on July 1, 1997
and remained a Special Revenue Fund through fiscal year 2001. On July 1, 2001, the City converted the SWPCA to
an Enterprise Fund of the City. Asan Enterprise Fund, the financial activity of the SWPCA is accounted for on afull
accrual basis of accounting, like a private commercial entity. Revenues are recognized when earned (net of
uncollectible allowances), and expenses are recognized when incurred, regardless of when the cash transaction rel ated
to the expense occurs. The Indenture became effective on December 21, 2001 and provides for the deposit of
Revenues into a Revenue Fund held by the City. The Debt Service Reserve Fund and other Funds and Accounts
established under the Indenture (except for the Revenue Fund, the Operating Fund and the Rebate Fund) held by the
Trustee. See“SECURITY AND PLEDGE OF THE INDENTURE — Flow of Funds’ herein. Table 2 below presents
audited financial results for fiscal year 2015 through fiscal year 2019 summarized from the audited financial
statements of the SWPCA.

TABLE 2
Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual
6/30/2019 6/30/2018 6/30/2017 6/30/2016 6/30/2015
Operating Revenues:
Chargesfor Services........cooovevvveiinnnns. $24,665,768 $ 23,556,163 $23,044,678 $22,175,292 $21,736,649
Intergovernmenta...............cceviviiiienn, 2,884,283 1,152,017 1,090,238 2,293,233 1,682,146
L5 $27,550,051 $24,708,180 $24,134,916 $24,468,525 $ 23,418,795
Operating Expenditures:
Sdaies, Benefits,andClams................. $ 6,182,115 $ 6,553,256 $ 6,019,180 $ 6,356,199 $ 5,949,916
Operations and Supplies...........cccceeuvenn.. 7,543,299 6,704,378 6,453,729 7,151,720 7,152,750
Depreciation........c.oovvviiiiiii i 6,149,285 5,971,043 5,713,812 5,582,832 5,507,366
Total e $19,874,699 $19,228,677 $18,186,721 $19,090,751 $ 18,610,032

Operating Income $ 7675352 $ 5479503 $ 5948195 $ 5,377,774 $ 4,808,763

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):

INterest INCOME........c.ovv i iiieeeaaens $ 721592 $ 193801 $ (29,921) $ 83,011 $ 17,789
INEErest EXPENSE. ... . eeeeeeee e aaeen (3,522,162) (3,319,771) (3,322,638) (3,045,171) (3,226,653)
Other Income (EXPENSE).......cvvvevnernnnnns - - 8,040 42,068 -
Specia ASSESSMENtS. .. ...c.vvveieeiieiiiieenes 3,624,079 3,398,245 4,013,718 2,820,959 3,911,081
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)...... $ 823509 $ 272275 $ 669,199 $ (99,133) $ 702,217
Income Before Capitd Contributions......... $ 8,498,861 $ 5,751,778 $ 6,617,394 $ 5,278,641 $ 5,510,980
TransfersIn.......occooiiii i, - - - - 350,520
TraNSFErS OUL. .. vvvve e (421,081) (454,666) (398,132) (324,414) (348,604)
Capita Contributions.............c..ovvvevn.e. 76,832 191,031 66,077 390,150 -
Change inPosition.............ccoevieviiiieenns $ 8,154612 $ 5488,143 $ 6,285339 $ 5,344,377 $ 5,512,896
Net Position, Beginning of Year.................... $83,346,284 $77,858,141 $71,572,802" $69,359,019 $63,846,123
Net Position, End of Year............................ $91,500,896 $83,346,284 $77,858,141 $74,703,396 $69,359,019
* As Restated.
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Operating revenues in fiscal year 2019 were $27.6 million, compared to $24.7 million in the prior year,
primarily reflecting increased sewer use charges. Operating expenses were $19.9 million versus $19.2 million the
prior year, resulting in operating income of approximately $7.7 million compared to $5.5 million in the prior year.
Unrestricted Net Position was 123% of Operating Revenue, an improvement of approximately 15 percentage points
from the prior year.

As of June 30, 2019 the assets ($210.0 million) of the SWPCA exceeded its liabilities ($119.3 million),
resulting in total net assets at the end of the fiscal year of $91.5 million. Net assets increased $8.2 million versus the
prior year-end period primarily due to the increase in Unrestricted Assets ($7.1 million). See Section 8 of “ Appendix
C — Engineer’ s Report” for FY 2020 audited projections.

Table 3 below sets forth the Statement of Net Assets as of June 30 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2015
through 2019.

TABLE 3
Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual
Assets: 6/30/2019 6/30/2018 6/30/2017 6/30/2016 6/30/2015
Currents Assets
Cash and Cash Equivdents ................ $ 22,305,752 $ 17,244,050 $ 11,106,083 $ 6,321,634 $ 4,480,371
Accounts Receivable....................... 12,558,445 10,353,755 7,649,761 5,456,643 4,685,715
Other......cooviii 9,902 9,902 9,902 9,902 9,902
Total Current ASSets ..........cceevvvnnns 34,874,099 27,607,707 18,765,746 11,788,179 9,175,988
Non-Currents Assets
Capitd Assets, Net of Depreciation ..... $128,445,037 $131,753,605 $132,042,927 $134,797,557 $137,934,381
Capitd Assets, not being depreciated .... 3,359,901 3,325,455 3,308,562 3,202,489 4,187,322
Restricted AssetS ......covvveviieiiiinenns 34,413,725 18,925,036 23,979,821 26,503,891 13,357,545
Specid Assessments, net.................. 8,954,779 7,996,588 7,046,936 9,105,897 9,101,044
Deferred Charges, net...................... - - - - -
Total Non-Current ASSetS ............oceueeeen, $175,173,442 $162,000,684 $166,378,246 $173,609,834 $164,580,292
Total ASSELS .iviviiiiiiieiie e e $210,047,541 $189,608,391 $185,143,992 $185,398,013 $173,756,280
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Amounts on Refunding ......... 1,080,866 1,123,048 1,165,888 1,208,070 222,779
Changesin Projection...................... 1,256,995 902,614 660,315 1,617,659 815,165
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources .... $ 2337,861 $ 2025662 $ 1826203 $ 2825729 $ 1,037,944
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred Amounts on Refunding ......... $ 527,377 $ 527377 $ 435488 $ 471,094 $ 667,381
Liabilities:
Currents Liabilities:
Accounts Payable & Accrued Exp........ $ 3,000,754 $ 1,807,304 $ 2560280 $ 2,611,205 $ 2,246,704
Bonds Payable - Current................... 8,835,072 2,627,797 2,559,859 2,392,392 2,149,550
Notes Payable - Current.................... 4,159,858 4,077,555 3,996,881 3,943,011 3,883,503
Dueto Other Funds...................ceee - - - - 3,762,950
Compensated Absences.................... 229,829 230,308 214,122 192,170 21,699
Unearned Revenue.............c.cooeeevnn. 117,998 94,974 185,121 162,903 69,910
Total Current Liabilities ................... 16,343,511 8,837,938 9,516,263 9,301,681 12,134,316
Non-Currents Liabilities:
BondsPayable...........c..coooviiiiiinan $ 75,119,635 $ 66,119,397 $ 62,616,338 $ 65,341,816 $ 51,440,732
Notes Payable 21,699,297 25,859,155 29,936,710 33,933,591 37,876,602
Compensated Absences.................... 121,837 126,306 139,894 135,620 285,298
Net Pension Liability..............cc.oee e 1,852,190 3,028,099 2,539,385 3,431,544 2,163,038
OPEB Ohligations payadle................. 4,125,639 3,789,497 904,000 905,000 867,838
Total Non-Current Liabilities............. $102,918,598 $ 98,922,454 $ 96,136,327 $103,747571 $ 92,633,508
Total Liabilities ........cccoveviiiiiiiiiiiiiees $119,262,109 $107,760,392 $105,652,590 $113,049,252 $104,767,824
Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets.......... $ 43,876,731 $ 45,195,754 $ 50,217,370 $ 49,195,235 $ 50,754,609
Restricted for Debt Service............... 13,608,936 11,247,486 11,170,040 10,905,962 9,597,031
Unrestricted.........coooevii i 34,015,229 26,903,044 19,494,707 14,602,199 9,007,379
Total Net POSition.......c.ccoeeevev i $ 91,500,896 $ 83,346,284 $ 80,882,117 $ 74,703,396 $ 69,359,019
Total Liabilities and Net Position............. $210,763,005 $191,106,676 $186,534,707 $187,752,648 $174,126,843
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Projected Financial Results

While the City and the SWPCA believe that the assumptions that underlie its projections are appropriate,
achieving the amounts projected are dependent on the occurrence of future events which cannot be assured. Thus
actual results achieved may vary from the projections, and such variances may be materially adverse. See Section 8
of “Appendix C — Engineer’s Report” for FY 2020 audited projections. The amounts presented below, including
projected Revenues and Expenses, have not been audited or reviewed by Blum Shapiro & Co. theindependent auditors
for the SWPCA.

TABLE 4

Source: Appendix C — Engineer’ s Report
12



Presented in Table 4 are financia projections for the SWPCA for the period of FY2021 through FY2026. These
financial projections were prepared based on areview of historic performance, audited financial statements, SWPCA
budgets, and guidance provided by SWPCA staff, including areview of capital financing requirements.

Based on the projection of revenues, O& M expenses, existing and projected debt service, and associated assumptions,
it is anticipated that the SWPCA will achieve its debt service coverage requirements over the forecast period with the
adoption of the identified sewer user rate increases seen on Line 4. SWPCA implemented a sewer rate increase in
FY 2021 of approximately 3.2 percent (from $5.00 per CCF to $5.16 per CCF) consistent with its adopted Financia
Policies to provide rate payers with predictable rates and moderate increases in rates on an annual basis. For FY 2022
through FY 2026, Arcadis projects that SWPCA will continue to implement moderate rate increases to continue
building sufficient reserves in anticipation of future capital projects.

These projections reflect the SWPCA'’s views and assumptions with respect to future events as of the date of this
Report and are subject to future economic conditions and other risks and uncertainties. However, actual and future
results and trends could differ materially from those presented herein. Accordingly, Arcadis makes no warranty or
representation that any of the projected values or results contained in this document will actually be achieved. Inthe
event that the anticipated costs and funding levels differ from the projections presented herein, the SWPCA will need
to adjust sewer user rates accordingly.

Based on the projected rate increases herein, SWPCA appears to be in a strong financial position and capable of
undertaking cash funded capital improvements while maintaining strong operating reserves.

Capital Improvement Program

The SWPCA completed a $105 million upgrade of the Treatment Plant in 2006. The upgrade was financed primarily
by grants and loans under the Clean Water Fund program of the State of Connecticut.

Many of the recently completed and ongoing capita projects were and are currently being funded through proceeds
from the 2015 and 2019 bond issues. In total, approximately $13.6 and $6.4 million of the 2015 and 2019 bond issues,
respectively, have been used to fund a variety of SWPCA capital projects. Some of the larger, recently completed
capital projects are highlighted below.

e Secondary Clarifiers — Installed effluent launder covers in Secondary Clarifiers #1, 2, and 4 to reduce algae
growth, and installed a new drive for Secondary Clarifier #2. The work was completed in 2019 and cost
approximately $425,000, which was completely funded through 2015 bond proceeds.

e  Gravity Belt Thickeners— Refurbished GBT #2 in 2019, which cost approximately $95,000 and was completely
funded through 2015 bond proceeds.

o Bedlt Filter Presses — Completed refurbishment of BFP #1 in 2019 and received parts for refurbishment of BFP #3
in 2020. Thework and partsto date cost approximately $470,000, which was partially funded through 2015 bond
proceeds.

o Effluent Water Pumps — Reconditioned all three pumps and installed one new pump in 2020. The pump
replacement cost approximately $100,000, which was funded through 2015 bond proceeds.

e Aeration Tanks— Installed two banana blade submersible mixers in the aeration tanks, as part of a pilot program.
Thiswork was completed in 2020 and cost approximately $110,000, which was completely funded through 2015
bond proceeds.

e Lighting—Installed interior and exterior LED lighting fixturesin the Solids Processing, Chemical, and Operations
buildings and around the WPCF to improve lighting and reduce power usage. The project was completed in 2020
and cost approximately $130,000, which was funded through 2015 bond proceeds.

e Pump Station Electrical Upgrades— Removed existing bel ow-grade power and control panels at Commerce Street
Pump Station and replaced with new panels above-grade. The project was completed in 2019 and cost
approximately $120,000 funded through 2015 bond proceeds. Work is planned at four other pump stations.

e Pump Station Portable Generator Receptacles — Installed portable generator receptacles at all pump stations to
provide connections for auxiliary power during power outages. Thiswork was completed in 2019.
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In addition, as discussed above, the SWPCA'’s current Capital Improvement Plan (“CIP") includes a humber of
projects in various stages of planning or completion. Planning and ongoing projects include the following:

Mapping - Citywide computerized mapping of the sanitary sewer systems using GIS is ongoing with over 99
percent of the sanitary sewers mapped as of end of calendar year 2019 (approximately $275,000 funded through
2013 bond proceeds).

CMOM - Continuation of CMOM program with a variety of initiatives as discussed in Section 4 and 6.
(approximately $1.6 million and $80,000 funded through 2013 and 2015 bond proceeds, respectively).

Sewer Rehabilitation and I/l Program — Work includes the rehabilitation and replacement of sanitary sewer lines
and manholes as part of annual sewer work and 1/l program to reduce I/l in the system (approximately $3.3 and
$1.5 million funded through 2013 and 2015 bond proceeds, respectively.

Preliminary Treatment/Headworks — Engineering design for the preliminary treatment upgrade was completed in
December 2018 and the project was awarded in April 2019 (approximately $790,000 and $2.3 million funded
through 2015 and 2019 bond proceeds, respectively). Some design services and construction related costs were
incurred and encumbered in FY 2020.

Secondary Treatment — Engineering design for the aeration system upgrades was completed in December 2018,
the project was awarded in April 2019, and construction is currently underway, including design services during
construction (approximately $660,000 and $2.7 million funded through 2015 and 2019 bond proceeds,

respectively).

UV System — Engineering design for the UV system upgrade was completed in December 2018, the project was
awarded in April 2019, and construction is currently underway, including design services during construction
(approximately $175,000, $2.5 million, and $1.3 million funded through 2013, 2015, 2019 bond proceeds,
respectively).

Grit System — Engineering design for the grit system upgrade was completed in June 2019 (approximately
$380,000 funded through 2015 bond proceeds).

Plant Water, RAS, and WA S Pumps — Engineering design for the plant water, RAS, and WAS pump replacement
isongoing and is anticipated to be completed in December 2021 and advertised for bid in FY 2022 (approximately
$50,000 funded through 2015 bond proceeds).

Pump Station Generators — Design-build services are being provided for a standby generator at Greenwich
Avenue Pump Station and design for a standby generator at Clay Hill Pump Station was recently completed
(approximately $370,000 funded through 2015 and 2019 bond proceeds).

A summary of the SWPCA's six-year capital plan is provided in Table 5. The capital plan includes replacement or
upgrade of various components of the Treatment Plant including replacement of the plant water and return activated
sludge pumps, rehabilitation of the gravity belt thickeners and belt filter presses, and upgrade of the Treatment Plant’s
headworks, secondary treatment, UV disinfection, and degritting systems. Collection system projectsthat are planned
include; sewer system Infiltration and Inflow Identification and Removal Program and sewer rehabilitation. The
capital plan includes relatively minor rehabilitation of the pumping stations, except for amajor upgrade of the Alvord
Lane Pump Station, generator projects at Greenwich Avenue and Clay Hill Pump Stations, and electrical upgrades at
Six pump stations.
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TABLE 5

Summary of Six-Year Capital Plan by Category ($ Millions)

FUNDED BY FUNDED BY FUNDED BY FUNDED BY
2015 REVENUE 2019 REVENUE 2020 REVENUE oo
DESCRIPTION ESTIMATED COST FY19-20 FY20-21 FY21-22 FY22-23 FY23-24 FY24-25 FY25-26 BONDS BONDS BONDS ——
Treatment Plant
WPCF MAJOR REPLACEMENT AND REPAIRS
MISC WPCF EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENTS $ 2,200,000 $ 350,000 $ 350,000 $ 300,000 S 300,000 | $ 300,000 | $ 300,000 | $ 300,000 | $ 350,000 $ 650,000 S 1,200,000
REHAB BFP's $ 500,000 $ 250,000 $ 250,000 $ 500,000
FINAL CLARIFIER LAUNDER COVERS $ 340,000 $ 340,000 $ 340,000
PAINT (3) FINAL CLARIFIERS $ 225,000 $ 150,000 $ 75,000 $ 225,000
REPLACE FINAL CLARIFIER NO. 3 $ 450,000 $ 450,000 s 450,000
SUBTOTAL WPCF MAJOR REPLACEMENT AND REPAIRS $ 3,715,000 $ 940,000 $ 750,000 $ 825,000 $ 300,000 $ 300,000 $ 300,000  $ 300,000 | $ 690,000 $ - $ 1,325,000 S 1,700,000
UPGRADE PLANT HEADWORKS
Construction phase engineering servcices $ 1,120,000 $ 500,000 $ 620,000 $ 500,000 $ 620,000
Construction costs $ 11,560,000 $ 4,880,000 $ 6,680,000 $ 80,000 $ 4,800,000 $ 6,680,000
AERATION BLOWERS AND EMERGENCY POWER GENERATOR
Construction phase engineering sevices $ 745,000 $ 400,000 $ 345,000 $ 400,000 $ 345,000
Construction costs $ 8,705,000 $ 5,515,000 $ 3,190,000 s 15,000 $ 5,500,000 $ 3,190,000
REPLACE UV SYSTEM
Construction Phase Engineering $ 640,000 $ 400,000 $ 240,000 s 400,000 $ 240,000
Construction costs $ 7,330,000 $ 5,855,000 $ 1,475,000 s 2,055,000 $ 3,800,000 $ 1,475,000
SLUDGE DEGRITTING SYSTEM UPGRADE
Construction Phase Engineering $ 400,000 $ 400,000 $ 400,000
Construction costs $ 4,000,000 $ 4,000,000 $ 4,000,000
REPLACE PLANT WATER AND RAS PUMPS
Design $ 480,000 $ 480,000 s 480,000
Construction Phase Engineering $ 480,000 $ 480,000 $ 480,000
Construction costs $ 6,000,000 $ 6,000,000 $ 6,000,000
SUBTOTAL WPCF MAJOR REPAIRS AND UPGRADE PROJECTS $ 41,460,000 $ 17,550,000 $ 17,430,000 $ 6,480,000 $ - s - s - s - |s 2150000 $ 15400000 $ 23,910,000 $ -
Total Treatment Plant $ 45,175,000 $ 18,490,000 $ 18,180,000 $ 7,305,000 $ 300,000 $ 300,000 $ 300,000 $ 300,000 |$ 2,840,000 $ 15,400,000 $ 25,235,000 $ 1,700,000
Pump Station Upgrades
ELECTRICAL UPGRADES AT PUMP STATIONS $ 720,000 $ 120,000 $ 240,000 $ 240,000 $ 120,000 $ 120,000 $ 480,000 $ 120,000
ALVORD LANE PUMP STATION UPGRADE $ 2,750,000 S 50,000 | $ 200,000 ' $ 2,500,000 S 2,750,000
GREENWICH AVE PUMP STATION UPGRADE $ 370,000 $ 370,000 $ 190,000 ' $ 180,000
MISC PUMP STATION EQUIP REPLACEMENTS $ 685,000 S 85,000 $ 100,000 $ 100,000 | $ 100,000 | $ 100,000 | $ 100,000 | $ 100,000 s 685,000
SUBTOTAL PUMP STATION UPGRADES $ 4,525,000 $ 575,000 $ 390,000 $ 540,000 $ 2,720,000 $ 100,000 $ 100,000 ' $ 100,000 | $ 190,000 $ 300,000 $ 480,000 $ 3,555,000
VEHICAL REPLACEMENTS $ 350,000 S 50,000  $ 50,000  $ 50,000 | $ 50,000 | $ 50,000 | $ 50,000 S 50,000 s 350,000
MISC SEWER REPLACEMENT AND REPAIRS s 1,050,000 $ 150,000 $ 150,000 | $ 150,000 | $ 150,000 | $ 150,000 | $ 150,000 | $ 150,000 | $ 150,000 $ 900,000
5
MANHOLE COVERS s 350,000 ° 50,000 $ 50,000 | $ 50,000  $ 50,000 | $ 50,000 | $ 50,000 | $ 50,000 | $ 50,000 $ 300,000
SEWER LINING, JOINT SEALING AND POINT REPAIRS s 2,420,000 $ 250,000 $ 620,000 $ 400,000 $ 400,000 $ 250,000 $ 250,000 $ 250,000 | $ 250,000 $ 1,020,000 $ 1,150,000
$ -
CMOM (45% SSES and 100% design funded by rev bonds) $ 900,000 $ 150,000 | $ 150,000 | $ 150,000 | $ 150,000 | $ 150,000 | $ 150,000 $ 900,000
CMOM (55% SSES funded by CWF grant) $ 690,000 $ 115,000 $ 115,000 $ 115,000 $ 115,000 $ 115,000 | $ 115,000
SUBTOTAL COLLECTION SYSTEM $ 5,410,000 $ 450,000 $ 1,085,000 $ 865,000 $ 865,000 $ 715,000 $ 715,000 $ 715,000 | $ 450,000 $ - $ 1,020,000 $ 3,250,000
TOTAL $ 55,460,000 $ 19,565,000 $ 19,705,000 $ 8,760,000 $  3,935000 $  1,165000 $  1,165000 $  1,165000|$ 3,480,000 $ 15,700,000 $ 26,735,000 $ 8,855,000
FUNDED BY:
Cash $ 8,855,000 385,000 $ 800,000 $ 700,000 $ 3,820,000 $ 1,050,000 $ 1,050,000 $ 1,050,000
2015 Revenue Bonds $ 3,480,000 $ 3,480,000
2019 Revenue Bonds $ 15,700,000 $ 15,700,000
2020 Revenue Bonds $ 24,620,000 $ 18,790,000 $ 5,830,000
2020 Revenue Bond Premium $ 2,115,000 S| 2,115,000
CWF Grant $ 690,000 S - S 115,000 $ 115,000 $ 115,000 $ 115,000 $ 115,000 $ 115,000
TOTAL $ 55,460,000 $ 19,565,000 $ 19,705,000 $ 8,760,000 $  3,935000 $  1,165000 $  1,165000 $ 1,165,000
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THE SERIES 2020 BONDS
Description of the Series 2020 Bonds

The Series 2020 Bonds will beissued asfully registered bondsin the aggregate principal amounts as set forth
on the inside cover page hereof, will be dated and will bear interest from that date to their respective maturities as set
forth on the inside cover page hereof, subject to optional redemption prior to maturity as described below. Ownership
interestsin the Series 2020 Bondswill be available in denominations of $5,000 and integral multiplesthereof. Interest
on the Series A Bondswill be payable on May 15 and November 15 of each year, commencing May 15, 2021. Interest
on the Series B Bonds will be payable on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing February 15, 2021.

Solong as Cede & Co. istheregistered owner of the Series 2020 Bonds, all payments of principal and interest
on the Series 2020 Bonds are payable by wire transfer by U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee and Paying
Agent (the“Trustee”) to Cede & Co. asnominee for The Depository Trust Company (“DTC"), New York, New Y ork,
which will, in turn, remit such amounts to the DTC Participants for subsequent disposition to Beneficial Owners. See
“BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY METHOD" herein.

Redemption Provisions

Optional Redemption

The Series A Bonds maturing on or after November 15, 2031 are subject to optiona redemption prior to
maturity commencing November 15, 2030, asawhole or in part, at any time, at the option of the City, at the applicable
redemption price (expressed as a percentage of the principal amount redeemed), plus accrued interest to the date of
redemption as follows:

Period During Which Redeemed Redemption Price
November 15, 2030 and thereafter 100%

The Series B Bonds are NOT subject to redemption prior to maturity.
Notice of Redemption

Notice of redemption shall be given by the City or its agent by mailing a copy of the redemption notice by
first-classmail not less than thirty (30) days prior to the redemption date to the registered owner of the Series A Bonds
at the address of such registered owner as the same shall last appear on the registration books for the Series A Bonds
kept for such purpose. Failure to give such notice by mailing to any registered owner, or any defect therein, shall not
affect the validity of the redemption of any other Series A Bonds. Upon the giving of such notice, if sufficient funds
available solely for redemption are on deposit with the Paying Agent, the Series A Bonds or portions thereof so called
for redemption will cease to bear interest after the specified redemption date.

If lessthan all of the Series A Bonds of any one maturity shall be called for redemption, the particular Series
A Bonds or portions of Series A Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by lot in such manner asthe
City in itsdiscretion may determine; provided, however, that the portion of any Series A Bonds to be redeemed shall
be in the principal amount of $5,000 or a multiple thereof and that, in selecting Series A Bonds for redemption, each
Bond shall be considered as representing that number of Series A Bonds which is obtained by dividing the principal
amount of such Series A Bonds by $5,000.

The City, so long as Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), is the registered
owner of the Series A Bonds, pursuant to a book-entry registration system, will send any notice of redemption only to
DTC (or a successor securities depository) or its nominee. Any failure of DTC to advise any DTC Participant, or of
any DTC Participant or Indirect Participant to notify any Indirect Participant or Beneficial Owner, of any such notice
and its content or effect will not affect the validity of the redemption of such Series A Bonds called for redemption.
Redemption of a portion of the Series A Bonds of any maturity by the City will reduce the outstanding principal
amount of Series A Bonds of such maturity held by DTC. In such event it is the current practice of DTC to allocate
by lot, through its book-entry system, among the interest held by DTC Participants in the Series A Bonds to be
redeemed, the interest to be reduced by such redemption in accordance with its own rules or other agreements with
DTC Participants. The DTC Participantsand Indirect Participants may allocate reductions of theinterestsin the Series
A Bondsto be redeemed held by the Beneficial Owners. Any such alocation of interestsin the Series A Bondsto be
redeemed will not be governed by the determination of the City authorizing the issuance of the Series A Bonds and
will not be conducted by, or be the responsihility of, the City, the Registrar, or Paying Agent.
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Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption

The Series A Bonds maturing on November 15, 2045 are issued as term bonds and are subject to mandatory
sinking fund redemption prior to maturity in part on November 15 shown below in the principal amount shown below,
without premium, from sinking fund installments deposited with the Paying Agent which are required to be made in
amounts sufficient to redeem such Series A Bonds (or to pay such Series A Bonds at maturity in the case of the final
sinking fund installment for such Series A Bonds) in the principal amounts shown below, plus accrued interest to the
date of redemption:

$6,860,000 Term Bond
Maturing November 15, 2045

Sinking Fund
Due Installments
2041 $ 1,265,000
2042 1,315,000
2043 1,370,000
2044 1,425,000
2045 1,485,000

1 Final Maturity

Series B Bonds Plan of Refunding

The Series B Bonds are being issued to refund the SWPCA'’' s clean water fund Projects Loan Obligation as
set forth below (the “ Refunded Obligation”). The refunding of the Refunded Obligationsis contingent on the delivery

of the Series B Bonds.

Dated Maturity Interest Par Redemption Redemption
Issue Date Date Rate Amount Date Price
CWF 414-D 6/30/2002 8/31/2025 2.000% $ 20,031,202 12/9/2020 100.00%
Total oo $ 20,031,202

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)
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Use of Series A Bond Proceeds

The Series A Bonds will be used to finance the following projects.
Series A Bonds
Deposit to Capital

Project Project Funds
WPCA Mg or Replacement ..........cccoceeeveeeereeeerenns $ 1,325,000
Upgrade Plant HeadWOrKS ..........cccccvveeveneesienenne 7,300,000
Aeration Blowers Upgrade .........ccceovveevneeenicnennene, 3,535,000
Upgrade UV Disinfection .........ccccvveenenieenenneennn, 1,715,000
Primary Sludge Degritting System .......ccccoceevvenen. 4,400,000
Replace Plant Water and RAS Pumps ................... 6,960,000
Sanitary Pumping Station Upgrade ........ccccceveenne 480,000
Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation ... 1,020,000
TOtAL .o $ 26,735,000

Sources and Uses of Funds

Sources: Series A Bonds Series B Bonds
Par Amount...........oooiiiii i $ 23,765,000.00 $ 15,850,000.00
Net Origind Issue Premium ...................... 5,151,052.90 1,530,758.80
EXistingCWFDSRF .......ccoiiiiiiiiiiii e - 4,424,089.08

Total SOUICES ...vvvieiee e e, $ 28,916,05290 $ 21,804,847.88
Uses:
Deposit to Capita Project Fund .................. $ 26,735,000.00 $ -
Deposit to Debt ServiceFund .................... 400,000.00 -
CWFRepayment ........ccovviiiiieiiieeannsn - 20,041,218.16
Debt Service Reserve Fund ....................... 1,514,700.00 1,585,000.00
Costsof 1SsUanCe™ ... ...one v 266,352.90 178,629.72
TOotal USES ...oviieiiiee e e e $ 28,916,05290 $ 21,804,847.88

1 S
Includes underwriter's discount.

Book-Entry-Only System

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the Bonds,
including the Series 2020 Bonds. The Series 2020 Bondswill be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the
name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. Onefully-registered bond certificate will beissued for each maturity of the Series 2020 Bonds,
in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world' s largest securities depository, is alimited-purpose trust company organized under the New
York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New Y ork Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New Y ork Uniform Commercial Code,
and a“clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and
municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC's participants (“Direct
Participants’) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales
and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and
pledges between Direct Participants accounts. This eliminates the need for physica movement of securities
certificates. Direct Participantsinclude both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies,
clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC isawholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust &
Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC isthe holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation
and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users
of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S.
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a
custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants’). DTC has a
Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.
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Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will
receive a credit for the Series 2020 Bonds on DTC' srecords. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each
Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial
Ownerswill not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected
to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings,
from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of
ownership interests in the Series 2020 Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and
Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates
representing their ownership interestsin the Series 2020 Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system
for the Series 2020 Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such
other DTC nominee do not effect any changein beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial
Owners of the Series 2020 Bonds; DTC' s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Partici pants to whose accounts
such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will
remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If lessthan all of the Series 2020 Bonds within an issue are being
redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to
be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds unless
authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC
mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede &
Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Bonds are credited on the record date
(identified in alisting attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal and interest payments on, and redemption premium, if any, with respect to the Series 2020 Bonds
will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.
DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants' accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail
information from City or Paying Agent, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shownon DTC's
records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary
practices, asisthe case with securities held for the accounts of customersin bearer form or registered in “ street name,”
and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, Paying Agent, or the City, subject to any statutory
or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal and interest, and redemption
premium, if any, to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC)
is the responsibility of the City or Paying Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the
responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of
Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2020 Bonds at any time
by giving reasonable notice to the City or Paying Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor
depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from
sources that the City believesto bereliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.
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DTC Practices

The City can make no assurances that DTC, DTC Participants, Indirect Participants or other nominees of the
Beneficial Owners of the Series 2020 Bondswill act in amanner described in this Official Statement. DTCisrequired
to act according to rules and procedures established by DTC and its Participants which are on file with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

Security and Pledge of the Indenture

All Bonds issued pursuant to the Indenture, including the Series 2020 Bonds, shall be specia limited
obligations of the City. Pursuant to the granting clauses set forth in the Indenture, the City and the SWPCA have
pledged the Trust Estate (as defined in Appendix D) as security for the payment of the Bonds and the performance of
any other obligation of the City and the SWPCA under the Indenture or any supplemental indenture, in accordance
with the terms and the provisions of the Indenture, subject only to the provisions of the Indenture permitting the
application thereof for or to the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture. 1t istheintention
of the City and the SWPCA that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, including, but not limited to, the Clean Water
Fund Act and the Uniform Commercial Code, the pledge of the Indenture shall be valid and binding from the time
when it is made, that the Revenues, moneys, securities and other funds so pledged and then or thereafter received by
the City or the SWPCA shall immediately be subject to the lien of such pledge without physical delivery thereof or
further act and the lien of such pledge and obligation to perform the contractual provisions herein contained shall be
valid and binding as against all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the City or the
SWPCA.

Flow of Funds

All revenues received by the City and the SWPCA shall be deposited in the Revenue Fund. There shall also
be deposited in the Revenue Fund all other amounts required by the Indenture to be so deposited. On thethird Business
Day preceding the end of each month, the Trustee shall, from the amounts in the Revenue Fund, make the following
depositsin the following order of priority:

FIRST: to the Operating Fund, the amount set forth in a Certificate of an Authorized Representative
of the City or the SWPCA as being deemed necessary to provide for (taking into account amounts on deposit
therein and expenses incurred and unpaid for the current month) the payment of the next succeeding month’s
Operating Expenses;

SECOND: to each Debt Service Account, the amount necessary so that the total on deposit therein
at the end of such month equals the Accrued Aggregate Debt Service on the applicable Series of Bonds for
such month, and to such payees as are designated in writing to the Trustee by the City, an amount egqual to
the Accrued Aggregate Debt Service on all Parity Indebtedness for such month; provided however, if
Revenues are insufficient for such purpose, then pro rata to each such Debt Service Account and payee;

THIRD: from the balance, if any, remaining after making the depositsrequired by paragraphs FIRST
and SECOND, to the Debt Service Reserve Fund, first, to the credit of the Common Account therein, the
amount, if any, necessary to make the total on deposit in the Common Account equal to the Debt Service
Reserve Fund Requirement for the Bonds secured by the Common Account, or the entire balance if less than
sufficient, second, from the balance of such deposit, if any, remaining after crediting the Common Account
as aforesaid, to the credit of each Special Account, the amount, if any, necessary to make the total amount on
deposit in each such Special Account equal to the portion of the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement for
the Series of Bonds to which such Special Account relates that is required to be funded as of that month as
set forth in Section 401(b) of the Indenture; provided, however, that if the balance remaining is less than
sufficient to credit in full each Special Account, credit shall be made pro rata among all Special Accountsin
the same ratio as the portion of the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement related to each Specia Account
and required to be funded as of that month bears to the sum of the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirements
for all the Bonds related to Special Accounts, and third, from the balance of such deposit, if any, remaining
after crediting the Common Account and the Special Accounts as aforesaid, to the credit of each debt service
reserve fund as are designated in writing to the Trustee by the City for Parity Indebtedness, the amount, if
any, necessary to make the total amount on deposit in each such debt service reserve fund equal to the portion
of the debt service reserve fund requirement for the series of Parity Indebtedness to which such debt service
reserve fund relates that is required to be funded as of that month; provided, however, that if the balance
remaining is less than sufficient to credit in full each debt service reserve fund, credit shall be made pro rata
among all debt service reserve funds in the same ratio as the portion of the debt service reserve fund
requirement related to each debt service reserve fund and required to be funded as of that month bearsto the
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sum of the debt service reserve fund requirements for all Parity Indebtedness related to such debt service
reserve funds;

FOURTH: from the balance, if any, remaining after making the deposits required by paragraphs
FIRST, SECOND and THIRD, to the Rebate Fund the amount, if any, set forth in a Certificate of an
Authorized Representative of the City as being required to be deposited in such Fund and the Accounts
thereunder in accordance with the Indenture or a Tax Regulatory Agreement;

FIFTH: fromthebalance, if any, remaining after making the depositsrequired by paragraphs FIRST,
SECOND, THIRD and FOURTH, to the Subordinated | ndebtedness Fund amounts required to be deposited
in such Fund for such month in accordance with the Sewer Budget or the entire balance if less than sufficient;
and

SIXTH: from the balance, if any, remaining after making the deposits required by paragraphs
FIRST, SECOND, THIRD, FOURTH and FIFTH, to the Surplus Fund, the balance.

Debt Service Reserve Fund

The Bonds are additionally secured by the Common Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund. Under the
Indenture, if a Supplemental Indenture provides that on the date of issuance of the particular Series of Bonds
authorized thereby, the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement for such Series of Bonds shall be fully funded on the
same basis as all other Series of Bonds secured by the Common Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund, such
Series of Bonds shall also be secured by the Common Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund once such funding
shall have occurred. Amounts on deposit in the Common Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be applied,
to the extent other funds are not available therefor pursuant to the Indenture, to pay the Principal Installments of, and
interest on the Bonds secured by the Common Account. Amounts on deposit in Special Accountsin the Debt Service
Reserve Fund shall be applied solely to the Bonds for which such Accounts have been established and such Bonds
shall not be entitled to amounts on deposit in the Common Account. Amounts on deposit in debt service reserve funds
for Parity Indebtedness shall be applied solely to the Parity Indebtedness for which such funds have been established
and such Parity Indebtedness shall not be entitled to amounts on deposit in the Common Account.

If, as of January 1 or July 1 of each year or on any date on which the Trustee receives the written direction
of the City under the Indenture, the amount in any Account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund exceeds the applicable
Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement, the Trustee shall withdraw from such Account the amount of any excess
therein over the applicable Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement as of the date of such withdrawal and deposit the
moneys so withdrawn into the Surplus Fund. If, as of January 1 or July 1 of each year the amount in any Account in
the Debt Service Reserve Fund is less than the applicable Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement and, to the extent
that such deficiency has not been made up by the date of adoption of the Sewer Budget for the next Fiscal Year by
deposits pursuant to the Indenture, the SWPCA shall, in its Sewer Budget for the ensuing Fiscal Y ear, include the
amount necessary to fund such deficiency.

In the event of the refunding of any Bonds, the Trustee shall, upon the written direction of the City, withdraw
from the Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund related to the Bonds to be refunded all or any portion of amounts
accumulated therein with respect to the Bonds to be refunded and deposit such amounts as provided in such written
direction provided that such withdrawal shall not be made unless (i) immediately thereafter the Bonds being refunded
shall be deemed to have been paid pursuant to Section 1201 of the Indenture, and (ii), after giving effect to any amounts
being simultaneously deposited therein the amount remaining in each Account after such withdrawal shall not be less
than the applicable Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement.

Pro-Forma Debt Service Reserve Fund Balance as of December 9, 2020

DSRF DSRF Current DSRF  Excess/

Requirement Requirement ($) Balance ($) (Deficit)
2013 Series A Revenue Bonds Max P& $ 1639600 $ 1,696,275 56,675
2015 Series A Revenue Bonds Max P& 1,964,519 2,044,845 80,326
2019 Series Max P& | 1,029,600 1,029,600 -
2020 Series A Bonds Max P& | 1,514,700 1,514,700 -
2020 Series B Bonds Max P& 1,585,000 1,585,000 -
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Subordinated Indebtedness Fund

Amounts on deposit in the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund shall be applied by the Trustee solely to the
maintenance of reservesfor, or the payment of, Subordinated I ndebtedness, or as otherwise provided by the resolution
of the City authorizing each issue of Subordinated |ndebtedness.

If at any time the amounts in any Debt Service Account, any debt service fund for Parity Indebtedness (the
deficiency in which isidentified in writing to the Trustee by the City) or in any Account in the Debt Service Reserve
Fund or any debt service reserve fund for Parity Indebtedness (the deficiency in which isidentified in writing to the
Trustee by the City) shall be less than the current requirements thereof (after any transfers thereto made pursuant to
the Indenture), the Trustee shall withdraw from the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund and deposit in such Debt Service
Account, debt service fund for Parity Indebtedness, Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund or debt service reserve
fund for Parity Indebtedness, as the case may be, the amount necessary (or all the moneysin said Fund on a pro rata
basis, if less than the amount necessary) to make up such deficiency.

Surplus Fund

The Trustee shall, on each Bond Payment Date, apply moneys credited to the Surplus Fund in the following
amounts: (i) on a pro rata basis, to the Debt Service Fund the amount, if any, necessary (or all the moneys in the
Surplus Fund if less than the amount necessary) to make up any deficiency in the amount required to be on deposit in
such Fund and to any debt service fund for Parity Indebtedness identified in writing to the Trustee by the City the
amount, if any, necessary (or al the moneys in the Surplus Fund if less than the amount necessary) to make up any
deficiency in the amount required to be on deposit in such fund, asidentified in writing to the Trustee by the City, (ii)
to the Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount, if any, necessary (or al the moneysin the Surplus Fund if less than the
amount necessary) to make up any deficiency in the amount required to be on deposit in any Account in such Fund
and (iii) on aproratabasis, to any debt servicereservefundsfor Parity Indebtednessidentified in writing to the Trustee
by the City the amount, if any, necessary (or al the moneys in the Surplus Fund if less than the amount necessary) to
make up any deficiency in the amount required to be on deposit in such funds, as identified in writing to the Trustee
by the City. Such transfer shall be made notwithstanding any other provisions of the Indenture requiring depositsin
such Funds. Moneys remaining on deposit in the Surplus Fund after the transfers set forth in Section 511 of the
Indenture may also be transferred by the Trustee to the City or the SWPCA,, at the direction of the City or the SWPCA,
to pay Operating Expenses or for any other lawful purpose related to the SWPCA or the Sewerage System, including
but not limited to, the funding of a capital fund from which the City or the SWPCA may pay for capital improvements
to the Sewerage System or to reimburse the City for expenses relating to the SWPCA; following any such transfer,
the moneys transferred shall not be considered pledged moneys hereunder.

Rate Covenant

Pursuant to the Indenture, the SWPCA covenantsthat it will fix, charge and collect rates, charges, rents, fees
and assessments, including but not limited to use and connection charges and benefit assessments, which shall produce
Revenues which, together with amounts capitalized from proceeds of Bonds or otherwise made avail able and reserved
and not already taken into account hereunder by reduction of the obligations which are to be paid from Revenues, and
the amount to be withdrawn from the Surplus Fund other than to pay Capital Costs for such Fiscal Year, shall be
sufficient in each Fiscal Y ear to provide for:

(A) aDebt Service Coverage Ratio at least equal to the Debt Service Coverage Ratio Requirement (115%);

(B) any amount necessary to restore any Account within the Debt Service Reserve Fund to its required
deposit level; and

(C) any amount necessary to restore any debt service reserve fund for Parity Indebtedness to its required
deposit level.

The SWPCA covenants that each Fiscal Year, it will budget for rates, charges, rents, fees and assessments,
including but not limited to use and connection charges and benefit assessments, which shall produce Revenueswhich,
together with amounts capitalized from proceeds of Bonds or otherwise made available and reserved and not already
taken into account hereunder by reduction of the obligations which are to be paid from Revenues and the amount to
be withdrawn from the Surplus Fund other than to pay Capital Costs for such Fiscal Y ear, shall be sufficient in each
Fiscal Y ear to provide for an amount equal to 100% of the aggregate debt service for such Fiscal Y ear with respect to
Subordinated Indebtedness, which aggregate debt service shall be computed on the same basis and with the same
assumptions as “Aggregate Debt Service” for Bonds hereunder; provided however, that failure to collect such
Revenues and other amounts under this clause shall under no circumstances be treated as an Event of Default.
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Additional Bonds Test

In order to issue additional Bonds secured on a parity with other Bonds, the Indenture requires a Certificate
of an Authorized Representative of the City and the SWPCA setting forth for the last full Fiscal Year immediately
preceding the Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are to be issued, (i) the Revenues, adjusted as hereinafter provided,
(i) the Aggregate Debt Service on the Bonds then Outstanding and all Parity Indebtedness then outstanding and the
maximum Aggregate Debt Service on the additional Bonds then proposed to be issued, (iii) the total Operating
Expenses, (iv) the amount withdrawn from the Surplus Fund other than to pay Capital Costs, and (v) showing that the
Debt Service Coverage Ratiois at least equal to the Debt Service Coverage Ratio Requirement (115%); provided that
(A) if anincrease in the rates, fees and charges for services of the Sewerage System shall have been approved prior to
the delivery of such Certificate, such that no further legal requirements need to be met to effectuate such increase, the
Revenues shall be adjusted to the amount of Revenues which would have been derived from the Sewerage System for
said full Fiscal Year if such increased rates, fees and charges for services of the Sewerage System had been in effect
for the full Fiscal Year, and (B) if the SWPCA shall have obtained one or more new customers after such Fiscal Y ear
but before the delivery of such certificate, such that the Revenues for the last full Fiscal Year should, in the opinion
of the SWPCA, be adjusted to reflect such additional customer or customers, then the Revenues of the Sewerage
System for the full Fiscal Y ear immediately preceding the issuance of said additional Bonds shall be increased by the
least amount which said customer or customers are legally obligated to pay in any one year for the furnishing of said
services by the Sewerage System, after deducting therefrom the Operating Expenses estimated by the SWPCA as
attributable in such year to such customer or customers.

In addition, except in the case of any Series of Refunding Bonds, in order to issue anew Series of Bonds, the
Indenture also requires a Certificate of an Authorized Representative of the City and the SWPCA setting forth for
each of the five (5) Fiscal Y ears following the issuance of such Series of Bonds, plus the Fiscal Year in which such
Bonds areissued, (i) the estimated Revenues after giving effect to any increases or decreasesin rates, fees and charges
projected, (ii) the estimated Operating Expenses, (iii) the estimated amount to be withdrawn from the Surplus Fund
other than to pay Capital Costs, (iv) the projected Aggregate Debt Service on the Bonds then Outstanding, all Parity
Indebtedness then outstanding and the additional Bonds then proposed to be issued, and (v) showing that the Debt
Service Coverage Ratio will be at least equal to the Debt Service Coverage Ratio Requirement (115%).

Refunding Bonds may be issued pursuant to the Indenture at any time to refund any Outstanding Bonds or
outstanding Parity Indebtedness provided that (i) average annual Debt Service on such Series of Refunding Bonds or
outstanding Parity Indebtedness shall not exceed the average annual Debt Service on the Bonds to be refunded and
(i) the maximum Debt Service in any Fiscal Year on such Series of Refunding Bonds or Parity Indebtedness
(excluding any one-twentieth (1/20th) principal payment required by the Project Loan and Grant Agreement), shall
not exceed the maximum Debt Service in any Fiscal Year on the Bonds or Parity Indebtedness to be refunded,
(excluding any one-twentieth (1/20th) principal payment on Clean Water Obligations required by the Project Loan
and Grant Agreement all as shown in a Certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the Municipality and
delivered to the Trustee prior to the authentication and delivery of such Series of Refunding Bonds. Refunding Bonds
shall beissued in a principal amount sufficient, together with other moneys available therefor, to accomplish such
refunding and to make the deposits in the Funds and Accounts required by the provisions of the Supplemental
Indenture authorizing such Bonds. Refunding Bondsthat do not meet the requirements of the Indenture for Refunding
Bonds may be issued by meeting the requirements of Bonds.

Other Indebtedness

Under the Indenture, the City shall not issue any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness, other than
the Bonds, Parity Bond Anticipation Notes, Parity Reimbursement Obligations and Parity Indebtedness, secured by a
pledge of or other lien or charge on the Revenues and shall not create or cause to be created any lien or charge on such
Revenues or on any amounts held by any Fiduciary, under the Indenture. However, the Indenture shall not prevent
the City or the SWPCA from issuing bonds or notes or other obligations for the corporate purposes of the City or the
SWPCA payable out of, or secured by a pledge of, Revenues to be derived on and after such date as the pledge of the
Revenues provided in the Indenture shall be discharged and satisfied as provided in Section 1201 of the Indenture, or
from issuing Subordinated Indebtedness for the corporate purposes of the City or the SWPCA which are payable out
of or secured by the pledge of amounts available therefor in the Subordinate | ndebtedness Fund and which recite on
their face that such pledge of said amountsisand shall bein all respects subordinate to the provisions of the Indenture
and the lien and pledge created by the Indenture.
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Debt Service

The following table sets forth the debt service requirements as of December 9, 2020 (pro-forma) for each
fiscal year ending June 30 for the Series 2020 Bonds and Parity Indebtedness of the City incurred on behalf of the
SWPCA to make capital improvements to the Sewerage System. The payment of debt service on general obligation
bonds of the City, which proceeds were used for Sewerage System improvements, is subordinate to the payment of
debt service on the Series 2020 Bonds and the Parity Indebtedness and is not included in this table.

Fiscal Senior Lien Parity Debt
Year Includes Principal & Interest This Issue (Principal & Interest) Total Senior Lien
Ended 2013 Series 2015 Series 2019 Series Series A Bonds Series B Bonds * Debt Service
2021* $ 1,631,500 $ 1,960,769 $ 1,028,600 $ 425902 $ 1,702,971 $ 6,749,742
2022 1,631,300 1,963,144 1,029,000 1,509,825 3,548,800 9,682,069
2023 1,633,550 1,963,269 1,028,800 1,510,700 3,547,750 9,684,069
2024 1,635,050 1,961,144 1,028,000 1,510,100 3,550,750 9,685,044
2025 1,637,975 1,961,644 1,026,600 1,510,350 3,545,125 9,681,694
2026 1,635,725 1,964,519 1,029,600 1,513,975 - 6,143,819
2027 1,636,350 1,959,769 1,027,350 1,510,975 - 6,134,444
2028 1,639,600 1,957,394 1,029,100 1,511,350 - 6,137,444
2029 1,635,475 1,962,019 1,029,600 1,509,975 - 6,137,069
2030 1,633,975 1,963,394 1,028,850 1,511,725 - 6,137,944
2031 1,634,850 1,961,519 1,026,850 1,511,475 - 6,134,694
2032 1,637,850 1,959,113 1,028,600 1,513,550 - 6,139,113
2033 1,637,850 1,961,066 1,028,850 1,512,825 - 6,140,591
2034 849,975 1,959,488 1,027,600 1,510,600 - 5,347,663
2035 848,825 1,955,238 1,024,850 1,512,700 - 5,341,613
2036 849,950 1,959,063 1,025,600 1,513,700 - 5,348,313
2037 849,425 1,954,819 1,026,800 1,513,100 - 5,344,144
2038 847,250 901,438 1,026,800 1,510,900 - 4,286,388
2039 848,288 905,375 1,025,600 1,512,000 - 4,291,263
2040 848,238 903,281 1,028,200 1,511,300 - 4,291,019
2041 847,144 905,156 1,029,400 1,513,700 - 4,295,400
2042 849,081 901,000 1,029,200 1,514,100 - 4,293,381
2043 848,919 905,719 1,027,600 1,512,500 - 4,294,738
2044 846,656 904,219 1,029,600 1,513,800 - 4,294,275
2045 - 901,594 - 1,512,900 - 2,414,494
2046 - - - 1,514,700 - 1,514,700
Total........ $30,594,801 $40,555,153 $ 24,671,050 $ 38,228,727 $ 15,895,396 $ 149,945,127

" The 2020 Series B debt service payment duein FY 2025 is net of the expected release of the DSRF estimated at $1,585,000.
% Excl udes $1,843,370 of monthly CWF payments made from 7/1/20 to 12/9/20.
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Tax Matters

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code"), imposes certain requirements which must be
met at and subsequent to delivery of the Series 2020 Bonds in order that interest on the Series 2020 Bonds be and
remains excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Noncompliance with such requirements could
cause interest on the Series 2020 Bonds to be included in gross income retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series
2020 Bonds. The Tax Regulatory Agreement, which will be executed and delivered by the City concurrently with the
Series 2020 Bonds, contains representations, covenants and procedures relating to the use, expenditure and investment
of proceeds of the Series 2020 Bonds in order to comply with such requirements of the Code. Pursuant to the Tax
Regulatory Agreement, the City also covenants and agrees that it shall perform all things necessary or appropriate
under any valid provision of law to ensure interest on the Series 2020 Bonds shall be excluded from gross income for
federal income tax purposes under the Code.

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based on existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing
compliance by the City with its covenants and the procedures contained in the Tax Regulatory Agreement, interest on
the Series 2020 Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not treated as an item of
tax preference for purposes of computing the federal alternative minimum tax.

Ownership of the Series 2020 Bonds may also result in certain collateral federal income tax consequences to
certain taxpayers, including, without limitation, financial ingtitutions, property and casualty insurance companies,
certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States, certain S corporations with excess passive income,
individual recipients of Social Security and Railroad Retirement benefits, taxpayers utilizing the earned income credit
and taxpayers who have or are deemed to have incurred indebtedness to purchase or carry tax exempt obligations,
such as the Series 2020 Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2020 Bonds, particularly those who may be
subject to special rules, are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the federal tax consequences of
ownership and disposition of, or receipt of interest on, the Series 2020 Bonds.

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based on existing statutes, interest on the Series 2020 Bonds is excluded from
Connecticut taxable incomefor purposes of the Connecticut incometax on individuals, trusts and estates, and is excluded
from amounts on which the net Connecticut minimum tax is based in the case of individuals, trusts and estates required
to pay the federal alternative minimum tax.

Legidation affecting the exclusion from gross income of interest on State or local bonds, such as the Series
2020 Bonds, isregularly under consideration by the United States Congress. There can be no assurance that legislation
enacted or proposed after the date of issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds will not reduce or eliminate the benefit of the
exclusion from gross income of interest on the Series 2020 Bonds or adversely affect the market price of the Series
2020 Bonds.

The opinion of Bond Counsdl is rendered as of its date and is based on existing law, which is subject to change.
Bond Counsel assumes no obligation to update or supplement its opinions to reflect any facts or circumstances that may
come to their attention, or to reflect any changesin law that may thereafter occur or become effective.

Prospective purchasers of the Series 2020 Bonds are advised to consult their own tax advisorsregarding other
State and local tax consequences of ownership and disposition of and receipt of interest on the Series 2020 Bonds.

Original Issue Premium

The initial public offering price of certain maturities of the Series 2020 Bonds may be greater than the
principal amount payable on such Series 2020 Bonds at maturity. The excess of the initial public offering price at
which a substantial amount of these Series 2020 Bonds are sold over the principal amount payable at maturity or on
earlier call date constitutes original issue premium. The offering prices relating to the yields set forth on the inside
cover page of this Official Statement are expected to betheinitia public offering prices at which a substantial amount of
the Series 2020 Bonds were ultimately sold to the public.

Under Sections 1016 and 171 of the Code, the amount of original issue premium treated as amortizing with
respect to any Series 2020 Bond during each day it is owned by a taxpayer is subtracted from the owner’s adjusted
basis for purposes of determining gain or loss upon the sale or other disposition of such Series 2020 Bonds by such
owner. Amortized original issue premium on the Series 2020 Bonds is not treated as a deduction from gross income
for federal income tax purposes. Original issue premium on any bond is treated as amortizing on the basis of the
taxpayer’s yield to maturity using the taxpayer’'s cost basis and a constant semiannual compounding method.
Prospective purchasers of the Series 2020 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the federal,
state and local income tax consequences of the disposition of and receipt of interest on the Series 2020 Bonds.
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Ratings

S& P Global Ratings has assigned arating of “AA+" to the Series 2020 Bonds. Fitch Ratings has assigned a
rating of “AA+" to the Series 2020 Bonds. The City furnished to the rating agencies certain information and materials,
some of which may not have been included in this Official Statement. The ratingsreflect only the view of each rating
agency and are subject to revision or withdrawal, which could affect the market price of the Series 2020 Bonds. Each
rating agency should be contacted directly for its rating on the Series 2020 Bonds and the explanation of such rating.

Underwriting

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Bond Purchase Agreement, the City has agreed to sell to Raymond
James & Associates, Inc. (the “Underwriter”), and the Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Series A Bonds at the
net aggregate purchase price of $28,791,286.65 (consisting of the principal amount of $23,765,000.00, plus net
origina issue premium of $5,151,052.90, less underwriter’s discount of $124,766.25). The Underwriter has agreed
to purchase the Series B Bonds at the net aggregate purchase price of $17,297,546.30 (consisting of the principal
amount of $15,850,000.00, plus net origina issue premium of $1,530,758.80, less underwriter's discount of
$83,212.50). The Underwriter will be obliged to purchase al such Series 2020 Bonds, if any such Series 2020 Bonds
are purchased. The Underwriter intends to offer the Series 2020 Bonds to the public initially at the offering prices or
yields set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement, which may subsequently change without any
requirement of prior notice. The Series 2020 Bonds may be offered and sold to certain dealers (including unit
investment trusts and other affiliated portfolios of certain underwriters and other dealers depositing the Series 2020
Bonds into investment trusts) at prices lower than such public offering prices, and such public offering prices may be
changed, from time to time, by the Underwriter.

Certain Legal Matters

The approving opinion of Robinson & Cole LLP, Hartford, Connecticut, Bond Counsel to the City, will be
furnished upon delivery of the Series 2020 Bonds; the proposed form of such opinion is set forth in Appendix E.
Certain legal matters will be passed on for the Underwriter by its counsel, Shipman & Goodwin LLP, Hartford,
Connecticut.

Consulting Engineering

ARCADIS U.S, Inc. (the “Consulting Engineer”), has prepared the Consulting Engineer’s Report for the
Series 2020 Bonds, dated November 4, 2020, a copy of which is included in Appendix C hereto. The Consulting
Engineer’s Report provides an overview of the history of and financial projections for the Water Pollution Control
System and Facility. The Consulting Engineer has performed its services to the level customary for competent and
prudent engineers performing such services at the time and place where the services were provided, as described in
the Report. The Consulting Engineer makes or intends no other warranty, expressed or implied. The Consulting
Engineer’s Report contains information not set forth elsewhere in the Officia Statement and should be read in its
entirety.

The Municipal Advisor

Phoenix Advisors LLC, Milford, Connecticut, is serving as municipal advisor to the City for the issuance of
the Series 2020 Bonds. The municipal advisor has assisted in the preparation of this Official Statement and in other
matters relating to the planning, structuring and issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds and has provided other advice. It,
however, does not assume responsibility for the adequacy of the statements made herein and makes no representation
that it has independently verified the same.

Litigation

In the opinion of the City’s Director of Legal Affairs, as of the date of this Official Statement, there are no
claims or litigation pending or to his knowledge threatened, which would individually or in the aggregate result in
final judgments against the City or the SWPCA which would have a material adverse effect on the finances of the
SWPCA or which would impact the validity of the Series 2020 Bonds or the power of the SWPCA to assess and
collect revenues to pay them.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)
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MISCELLANEOUS

Availability of Continuing Information

The City prepares, in accordance with State law, annual audited financial statements and files such annual
audits with the State Office of Policy and Management. In accordance with the requirements of Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5)
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, the City will agree to provide or cause to be provided
annual financia information and operating data and notices of certain events with respect to the Series 2020 Bonds
pursuant to a Continuing Disclosure Agreement substantially in the form attached as Appendix F to this Officia
Statement.

The City has previously undertaken in continuing disclosure agreements entered into for the benefit of holders
of certain of its general obligation bonds and notes to provide certain annual financial information and event notices
pursuant to Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5). In the past five years, the City has not failed in any material respects to meet any of
its undertakings under such agreements.

Additional Information

Additional information may be obtained upon request from Sandra L. Dennies, Director of Administration,
City of Stamford, Government Center, 888 Washington Boulevard, Stamford, Connecticut 06904-2152, telephone
(203) 977-4183 or from Barry J. Bernabe, Managing Director, Phoenix Advisors LLC, 53 River Street, Milford,
Connecticut 06460, telephone (203) 283-1110.

The Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the Series 2020 Bonds and may not be
reproduced or used in whole or in part for any other purpose. This Official Statement has been duly authorized and
approved by the City and the SWPCA and duly executed and delivered on their behalf.

This Official Statement isnot to be construed as a contract or agreement between the City and the purchasers
or holders of any of the Series 2020 Bonds.

Concluding Statement

To the extent that any statements made in this Official Statement involve matters of opinion or estimates,
such statements are made as such and not as representations of fact or certainty, and no representation is made that
any of such statements will be realized. Information herein has been derived by the City from official and other
sources and is believed by the City to be reliable, but such information other than that obtained from officia records
of the City has not been independently confirmed or verified by the City and its accuracy is not guaranteed.

This Official Statement has been duly prepared and delivered by the City and executed for and on behalf of
the City by the following officials.

CITY OF STAMFORD, CONNECTICUT

By /s/ Dowid R. Moawtin

David R. Martin
Mayor

By /s/ Sandrav L. Dennies

Sandra L. Dennies
Director of Administration

WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
OF THE CITY OF STAMFORD

By /s/ Willliawn P. Brinks

William P. Brink, P.E., BCEE
Executive Director

Dated: November 18, 2020
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History, Location and Other Information

Stamford, first settled in 1641, is Connecticut’s third largest city by population. It was named the Town of
Stamford in 1642 and was admitted to Connecticut in October 1662. In 1893, the City of Stamford, comprising the
central portion of the Town of Stamford, was incorporated. Thereafter, the City of Stamford became a component
part of the Town of Stamford resulting in two separate governments. On April 15, 1949, the Town and City were
consolidated and named the City of Stamford (the “City”). The City covers an area of approximately 40 square miles
located on Long Island Sound between Greenwich to the west and New Canaan and Darien to the east.

The City is less than one hour from New York City by rail or highway transportation. It is on the New Haven
line of the Metro-North commuter railroad and also receives service from Shoreline East, Amtrak, and Conrail which
provide daily passenger and freight service. It is served by interstate, intrastate, and local bus lines. The Connecticut
Turnpike (I-95), the Boston Post Road (U.S. Route 1), and the Merritt Parkway (CT Route 15), traverse the City.

The City has a high concentration of national and international corporate headquarters, and it is the major
retail trade center of Fairfield County, yet it maintains its suburban character and residential areas. The City offers its
residents a high quality of life including good schools, a broad array of public services, attractive parks and recreational
activities, and a safe living environment. Through sound urban planning the City has strengthened its downtown retail
core, increased its housing and cultural facilities, and attracted major office development.

The 82-acre Harbor Point development in the South End continues under active construction. To date, 3,200
apartment units have been completed with an additional 1,600 units under construction or have received approval to
commence construction. The project includes 4,800 residential units of which ten percent are affordable housing;
commercial space including office buildings, a grocery store, a waterfront hotel, restaurants, and a marina; more than
11 acres of parks and public spaces; a community school; and publicly accessible waterfront areas. Fortune 100
company Charter Communications has quickly continued development of their 2-building 777,000-square foot world
headquarters adjacent to the Stamford Transportation Center. Additionally, Metro Tower is a shovel-ready fully-
approved 385,000-square foot office tower located at the Stamford Transportation Center.

Development continues in Stamford Downtown with 2,200 residential units currently under construction or
with zoning approvals, and an additional 1,250 residential units have been brought online in Downtown alone since
2018. Numerous hotels have been in the pipeline recently, with the completion of the 156-unit Marriott Residence
Inn, a conversion of the Hotel Zero Degrees to a luxury boutique hotel called The Lloyd, and the planned development
of a 100-room luxury hotel adjacent to Veterans Park.

Restoration of the Mill River, which includes the creation of a new 28-acre urban park along its banks and a
greenway leading from downtown Stamford to Long Island Sound, continues. The Mill River Park is spurring
development and real estate tax revenues with over 2,700 new residential units that have been built or are in
development around the perimeter of the park.

The University of Connecticut (UCONN) Stamford Branch created their first dormitory in 2017, and in 2018
expanded into two other apartment buildings totaling 450 beds in Stamford. UCONN reported all of the beds filled
during the 2019 academic year. Stamford Hospital opened its new state-of-the-art, 650,000-square-foot building, a
$450 million expansion that includes a new eleven-story hospital building and a central utility plant.

Multiple buildings in Stamford are currently undergoing adaptive reuse: 677 Washington’s trading floor
being converted into television production space for WWE, a South End office is under construction for ITV
America’s television production studios, two former GE office buildings planned to be converted into senior housing,
and a North Stamford office has plans to convert into a Life Time Fitness.

Stamford is an important residential suburb in one of the highest per capita income areas of the United States.
Stamford’s median household income in 2018 was $89,309, which is a roughly $4,500 increase over 2017. This was
also significantly higher than the median household income for Connecticut which was $76,106.



Government Organization

The City operates under a Charter adopted in 1949 and most recently revised in November 2013. The 18th
Charter Revision was undertaken in 2013 to correct discrepancies identified by the 2012 decennial charter review.
The 2012 revisions mandated a Board of Ethics, created a Historic Preservation Advisory Commission, added a
preamble concerning Citizens’ Rights, created a single combined fire department consisting of the existing municipal
department and the five volunteer companies, and made a number of technical changes to the Charter.

The chief executive officer of the City is the Mayor, who is elected for a four-year term of office. The
legislative function is performed by a forty-member Board of Representatives whose members are elected, two from
each of twenty districts, for four-year terms. The Board of Representatives adopts ordinances and resolutions and
must approve all expenditures of funds. A six-member Board of Finance, elected to staggered three-year terms with
provisions for representation of two major political parties, establishes fiscal policy and must approve all expenditures
of funds.

The Director of Administration is appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the Board of Representatives.
Under the direction of the Mayor, the Director of Administration has supervision over the Controller’s Office, Office
of Policy and Management, Purchasing, Central Services, Assessment and Taxation, Community Development,
Intergovernmental Grants, Technology Management Services and Risk Management. The Director of Administration
is the Chief Fiscal Officer of the City and performs accounting of all funds showing all financial transactions for all
commissions, boards, departments, offices, agencies, authorities, and other entities of the City. The Office of
Administration provides certain support services for the Board of Education.

The Director of Administration has the powers and duties conferred on town treasurers to issue and market
all bonds and to invest funds of the City. The Director of Administration is also responsible for the preparation of the
operating and capital budgets of the City. In addition, in accordance with Section 8-20-3 of the City Charter, the
Director of Administration submits an opinion to the Mayor and Board of Finance in December of each year setting
forth the amount and nature of capital expenditures that the City may incur safely for each of the six succeeding years.
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City of Stamford, Connecticut
Organizational Chart
CITIZENS OF STAMFORD

VOTERS ELECT
[ [ I I H I I I ]
BOARD OF BOARD OF BOARD OF REGISTRARS TUSTICES OF
REPRESENTATIVES FINANCE EDUCATION JUDGE OF MAYOR TOWN CLERK OF ‘THL PLACL CONSTABLES
(40 Members) (6 Members) (9 Members) PROBATE VOTERS 70 7
@ (70)

1

i

1 ~

CHIEF OF
: STAFF
1
MAYOR APPOINTS
i
1
[ | . I |
JURY HOUSING : FIRE POLICE
COMMITTEE AUTIIORITY ! COMMISSION COMMISSION
(3 Members) (5 Members) : (5 Members) (5 Members)
1
1

APPOINTED BY THE MAYOR AND APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF REPRESENTATIVES

[ I I [ |

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR DIRECTOR DIRECTOR OF DIRECTOR OF
OF OF OF PUBLIC SAFETY, ECONOMIC
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The Mayor, subject to the approval of the Board of Representatives, appoints four Directors: the Director of
Operations, Director of Administration, Director of Legal Affairs, and Director of Public Safety, Health & Welfare.
The Mayor also appoints the Director of Economic Development and a Chief of Staff. The Directors and the Chief
of Staff serve at the Mayor’s pleasure and their terms are coterminous with the Mayor’s term of office.
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Demographic and Economic Information

Population and Density

Actual
Year Population % Increase Density *
2018* 129,026 5.2% 3,233.7
2010 122,643 4.7% 3,073.8
2000 117,083 8.4% 2,934.4
1990 108,056 5.5% 2,708.2
1980 102,453 -5.8% 2,567.7
1970 108,798 17.3% 2,726.8
1960 92,713 - 2,323.6

! American Community Survey 2014-2018.

2 per square mile: 39.9 square miles.

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census.

Age Distribution of the Population

City of Stamford State of Connecticut

Age Number Percent Number Percent
Under S years .................... 7,653 5.9% 184,983 5.2%
S5to9years .......ooeviiiiiiiiin, 7,258 5.6 201,006 5.6
10to 14 years ..........cccunnne 7,343 5.7 224,135 6.3
15to19years .........ccounne 6,858 53 247,182 6.9
20to24 years ........coeeennnn. 8,605 6.7 245,490 6.9
25to 34 years ........oeiiennn... 21,656 16.8 439,848 12.3
35to44 years ......ooeeiiinnnn. 18,357 14.2 427,023 11.9
45to 54 years ........ceeiinnn. 16,748 13.0 522,138 14.6
55toS59years .........oooiiill 8,592 6.7 266,170 7.4
60to64years .........ooeennnnn. 7,411 5.7 235,949 6.6
65to 74 years .......ooiiinnn.. 10,166 7.9 327,414 9.1
75to 84 years ................... 5,558 4.3 170,979 4.8
85 years and over ................ 2,821 22 89,187 2.5

Total......cceneeeeeiieeeaeaaanans 129,026 100% 3,581,504 100%
Median Age (Years) 2018....... 37.2 40.8
Median Age (Years) 2010....... 37.1 40.0

! U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census, 2010.
Source: American Community Survey 2014-2018



Income Distribution

City of Stamford State of Connecticut

Income Families Percent Families Percent
$0-$9999. .. 508 1.7% 26,021 2.9%
10,000 -14,999...cccceeeiiil 474 1.5 16,472 1.8
15,000-24999... ...l 1,466 4.8 38,804 4.3
25,000-34999....ccciiiiiil 1,993 6.5 50,215 5.6
35,000-49,999......ccciiiiinaa. 2,735 8.9 80,042 9.0
50,000-74,999.........cciel. 4,162 13.5 127,676 14.3
75,000-99,999. ... ..cciiiinnn.. 3,272 10.6 118,848 13.3
100,000 - 149,999................. 4,996 16.2 186,154 20.8
150,000 -199,999................. 3,174 10.3 105,285 11.8
200,000 and over................... 7,976 259 143,423 16.1

Total.......cooeeveeiiiieiieiean, 30,756 100.0% 892,940 100.0%

Source: American Community Survey 2014-2018

Income Levels

Per Capita Income, 2018 ...................
Per Capita Income, 2010 ...................

Median Family Income, 2018 ..............
Median Family Income, 2010 ..............

Source: American Community Survey 2014-2018

City of State of

Stamford Connecticut
... $ 55059 % 43,056
.8 41,227 $ 36,775
.. $ 106,778 $ 97,310
.. $ 84,190 $ 84,170

Educational Attainment
(Years of School Completed Age 25 and Over)

City of Stamford State of Connecticut

Number Percent Number Percent

Less than9th grade....................o.oeeel. 5,861 6.4% 101,068 4.1%
9thto 12thgrade..............oooeiiiiiiiinin, 4,033 4.4 134,758 54
High School graduate........................... 18,575 20.3 670,519 271
Some college, no degree...................... 12,677 13.9 416,267 16.8
Associate's degree .........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiinan. 4,773 5.2 190,869 7.7
Bachelor's degree.........cccovvviiiiiinnnn... 25,140 27.5 538,924 21.7
Graduate or professional degree.............. 20,250 222 426,303 17.2

TOtAl....ceeeeeeeeeeee et eee, 91,309 100.0% 2,478,708 100.0%

Total high school graduate or higher (%).... 89.2% 90.5%

Total bachelor's degree or higher (%)....... 49.7% 38.9%

Source: American Community Survey 2014-2018



Employment Data

Percentage Unemployed

Bridgeport/
City of Stamford City of Stamford State of
Period Employed Unemployed Stamford Labor Market Connecticut
September 2020.... 63,280 5,755 8.3 7.9 7.5
Annual Average
2019, il 68,973 2,342 33 3.7 3.7
2018, i 68,274 2,609 3.7 4.1 4.1
2017, 67.672 2.861 4.0 47 47
20160l 66,928 3,088 4.4 5.2 5.3
2015, .. 65,931 3,225 4.7 5.5 5.6
2014 .o 65,088 3,828 5.6 6.2 6.7
2013 ... 63,290 4,329 6.4 7.3 7.9
2012, i 63,362 4,764 7.0 8.2 8.3
2011, 63,868 7,974 7.2 8.2 8.8
2010...ccciieeill, 63,017 5,224 7.7 8.4 9.0
Source: State of Connecticut, Department of Labor.
Employment by Industry
City of Stamford State of Connecticut
Sector Number Percent Number Percent
Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting,
and MINING. ........c.ovviiniiiiiie i 100 0.1% 7,195 0.4%
CONSEIUCTION. ..ttt ettt 4,782 6.6 107,331 59
Manufacturing...........ooeeiiiiieeeeeniiiinnnnnn.. 3,691 5.1 190,995 10.5
Wholesaletrade..............cooeieiiiiiiini .. 1,118 1.6 44,714 2.5
Retailtrade.............oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee. 6,129 8.5 191,939 10.6
Transportation warehousing, and utilities........ 2,397 3.3 72,806 4.0
Information............coooiiiiiiiiiii i 2,260 3.1 41,839 2.3
Finance, insurance, real estate, and leasing...... 9,733 13.5 164,607 9.1
Professional, scientific, management,
administrative, and waste management......... 14,407 20.0 207,632 11.5
Education, health and social services............. 15,049 20.9 479,677 26.5
Arts, entertainment, recreation,
accommodation and food services.............. 6,658 9.3 150,852 8.3
Other services (except public admin.)............ 4,129 5.7 83,686 4.6
Public Administration................cooovnnn... 1,487 2.1 67,172 3.7
Total Labor Force, Employed..................... 71,940 100.0% 1,810,445 100.0%

Source: American Community Survey 2014-2018



Major Employers

Employer Type of Business
A+E Networks Television Production
ABCOTIP.c.eeiieeieieeriesieeeene ... Payments (HQ)

Accurate Lock & Hardware .... Hardware Merchant Wholesalers (HQ)
Adlon Therapeutics ... Biotechnology (HQ)

ADP .o Professional Services
AfTINION GIOUP ..vovvveeeeieeiieieieeeeeeee e Marketing (HQ)

Aircastle Limited.... Aviation Services (HQ)
American EXPress.......oooovvvvveeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenns Finance
AIMETICATES.c.cnveeeeereeerieiereieteereieeeessesseeesessesseneen: Nonprofit (HQ)

Amphenol ..... .... Electrical Controls (HQ)
AON. ..ot ... Insurance

AXA XL Group Reinsurance . ... Reinsurance (US HQ)
Bartlett Tree EXperts.......ccceceveeievienieeeeieeeeeenen, Tree Services (HQ)

Bank of AMErica ......cceeeveeceerieeieieeeeeieee e, Finance

Bank of Ireland. ... Finance (US HQ)

Beauty Quest GIoup.......ccecvevverereeierieeeeieseeeeeens Consumer Products (HQ)
Berkley Re America.......ccccecveveeeeceenieeieeeeeen, Reinsurance (HQ)
Bridgewater Associates .......... ... Finance

Building & Land Technology ... Land Development (HQ)
CA Technologies.......cceeveuenne. ... Software Company

Cara TherapeutiCs.........cccovvueerirueerueuercnreeneerenennenens Biotechnology (HQ)
Castelton Commodities .......c.ececerveuerenreenirrercnenens Commodities Trading (HQ)
CBRE.......ooioiiiiincinecreceeeeeee ... Real Estate

CBS Sports Digital/CBS Interactive Television Broadcasting (HQ)
Centerplate/SodOX0 ....cccvevevreeeecieiieieeieeeeieienne Food Services (HQ)
Cenveo Inc .....cceeveevvenennne Commercial Banking (HQ)
Charter Communications..... ... Telecommunications (HQ)
Chelsea Piers CT............... ... Leisure/Sports (HQ)

Chief Executive Group..........cceverveeveeerenrervererseneenns Publisher (HQ)

Cholula Hot Sauce Company...........ccccceveeveeneennen. Food Products (HQ)

Chubb Tempest Re USA. ... Reinsurance (HQ)
Citibank, NA.........ccoiiieieeeereeeeeeeie e Finance

Citizens Bank.........ccocovueeievieenienieineseieceeeeeene Finance

City of Stamford ........... Government And Education
Club Quarters Hotels.... Hospitality (HQ)

Colliers International.... Real Estate

COoNAIL COTP oottt Small Electrical Appliance Manufacturing
COWEN GIOUD....oeeieeeeeeiereieeeeeeeeeeeee e eeeeeeeaeeeenees Finance

Crane Co ... Industrial Products (HQ)

Crystal ROCK ....oovvveieiieieeeceeeeee e Consumer Products (HQ)

Cummings & Lockwood.........cccvevvinieniecieinieniennnne Law Firm (HQ)

Cushman & Wakefield...... ... Real Estate

Cytec Solvay Group .......cccoceeeeeveeeeeeeveeneeenns ... Chemicals (Research Laboratories)
Daymon Worldwide ................ ... Market Research (HQ)

Deloitte .....cccoceveeruenene. ... Consulting

Design Within Reach ................. ... Retail Furniture (HQ)

Deutsch Family Wine & Spirits. Food Products (HQ)

Food Products

Consumer Products
Empire State Realty Trust ... ... Real Estate
Engelhart Commodities.......cc.ceovervrerrenrecieeeenuennnne Commodities Trading (US HQ)
Encompass Digital Media ...........cccoeevveevveeeeeneennn. Television Broadcasting
Equinor..........cccoevenivcnnencnne ....  Commodities Trading
Ernst & Young ........... ... Consulting
Exela Technologies.... ... Document Outsourcing
FINaCItY...ceuiiiieieeeee e Commercial Banking (HQ)
First County Bank .........c.ccceeveviieienienieeieieeeceene, Finance (HQ)
First RESEIVe...covecieiieiieiecieceeeeee e, Finance (HQ)

Source: City of Stamford Department of Economic Development
HQ - Headquarters
Mfg - Manufacturing Facilities



Major Employers

(Continued)
Employer Type of Business
Forevermark US.........c.ccooviiiiieiieeeeeeeeeee, Diamond Mining (HQ)
Freepoint Commodities.........ccceeueruerienienieneneeneenns, Commodities Trading (HQ)
GarNET...eeeeeveereereereereseese e eeeeeesseenes Market Research (HQ)
GE Asset Management/State Street Finance (HQ)
GENPACT....ci e eaaees Professional Services
General Reinsurance..........coecceeeevereeeneecnnecnnennnn, Reinsurance (HQ)
Genworth Financial ..........cccooeieinniineinenncnne Insurance
Gerald Metals Commodities Trading (HQ)
Greenwich ASSOCIALES .....cccovevviereeeereiereereeie e Finance (HQ)
Guardian Life ......ccooooeoieiiiiiieeeee e Insurance
Gunvor Group.... Commodities Trading (US HQ)

Grant Thorton.........cccceveeeeercneeenne Consulting

Harman International/Samsung Audio & Video Manufacturing (HQ)
Harvest Hill Beverage Company Food Products (HQ)
HEXCEL.o oot Industrial Products Manufacturer (HQ)
Henkel Consumer Goods Consumer Products (HQ)
High Ridge Brands Consumer Products (HQ)
Hoffman Engineering .........c.ccocceeevienienienenenenienns, Equiptment Mfg (HQ)
Holland & Knight........... Law Firm

IDW Media Holdings Publishing (HQ)

Imbrim Therapeutics...... Biotechnology (HQ)
Indeed.COm......ccovuiieiiiieeeeeee e, Technology (HQ)
Independence Holding Co........ccecevvveveierenrennnnen. Insurance (HQ)

Informa Publishing
ISGieeeeeee e Consulting (HQ)

ITV America Television Production
Jefferies Finance

1) ) Real Estate

Kayak.com Travel Services (HQ)

Keep America Beautiful .........c.ccocooiiiiiiiiinnens Nonprofit (HQ)

KOTN FeITy ..ottt Consulting

KPMG ..o Consulting

Legal & General America Finance (HQ)

Legg Mason .........cccouveeueenee.. Finance

Lockwood GIoup ......cc.coeeeveireninenieieneeeeieieeneene, Consulting (HQ)

LOVESAC ..ot Furniture Manufacturer (HQ)
Loxo Oncology.... Biotechnology (HQ)
MassMUtual.........coeverenineneneeeeeeeeeee e Insurance

Mayborn USA/Tommee Tippee.....ccovvevvvevueeennnnn. Consumer Products (HQ)
McDonalds Corporation Food Services

McKinsey & Company ..... Consulting

Merrill Lynch Wealth Mgmt Finance

Morgan Stanley ..........ccovvevveieeieeieeeeeeeee e, Finance

Natwest Markets/RBS.........ccccoeeieeievieieniecieneenns Investment Banking (US HQ)
Navigators Group/The Hartford Insurance (HQ)

NBC Sports Group ....cceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeiieeieeeeeeeeeee s Television Production (HQ)
NBCUNIVETSal ....cuveviveiieiiienieienieereeeerceeiesieeneene, Television Production
Nielsen Sports......ccccceeeveveeenene Market Research (HQ)
Nestle Waters North America Consumer Products (HQ)
Newmark Knight Frank................ Real Estate

Northern Trust Co.....coveevveierenieenieirerieeeeeeeen Finance

Northwestern Mutual..........cccoceoeeneenerenneienns Finance

Octagon Sports Public Relations (HQ)
OdYSSEYRE ..ot Reinsurance (HQ)
OMNIiCOM GIOUP......eeuieuienieieieieieieeeeeeee e see e, Digital Media
Oppenheimer & CO.......oovvveeviicieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee Finance

OFACIC...cuiiiieieeieeteee ettt ettt et aae e Software
O'Shaughnessy Asset Management ....................... Investment (HQ)



Major Employers

(Continued)
Employer Type of Business
PartnerRe.......c.cceoveriieiieieieieieeee e Reinsurance (HQ)
Passur ACTOSPACE........ccveveeveierereeneereeeeeeeeeieeiens Aviation Services (HQ)
Patriot Bank ..........cccceeeieieieniinieieceieeeene Finance (HQ)
PDC Brands.........ccceeueeieeienieneenieseeeeeseeeeeve e Consumer Products (HQ)
Perkins Eastman .........cccooecevevieenenineniecnenecnnenes Architectural Services
Philips Consumer Health............cccccveeienrreirennenene, Consumer Products (HQ)
Pitney BOWeS......cocveiueiiiiieieeeeeeee e Technology & Data (HQ)
Point 72 Asset Management................ceeeeeeerennes Investment Banking (HQ)
PWC..oiieeeee Consulting (Tax HQ)
Privacyguard Financial Technology (HQ)
Purdue Pharma Biotechnology (HQ)
Randstad USA........cooooiiiieiee e Recruiting
RifINItIVe e Finance
RenaissanceRe Reinsurance
Revolution Lighting..........ccocooiiiiiiiiiiieae Lighting Manufacturing (HQ)
RHONE Apparel .......cccoovevieieeeieieieieeieee e Clothing Manufacturing (HQ)
Robert Half.................. Recruiting
Rosco Laboratories..... Lighting Manufacturing (HQ)
RSMUS ... Public Accountants
SEMAG ..o Biotechnology (HQ)
Shipman & GoOdWInN ..........ccoveeeveeeeeieeieeeeeeeeee Law Firm
Silgan Holdings........ccooeeveeeeeennennnns Metal Products (HQ)
Soule, Blake & Wechsler Manufacturing (HQ)
Springworks Therapeutics..........ccocvvvveveeeeeeneeennen. Biotechnology (HQ)
Stamford Health...........coccoeeeeiinn. Medical Care (HQ)
Stamford Tent & Event Services Tent Rental (HQ)
Stamford Town Center ..........ccccceeereennen. Retail Stores
Star Group, LP ......oovvviiiicicieeeeceeeeee e Liquefied Petroleum Gas Dealers (HQ)
Starwood/Marriott International .............ccccc.c....... Hospitality
Synapse Group Marketing (HQ)
Synchrony Financial ...........cccccevienieneeceeieeieene. Finance (HQ)
Tasty Bite/MARS Foods Food Products (HQ)
The Junkluggers........ccccccuenue. Moving Company (HQ)

The Peoples Court
This Old House Ventures .
Thomson REULETS .......c.ccoveeeeeereerieeriecreeeeeereere e,
Tiger Risk Partners......ccccceeeeveeveeievneeeiieeeeeeeeeen.
Tradition Energy
TraflgUIa......ooeiieiieeeeeeeeeeeeee e

Tru OptiK....coveeeeeiiieiieeeeeee,
Tudor Investment Corporation....

US Game Systems
US Trust ..ccccveeeeeveeeieeee.

Vineyard VINES .....ccoovviiiveeieiieeeieeeeeeee e
Voyager AVIAtiON .........cccoeeeueeeveeecieeeieeeeeeeeeeeenees
Webster Bank Corp
Wiggin & Dana ........cc.coevveeeeieeeieeceeeeeeeeeeeeeenn
Willis Towers WatSOn ........cc.covveeeeeeeereeeneenreennnenns
Wilson Elser...........c..........

Television Production (HQ)
Television Production (HQ)
Publishing, Business Information
Insurance (HQ)

Finance (HQ)

Commodities Trading
Chemicals Manufacturer (HQ)
Technology (HQ)

Investment (HQ)

Food Products (HQ)
Transportation

Finance

Industrial Equipment Rental (HQ)
Family Game Company (HQ)
Finance

Clothing Manufacturing (HQ)
Aviation Services (HQ)
Finance

Law Firm

Consulting

Law Firm

Television Production (HQ)
Sports League (HQ)
Television Broadcasting
Biotechnology



Commute to Work
(16 years of age and over)

1
Included in residential values

Source: City of Stamford.

City of Stamford State of Connecticut
Number Percent Number Percent
Drove alone ...................ee. 46,923 66.6% 1,391,925 78.2%
Carpools ......oovviiiiiiiinn..., 5,679 8.1 143,527 8.1
Used public transportation ...... 10,074 14.3 84,347 4.7
Walked ......ooviiiiiiii 3,839 54 49,525 2.8
Used other means ................ 860 1.2 20,763 1.2
Worked athome ................. 3,132 4.4 90,566 5.1
Total .....cceevuuunnnnnniicnnnnn. 70,507 100.0% 1,780,653 100.0%
Mean travel to work (minutes) 28.2 26.3
Source: American Community Survey 2014-2018
Office Vacancy Rates
Stamford Central Stamford Non-Central
Business District Business District Fairfield County
Calendar Square Feet Vacancy Square Feet Vacancy Square Feet Vacancy
Year Existing Percent Existing Percent Existing Percent
2019 7,258,726 30.2% 8,903,096 33.7% 38,837,246 28.4%
2018 7,258,726 30.0 9,015,096 333 39,433,690 253
2017 7,258,726 26.9 9,039,096 27.6 39,652,863 23.1
2016 7,293,182 28.4 9,404,397 24.2 41,505,969 21.8
2015 7,293,182 21.1 9,210,464 233 41,573,889 21.2
2014 6,822,182 24.8 9,201,361 22.6 41,081,786 20.5
2013 6,745,182 26.5 8,809,933 23.5 40,266,524 20.8
2012 6,776,181 21.2 8,873,350 22.4 41,881,271 18.3
2011 6,832,948 23.1 8,405,596 22.7 40,890,889 19.1
2010 6,832,948 23.4 8,027,525 25.1 40,412,871 18.9
Source: Cushman & Wakefield (Includes Class A & B office space)
Building Permits
Fiscal Year Commercial/ Apartments/
Ended 6/30 Residential Industrial Condominiums Total
2020 $ 25,726,254 $ 248,079,639 $243,415,392 $517,221,285
2019 55,919,109 244,942 831 395,729,308 696,591,248
2018 52,304,733 214,661,109 113,536,424 380,502,266
2016 56,659,245 142,147,387 194,532,051 393,338,683
2015 87,759,615 159,444,138 73,665,429 320,869,182
2014 65,995,312 135,532,057 150,156,105 351,683,474
2013 59,554,447 380,202,667 N/A! 439,757,114
2012 60,861,801 203,491,861 N/A! 264,353,662
2011 52,586,486 261,632,862 N/A! 314,219,348
2010 48,768,097 143,898,869 N/A! 192,666,966



Housing Unit Inventory

City of Stamford State of Connecticut
Housing Units Units Percent Units Percent
1-unit, detached......................... 20,292 37.8% 892,608 59.0%
1-unit, attached.......................... 3,882 7.2 80,684 53
2 UNIES . e ettt et 4,359 8.1 123,908 8.2
30r4units....cocvviiiiiiieiiiiiii., 4,771 8.9 130,948 8.7
S5to0units.....oiiiiiiiiiiee 2,967 5.5 84,021 5.6
10to 19 units......ovvvveeeeiiiinnne.., 1,939 3.6 57,153 3.8
20 0r moOre unitS..........eeeiiiinnn.. 15,413 28.7 130,872 8.7
Mobilehome.....................oooll 17 0.0 11,734 0.8
Boat, RV, van,etc....................... 20 0.0 377 0.0
Total Inventory............ccccceuen...... 53,660 100.0% 1,512,305 100.0%
Source: American Community Survey 2014-2018
Vacancy Rates
City of Stamford State of Connecticut
Housing Units Units Percent Units Percent
Occupied Housing Units .................... 49,510 92.3% 1,367,374  90.4%
Vacant Housing Units ........................ 4,150 7.7% 144,931 9.6%
Total Units .......c.oueneeeeeeeneeeeeecaane 53,660 100.0% 1,512,305 100.0%
Homeowner Vacancy Rate .................. — 14 — 1.8
Rental Vacancy Rate ......................... - 55 - 6.4

Source: American Community Survey 2014-2018

Owner Occupied Housing Units

City of Stamford State of Connecticut

Specified Owner-Occupied Units Number Percent Number Percent

Less than $50,000.................coeeee.. 308 1.2% 21,254 2.3%
$50,000 t0 $99,000..........cccvveennn... 154 0.6 29,211 32
$100,000to $149,999.........coiiieii... 336 1.3 81,446 9.0
$150,000 to $199,000..................... 776 3.0 139,715 15.4
$200,000 to $299,999........oiiiiin... 2,715 10.4 245,801 27.1
$300,000 to $499,999........eiiiiin... 7,946 30.3 240,706 26.5
$500,000 or more.......ooeuiiiiiiiiannnn 11,341 432 106,993 11.8
$1,000,000 Or more......ooovvevevennnnnn.. 2,655 10.1 42,008 4.6

Total.....oooneeeeeeeee s 26,231 100.0% 907,134 100.0%

Median Value...............ccceceenevnannnnnn. $526,700 $272,700

Source: American Community Survey 2014-2018



Age Distribution of Housing

City of Stamford State of Connecticut

Year Built Units Percent Units Percent

1939 orearlier.......................... 7,844 14.6% 337,795 22.3%
1940t0 1969 19,863 37.0 533,321 353
1970t0 1979 .. 7,058 13.2 201,360 13.3
1980t0 1989 . v 6,793 12.7 191,306 12.6
1990t0 1999. .. 4,205 7.8 115,459 7.6
20000r2009.....ccciiiiii 4311 8.0 103,632 6.9
2010 o0rlater........ccoovvveienieaaai.. 3,586 6.7 29,432 1.9

Total Housing Units ................... 53,660 100.0% 1,512,305 100.0%

Source: American Community Survey 2014-2018

Number and Size of Households

City of Stamford State of Connecticut
Household Characteristics Number Percent Number Percent
Persons in households ............... 127,895 — 3,466,662 —
Persons per household (average) .... 2.58 — 2.54 —
Persons per family (average) ........ 3.20 - 3.14 -
Family households .................... 30,756 62.1% 892,940 65.3%
Non-family households .............. 18,754 37.9% 474,434 34.7%
All households .........ccccccvvvvnnnn... 49,510 100.0% 1,367,374 100.0%
Family households by type
Married couple .....................ll. 23,397 76.1% 660,364 74.0%
Female householders, no spouse ... 5,612 18.2% 170,818 19.1%
Other .....coovviiiiiiiii 1,747 5.7% 61,758 6.9%
Total family households ............... 30,756 100.0% 892,940 100.0%
Non-family households by type
Householders living alone ........... 14,251 76.0% 390,350 82.3%
Other ...oooovvieiiiiiiieean 4,503 24.0% 84,084 17.7%
Total non-family households ........ 18,754 100.0% 474,434 100.0%
Source: American Community Survey 2014-2018
Breakdown of Land Use
Land Use Total Area
Category Acres Percent
Zoned for single family....... 19,664 80.0%
Zoned for multi-family........ 1,915 7.8%
Zoned for mixed use........... 494 2.0%
Zoned for business............. 670 2.7%
Zoned for industry............. 982 4.0%
Zoned for open space.......... 864 3.5%
Total.......ccueveeeevenenennnnn, 24,589 100.0%

Source: City of Stamford.
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INTRODUCTORY
SECTION






to use, equip, re-equip, repair, maintain, supervise, manage, operate, and perform any act
pertinent to the collection, transportation, treatment, and disposal of wastewater. Wastewater is
treated through the processes installed during the treatment plant upgrade and expansion project
which was completed in 2006. The treatment plant has capacity to treat an annual average flow
of 24 million gallons of wastewater per day (“MGD”). During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019
the flow to the plant averaged approximately 18.3 MGD. The plant has adequate reserve capacity
for the growth that is currently occurring in Stamford.

Service Area

The SWPCA’s service area includes residential, commercial, government, and non-profit
customers in the City of Stamford, Connecticut (“Stamford”) and the adjacent Town of Darien,
Connecticut (“Darien”). The customer base served by the SWPCA consists of a diverse mix of
residential and commercial customers. In Stamford, approximately 90% of customers are
residential (including home owners, condominium owners, and renters) and 10% of customers
are commercial, governmental, or industrial in nature. The service area boundaries for Stamford
are the Merritt Parkway to the north, the Noroton River on the east, Old Greenwich on the west,
and Long Island Sound to the south.

Darien pumps wastewater to the east side of Stamford where the wastewater is then conveyed
through the SWPCA coliection system to the treatment plant. The service area boundaries for
Darien are the City of Norwalk on the east, the Merritt Parkway on the north, and Long Island
Sound to the south. Darien is solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of all of its
pumping stations, its collection system, and all border crossings.

The Interlocal Agreement between the SWPCA and Darien signed on July 26, 2019 and effective
October 1, 2018, which replaced the previous agreement dating from 2013, provides a formula
for compensation to the SWPCA for the cost of operation and maintenance of SWPCA's treatment
plant and collection sewers which convey Darien's wastewater. Based on this formula, Darien
was responsible for 15.8% of such costs in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. A portion of the
cost of capital improvements to the SWPCA's treatment plant was similarly paid by Darien using
the same cost sharing ratio. The total payment by Darien was based on its share of the SWPCA's
operating and maintenance costs and capital investment amounts, plus any adjustments to the
previous year's bill.

Physical Assets

The physical assets of the SWPCA include 23 wastewater pumping stations, about 250 miles of
sanitary sewers, and the wastewater treatment facility.

Management and Organization

The SWPCA Board of Directors (the “Board”) consists of nine members. By ordinance, the Board
includes the City's Director of Administration and Director of Operations, the Chairman of the
Board of Finance (or his/her designee), the President of the Board of Representatives (or his/her
designee), and five at-large members, one of whom must be a financial professional and another
an engineer.

The Mayor, with the approval of the Board of Representatives, appoints the City's Directors of
Administration and Operations. SWPCA Board members from the Board of Finance and the
Board of Representatives are elected in citywide elections. The five at-large Board members are
recommended by either the Democratic or Republican Town Committee and interviewed by the
Mayor, who then recommends their appointment to the Board of Representatives for its approval.
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29 South Main Street

blumShaDirO P.O. Box 272000

West Hartford, CT 06127-2000
Tel 860.561.4000

blumshapiro.com

Independent Auditors’ Report

The City of Stamford

Board of Finance

Stamford Water Pollution Control Authority
Stamford, Connecticut

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Stamford Water Pollution
Control Authority (the SWPCA) (an Enterprise Fund of the City of Stamford, Connecticut) as
of and for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the SWPCA'’s basic financial statements as listed in
the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinions.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the SWPCA as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the
changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

1 An independent member of Baker Tilly International



Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the SWPCA and do not purport to, and do
not, present fairly the financial position of the City of Stamford, Connecticut, as of June 30, 2019 and
2018, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows, where applicable, for the years then
ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management’s
discussion and analysis, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the SWPCA'’s basic financial statements. The letter of transmittal, budgetary
comparison information, and the statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis
and are not a required part of the financial statements.

The budgetary comparison information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion,
the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a
whole.

The transmittal letter and statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance on them.

West Hartford, Connecticut
December 30, 2019



STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

This discussion and analysis of the Stamford Water Pollution Control Authority (“SWPCA”) is intended
to provide an overview of the SWPCA's financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019.
Please read it in conjunction with the letter of transmittal and the financial statements that follow this
section.

Financial Highlights

As of June 30, 2019, the SWPCA's total assets and deferred outflows of resources
($212.4 million) exceeded its total liabilities and deferred inflows ($120.9 million), resulting in
total net position of $91.5 million. Net position increased $8.2 million versus the prior year-end
period primarily due to an increase in unrestricted net position ($7.1 million) and an increase in
net position restricted for Debt Service ($2.4 million) offset by a decrease in net investment in
capital assets ($1.3 million).

Operating revenues in fiscal 2019 were $27.5 million, compared to $24.7 million in the prior year
primarily reflecting an increase in Sewer Use Charges ($1.1 million), Fees and Other Income
($1.7 million) and Contract Revenue — Aquarian ($0.1 million). Operating expenses were
$19.9 million versus $19.2 million the prior year. Operating income was $7.7 million as
compared to $5.5 million in the prior year.

As noted above, total net position increased $8.2 million (9.8%), to $91.5 million. The
unrestricted part of net position increased to $34.0 million and represents approximately 124%
of operating revenue, compared to approximately 109% in the prior year.

Current assets increased by $7.3 million, primarily reflecting an increase in unrestricted cash
and investments ($5.1 million) and an increase in other accounts receivable ($2.0 million)
primarily due to an increase in the Nitrogen Credit. Days sales outstanding (“DSO”) for the
gross usage charges accounts receivable decreased by 5 days to 53 days.

Current liabilities increased by $7.5 million, primarily due to an increase in the current portion of
bonds payable ($6.3 million) and an increase in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and
accrued interest ($1.2 million).

Long term debt outstanding — including general obligation bonds, revenue bonds, and notes
payable — increased by $11.1 million to $109.8 million as of June 30, 2019 reflecting a new
revenue bond issue ($18.2 million) offset by debt service principal payments of $7.1 million. The
SWPCA's outstanding debt is rated AA+ by Standard & Poor’s and AA+ by Fitch Ratings.

The SWPCA's capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, decreased by about $3.3 million
to $131.8 million versus the prior period. Depreciation expense of $6.1 million was offset by
capital asset additions of $2.8 million during the fiscal year. The SWPCA's capital assets and
available operating capacity are considered sufficient to meet the City of Stamford’s (the
“City’s”) currently foreseeable needs for the SWPCA's services. $20.8 million of unexpended
bond proceeds from the 2019, 2015 and 2013 debt issuances is available to fund authorized
capital projects.

The SWPCA continues to use the City for certain back-office support services such as payroll,
accounts payable, procurement, IT tech support, etc., which would not be cost efficient to
implement internally at the present time. The City is reimbursed for the cost of these support
services.



Overview of the Financial Statements

The SWPCA's financial statements are comprised of: 1) basic financial statements, including a
Statement of Net Position; a Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position; and a
Statement of Cash Flows; 2) Notes to Financial Statements; and 3) Required Supplementary
Information. The Schedule of Revenues and Expenses on a Budgetary Basis, transmittal letter and
statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis. The accompanying statistical
section provides trend comparisons of selected financial and non-financial information over a number of
years.

The SWPCA's financial statements are designed to provide readers with a general understanding of the
SWPCA's finances in a manner similar to those for a private-sector business. All the resources which
the SWPCA has at its disposal are reported, including major capital assets such as buildings,
equipment and infrastructure. In addition, a thorough accounting of the costs of the SWPCAs
operations is provided.

Statement of Net Position.
The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the SWPCA's assets, deferred inflows of
resources and liabilities, with the difference reported as net position.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position.
The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position present information regarding the
SWPCA's changes in net position during the most recent fiscal year on an accrual basis.

Statement of Cash Flows.
The Statement of Cash Flows presents information on where cash came from and how it was used.

The financial statements (Statement of Net Position, Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes
in Net Position and the Statement of Cash Flows) are presented on pages 13-15 of this report.

Notes to the Financial Statements.

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in
the financial statements. The notes to the financial statements are presented on pages 16-35 of this
report.

Annual Revenue and Expense Budgets

The Board of Directors of SWPCA and the City’s Board of Finance and Board of Representatives
review and approve annual revenue and expense budgets for the SWPCA. From a reporting
standpoint, the SWPCA is reported as an Enterprise Fund. Budgetary comparison statements are
provided to demonstrate compliance with the authorized budget and are presented on pages 36-37 of
this report.

Financial Analysis

The SWPCA'’s total net position (excess of assets over liabilities) was $91.5 million at June 30, 2019.
The SWPCA's unrestricted net position increased by approximately $7.1 million to approximately
$34.0 million at June 30, 2019 and provided additional financial flexibility to meet the needs of the
SWPCA's customers and creditors.



Stamford Water Pollution Control Authority
Net Position (in Thousands)

%
June 30,2019 June 30,2018 $ Change Change

Assets:
Current Assets $ 34,874 $ 27,608 $ 7,266
Restricted Cash 34,414 18,925 15,489
Non-Current Assets (special assessments) 8,955 7,997 958
Capital Assets (net of depreciation) 131,805 135,079 (3,274)
Total Assets 210,048 189,609 20,439
Deferred Outflows of Resources: 2,338 2,026 312
Current Liabilities 16,344 8,840 7,504
Long-term Liabilities 102,919 98,922 3,997
Total Liabilities 119,263 107,762 11,501
Deferred Inflows of Resources: 1,622 527 1,095
Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets 43,877 45,196 (1,319) -2.9%
Restricted for Debt Service 13,609 11,247 2,362 21.0%
Unrestricted 34,015 26,903 7,112 26.4%
Total Net Position 9 91.501 93 83.346 $ 8155 10.0%

Stamford Water Pollution Control Authority
Net Position
June 30, 2019

Unrestricted
37.1%

Restricted for debt
service
14.9%

Net investment in
capital assets
48 0%

$91.5M

A common measure of liquidity is the current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities); it helps
determine whether, over the next year, the SWPCA will have sufficient cash and readily liquid assets on
hand to finance its short term cash requirements. As of June 30, 2019, the SWPCA's current ratio was
2.13 to 1 as compared to 3.12 to 1 at the prior year-end.



In fiscal year 2019, net working capital (current assets minus current liabilities) decreased by
$0.2 million to $18.5 million, primarily reflecting increases of $5.1 million in unrestricted cash and
investments and $2.2 million in accounts receivable ($1.9 million of which was due to an increase in the
Nitrogen Credit) offset by increases in accounts payable, accrued expenses and accrued interest
($1.2 million) and an increase in the current portion of bonds and notes payable of $6.3 million. During
the past year, the SWPCA has maintained a positive pooled cash balance; ending the year at
$13.9 million and with the month-end balance never dropping below $7.1 million. The SWPCA's goal is
to continue to improve its financial position and generate cash flows that are sufficient to meet its
infrastructure repair and replacement needs. Steps taken have included:

* Increasing the sewer use charge billing rate for the October 2018 and April 2019 billing cycles
» Budgeting for an increase in cash reserves of $1.0 million in fiscal year 2019 and ending the fiscal
year with an increase of $1.3 million

Stamford Water Pollution Control Authority
Net Position (in Thousands)
FYE 2019 vs. 2018 (at June 30)
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Net Investment in Capital Restricted for debt service Unrestricted Total Net Position
Assets

Type of Asset

Net Position — Net Investment in Capital Assets.

At June 30, 2019, the largest portion of the SWPCA's $91.5 million in net position (approximately 48%)
relates to its investment in capital assets (land, buildings, machinery, equipment, etc.), net of
accumulated depreciation, unexpended bond proceeds, and any other outstanding debt used to acquire
those assets. The SWPCA uses these capital assets to provide services to its customers;
consequently, these assets cannot be readily liquidated and are not available to fund future spending
needs and the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources (sewer use
charges, fees and other income, etc.).

Net Position — Restricted.

A portion of the SWPCA net position is restricted for debt service. Cash balances are held in restricted
trust accounts in accordance with the indenture requirements related to the 2013, 2015 and 2019 bond
issuances. Of the SWPCA's $91.5 million in total net position as of June 30, 2019, $13.6 million
(approximately 15% of the total), was restricted and may not be used to fund the SWPCA's day-to-day
operations.

Net Position — Unrestricted.

Of the SWPCA's total net position at June 30, 2019, $34.0 million, or approximately 37%, was
unrestricted and available to be used to meet the SWPCA's obligations to customers, creditors, and
day-to-day operations.



Statement of Revenues
Expenses and Other Changes
in Net Position (in Thousands)

Fiscal 2019 Fiscal 2018 $ Change

Operating revenues $ 27,550 $ 24,708 $ 2,842
Operating expenses 19,875 19,229 646
Net Operating Income 7,675 5,480 2,196
Nonoperating revenue (expenses) 824 272 551
Capital contributions - Grant 77 191 (114)
Transfers out (421) (455) 34
Change in Net Assets 8,155 5,488 2,666
Net position - beginning of year 83,346 77,858 5,488
Net Position - End of Year $ 91,501 $ 83,346 $ 8,155

Operating Revenues and Expenses

Revenues.

In fiscal year 2019, the SWPCA’s operating revenue included sewer use charges for both City and
Town of Darien customers that were approximately 86% of total operating revenue and Aquarion
contract revenue, fees and other income were approximately 14% of total operating revenue.



The original fiscal year 2019 revenue estimate for sewer use charges was $20.6 million prior to actual
consumption data being available. At the annual rate setting meeting, adjustments were made to
account for collection rate assumptions, estimates of other revenue, and indenture requirements for
debt service coverage. Based on these adjustments, the sewer use charge billing rate was set at $5.00
per CCF, resulting in an annual billing, and an adjusted original budget, of $21.1 million (based on
assumed consumption of 4.32 million CCFs). After adjustments (e.g., off-cycle charges, cancel/rebill
charges), the amount of revenue billed in fiscal year 2019 based on actual consumption of 4.25 million
CCFs was $21.2 million.

Fiscal year 2019 operating revenues totaled $27.6 million (as compared to $24.7 million the prior year)
and included sewer use charges, lien fees and interest ($22.6 million), contract revenues ($1.6 million
and $0.5 million, from Darien and Aquarion, respectively), and fees and other income ($2.9 million, with
the largest portion of this amount being attributable to revenue from the State of Connecticut’s nitrogen
credit trading program).

Despite the challenging economic environment, the collection rate for sewer use charges during fiscal
year 2019 was approximately 98% (same as the prior year).

Expenses.

In fiscal year 2019, the SWPCA's operating expenses totaled $19.9 million (as compared to
$19.2 million the prior year), and consisted of salaries, employee benefits and claims ($6.2 million),
utilities costs ($2.3 million), materials and supplies ($2.7 million), operations and supplies ($2.6 million)
and depreciation ($6.1 million).



Net Non-Operating Revenue (Expense), Capital Contributions and Transfers Out.

The SWPCA's fiscal year 2019 non-operating revenue of $4.4 million included special assessments
and connection charges ($2.5 million), capital reimbursements from Darien ($1.1 million), interest
income ($.7 million) and Connecticut Clean Water Grant funds ($.1 million); non-operating expense and
transfers out was primarily interest expense ($3.5 million) and transfers to the City ($.4 million).
Additional information on revenue and expense budgetary information is contained in the
Supplementary and Other Information section of the financial statements.

Capital Assets

As of June 30, 2019, the SWPCA had total capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, of
approximately $131.8 million, as follows:

Stamford Water Pollution Control Authority
Capital Assets (in Thousands)

June 30,2019  June 30,2018 _$ Change_

Land $ 2,833 $ 2,833 $ -
Buildings and improvements 133,291 130,912 2,379
Sewer and infrastructure 73,065 72,603 462
Machinery and equipment 37,421 37,421 -
Construction in progress 527 493 34
Subtotal 247,137 244,262 2,875
Less accumulated depreciation (115,332) (109,183) (6,149)

Total $ 131.805 $ 135.079 $ (3.274)

Additional information on capital assets is presented in Note 4 on page 22 of this report.

SWPCA Capital Assets
June 30, 2019
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SWPCA Capital Projects.

The SWPCA typically manages multiple concurrent capital projects. The projects are categorized as
engineering studies, engineering design, building construction and equipment replacement (or
upgrades), and sanitary sewer systems repairs or extensions. Capital projects completed or ongoing
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 were as follows:

Construction of the upgrade of the Dyke Lane Storm Water Pump Station consisting of new
electrical switch gear and a new 2,000 kW emergency power generator was completed.

Design of the upgrade of the Water Pollution Control Facility's (WPCF’s) Raw Sewage Pump
Station, Ultra-violet (UV) Disinfection System, and Improvements to the Secondary Treatment
Process was completed; the project was bid for construction, and the construction contract
executed with construction to begin in July 2019.

Construction of effluent launder covers on the WPCF’s Final Clarifiers Nos. 1, 2 and 4 is
ongoing.

Design of the upgrade of the WPCF’s Primary Sludge Pumps and Sludge Degritting System is
ongoing.

The WPCF’s two (2) Gravity Belt Filters and one (1) (of three (3)) Belt Filter Press were
completely rebuilt with new rollers, parts and equipment.

A program to identify and remove extraneous water entering the sanitary sewer system, known
as Infiltration and Inflow (I/l), is ongoing. Sewer system sub-areas having the greatest amount
of I/l have been identified and prioritized for further evaluation using CCTV sewer inspection,
smoke and dyed water testing to identify the source(s) of I/l. I/l is then removed through various
sewer and manhole rehabilitation methods including lining, grouting of leaking cracks and joints,
and when necessary, replacement.

Cleaning and inspection of the sanitary sewer system is ongoing, and sanitary sewers identified
as needing repair were either replaced or lined.

Replacement of pumps that have exceeded their useful life in various pumping stations in the
sanitary sewer system is ongoing.

Major equipment including pumps, mixers and motors were replaced at the WPCF as needed.
Very importantly, improvements to the Odor Control systems at the WPCF are ongoing and
fugitive odors have been significantly reduced.
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Debt Outstanding

As of June 30, 2019, the SWPCA had bonds and notes payable outstanding of approximately
$109.8 million, as follows:

Stamford Water Pollution Control Authority
Debt Outstanding (in Millions)

% of % of
2019 Total 2018 Total
General Obligation Bonds  $ 141 129% $ 15.6  15.8%
Revenue Bonds $ 69.8 63.6% $ 53.2 53.9%
Notes Payable $ 259 235% $ 299 30.3%
Total $ 109.8 100.0% $ 98.7 100.0%
SWPCA Long-Term Debt (in Millions)
FYE 2019 vs. 2018 (at June 30)
$1200
$1000
$80.0
$60.0
2019
$40.0 m2018
L T
General Obligation Bonds Revenue Bonds Notes Payable Total

The SWPCAS total debt outstanding — including current and long-term general obligation bonds,
revenue bonds, and notes payable — increased by $11.1 million to $109.8 million as of June 30, 2019.
This increase reflects a new revenue bond Issue totaling $18.2 million offset by repayments of bonds
and notes payable of $7.1 million. Additional information on debt outstanding is presented in Note 6 of
this report on pages 23-28.

Organization of SWPCA Operations

The SWPCA's organization includes three divisions, as follows:

Administration:

Responsible for the overall management of the SWPCA, including technical decisions, operational
supervision, financial management (including billing and collections), planning, procurement,
management of capital projects and various other administrative duties.

Process:

Responsible for ensuring that the SWPCA's facilities are operated effectively and meet all state and
federal requirements. Activities within this division include wastewater treatment, sludge processing
and laboratory services.

11



Maintenance:

Responsible for the maintenance of the SWPCA's facilities, including property and equipment, pumping
stations and sanitary sewer maintenance.

As of June 30, 2019, the SWPCA had 40 full-time equivalent employees versus 43 in the prior year.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general understanding of the SWPCA's most recent
financial statements which will be available on the City web site at www.stamfordct.gov. Questions
concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information
should be addressed to Michael E. Handler, Chairman of the SWPCA, at 111 Harbor View Ave.,
Stamford, CT 06902. Mr. Handler is also the City’s Director of Administration
(MHandler@stamfordct.gov), and maintains an office at 888 Washington Boulevard, Stamford, CT
06901.
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

EXHIBIT |

Assets:
Current:

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments

Accounts receivable:
Usage charges, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,000,000
Special assessments and connection charges, net of allowance for
doubtful accounts of $500,000
Other receivables

Due from other funds

Other current assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Special assessments and connection charges, net of allowance for
doubtful accounts of $500,000
Capital assets not being depreciated
Capital assets being depreciated, net of depreciation
Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Deferred amounts on refunding
Deferred outflows related to pension
Deferred outflows related to OPEB
Total deferred outflows of resources

Liabilities:
Current:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued interest payable
Unearned revenue
Current portion of bonds payable
Current portion of notes payable
Current portion of compensated absences
Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Bonds payable
Notes payable
Compensated absences
Net pension liability
Net OPEB liability
Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Deferred inflows related to pension
Deferred inflows related to OPEB
Total deferred inflows of resources

Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for debt service
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

$

2019 2018
14,567,818 $ 10,661,738
7,737,934 6,582,312
1,467,770 1,643,444
2,116,892 1,743,527
2,792,180 785,181
6,181,603 6,181,603
9,002 9,902
34,874,099 27,607,707
34,413,725 18,925,036
8,954,779 7,996,588
3,359,901 3,325,455
128,445,037 131,753,605
175,173,442 162,000,684
210,047,541 189,608,391
1,080,866 1,123,048
509,215 627,218
747,780 275,396
2,337,861 2,025,662
1,888,322 1,237,056
211,268 99,807
901,164 470,441
117,998 94,974
8,835,072 2,627,797
4,159,858 4,077,555
229,829 230,308
16,343,511 8,837,938
75,119,635 66,119,397
21,699,297 25,859,155
121,837 126,306
1,852,190 3,028,099
4,125,639 3,789,497
102,918,598 98,922,454
119,262,109 107,760,392
681,246 168,467
941,151 358,910
1,622,397 527,377
43,876,731 45,195,754
13,608,936 11,247,486
34,015,229 26,903,044
91,500,896 83,346,284

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

EXHIBIT Il

Operating Revenues:
Sewer use charges
Fees and other income
Total operating revenues

Operating Expenses:
Salaries
Employee benefits and claims
Operations and supplies
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

Operating Income
Nonoperating Revenue (Expense):
Special assessments, connection charges, and other
Interest income and change in investment value
Interest expense
Net nonoperating revenue

Income Before Capital Contributions and Transfers

Capital contributions - Grant
Transfers Out

Change in Net Position
Net Position - Beginning of Year

Net Position - End of Year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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$

2019 2018

24,665,768 $ 23,556,163
2,884,283 1,152,017
27,550,051 24,708,180
4,204,634 4,219,088
1,977,481 2,334,168
7,543,299 6,704,378
6,149,285 5,971,043
19,874,699 19,228,677
7,675,352 5,479,503
3,624,079 3,398,245
721,592 193,801
(3,522,162) (3,319,771)
823,509 272,275
8,498,861 5,751,778
76,832 191,031
(421,081) (454,666)
8,154,612 5,488,143
83,346,284 77,858,141
91,500,896 $ 83,346,284




STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY

COMPARATIVE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

EXHIBIT 1l

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Receipts from customers and users
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees
Payments for benefits and claims

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities:
Transfers to other funds
Net cash used in noncapital financing activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities:

Proceeds from capital grants

Proceeds from debt

Principal payments on debt

Premium on bonds

Interest paid on debt and other sources and uses

Special assessments, connection charges, and other

Purchase of capital assets

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Interest received on investments

Sale (purchase) of investments
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year
(including restricted cash and cash equivalents)

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year
(including restricted cash and cash equivalents)

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided by Operating Activities:
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in usage charges
(Increase) decrease in other receivables

(Increase) decrease in deferred outflows of resources

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenues
Increase (decrease) in compensated absences
Increase (decrease) in net pension liability
Increase (decrease) in net OPEB liability

)

Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows of resources

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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$

2019 2018
$ 25741750 $ 24,432,984
(6,780,572) (7,437,160)
(4,209,582) (4,216,490)
(2,076,609) (2,091,503)
12,674,987 10,687,831
(421,081) (454,666)
(421,081) (454,666)
76,832 191,031
15,700,000
(6,705,352) (6,391,566)
2,486,628
(3,400,575) (3,555,886)
2,292,523 6,111,251
(2,875,163) (5,698,614)
7,574,893 (9,343,784)
721,592 193,801
(1,155,622) (3,560,513)
(434,030) (3,366,712)
19,394,769 (2,477,331)
29,586,774 32,064,105
$ 48981543 $ 29,586,774
7,675,352 $ 5,479,503
6,149,285 5,971,043
175,674 (166,088)
(2,006,999) (18,961)
(354,381) (199,459)
651,266 (347,708)
111,461 (385,074)
23,024 (90,147)
(4,948) 2,598
(1,175,909) 488,714
336,142 (138,479)
1,095,020 91,889
12,674,987 $ 10,687,831

$




STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2019

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A. Financial Reporting Entity

Ordinance Number 803, adopted November 6, 1996 (the Ordinance), pursuant to Chapter 103,
Sections 7-245 through 7-273a, inclusive, of the Connecticut General Statutes created the Stamford
Water Pollution Control Authority (the SWPCA) to operate the Water Pollution Control Facility, sanitary
sewage system, wastewater pumping stations and hurricane barrier for the City of Stamford,
Connecticut (the City). The SWPCA operations are financed primarily through direct charges to the
users of its services. The SWPCA is exempt from federal, state and local income taxes. The SWPCA
relies on the City for certain administrative and financial support as detailed elsewhere in the notes to
the financial statements.

The SWPCA is presented as a business-type activity in the City’s basic financial statements. The
accompanying financial statements present only the SWPCA fund and do not purport to, and do not,
present the financial position of the City or the changes in the City’s financial position and cash flows.

B. Basis of Presentation

The accounts of the SWPCA are organized on the basis of an enterprise fund, which is considered a
separate accounting entity. The operations of the fund are accounted for through a separate set of self-
balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, net position, revenues and expenses.

C. Basis of Accounting

The SWPCA utilizes the accrual basis of accounting, under which revenues are recognized when
earned and expenses are recognized when a liability is incurred.

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of reporting cash flows, the SWPCA considers all highly liquid investments with an
original maturity term of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Under a long-
standing arrangement with the City, the SWPCA shares in a pooled cash account controlled by, and in
the name of, the City. The SWPCA’s share of this pooled cash account was $13,882,978 and
$10,111,882 at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The SWPCA’s own unrestricted cash and cash
equivalents balance was $684,840 and $549,856 at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

E. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are carried at the original amount billed less an estimate made for doubtful
accounts based on a review of all outstanding amounts on a monthly basis. Management determines
the allowance for doubtful accounts by identifying troubled accounts and by using historical experience
applied to an aging of accounts. Recoveries of accounts receivable previously written off are recorded
when received.
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2019

F. Capital Assets

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to
the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized. Assets being constructed
over a period of time are classified as construction in progress. No depreciation is computed on these
assets until they are complete and placed into service. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
over the following estimated useful lives:

Years
Sewer and infrastructure 50-100
Buildings and improvements 25-50
Equipment 5-20

The SWPCA capitalizes interest during the period of construction.
G. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net
position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources
(expense) until then. The SWPCA reports a deferred amount on refunding and deferred outflows
related to pension and OPEB in the statement of net position. A deferred amount on refunding results
from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This amount is
deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. A deferred outflow
of resources related to pension and OPEB results from differences between expected and actual
experience, changes in assumptions or other inputs. These amounts are deferred and included in
pension and OPEB expense in a systematic and rational manner over a period equal to the average of
the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with benefits through the
pension and OPEB plans (active employees and inactive employees). Difference between projected
and actual earnings on pension and OPEB plan investments are recognized in pension and OPEB
expense using a systematic and rational method over a closed five-year period, beginning in the current
reporting period.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of
net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources
(revenue) until that time. Deferred inflows of resources were reported as they related to pension and
OPEB. A deferred inflow of resources related to pension and OPEB results from differences between
expected and actual experience, changes in assumptions or other inputs. These amounts are deferred
and included in pension and OPEB expense in a systematic and rational manner over a period equal to
the average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with benefits
through the pension and OPEB plans (active employees and inactive employees).

H. Compensated Absences

Under terms of the bargaining unit agreements, employees are awarded vacation on July 1 of each
year based on years of service, and can accumulate up to 45-60 days of unused vacation, depending
upon their specific union contract. Employees are also allowed sick leave, which is earned monthly,
and can accumulate up to 150 days. Upon termination of employment without eligibility for retirement,
each employee is paid for unused vacation.
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2019

Vested sick leave and accumulated vacation leave is recognized as an expense and liability as the
benefits accrue to employees. Nonvested sick leave is recognized to the extent it is expected to be
paid.

. Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability is measured as the portion of the actuarial present value of projected benefits
that is attributed to past periods of employee service (total pension liability), net of the pension plan’s
fiduciary net position. The pension plan’s fiduciary net position is determined using the same valuation
methods that are used by the pension plan for purposes of preparing its statement of fiduciary net
position. The net pension liability is measured as of a date (measurement date) no earlier than the end
of the employer’s prior fiscal year, consistently applied from period to period.

J. Net OPEB Liability

The net OPEB liability is measured as the portion of the present value of projected benefit payments to
be provided to current active and inactive employees that is attributed to those employees’ past periods
of service (total OPEB liability), less the amount of the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position. The OPEB
plan’s fiduciary net position is determined using the same valuation methods that are used by the
OPEB plan for purposes of preparing its statement of fiduciary net position. The net OPEB liability is
measured as of a date (measurement date) no earlier than the end of the employer’s prior fiscal year,
consistently applied from period to period.

K. Operating Revenues and Expenses

Revenues are based on the SWPCA'’s authorized sewer use charge billing rate per hundred cubic feet
of customer consumption of water and other fee and charges. The SWPCA accrues an estimate for
services delivered but not billed at the end of each fiscal year. The SWPCA distinguishes operating
revenues and expenses from nonoperating revenues and expenses. Operating revenues result from
charges to customers for sewer treatment and related services. Operating expenses include the cost of
operations, consisting of facility employees’ salaries and benefits, work related and legal claims,
utilities, materials and supplies, maintenance, sales and service, administrative expenses and
depreciation. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating or as
transfers.

Interest is levied on accounts that are 30 days past due. The SWPCA has the authority to, and does
routinely, file liens on past due accounts. The liens are subordinate only to property taxes upon the
transfer of the liened properties.

The SWPCA also has an agreement with the Town of Darien (Darien) for certain sewage treatment
services it provides. Darien is billed annually for wastewater conveyance and treatment at the
SWPCA'’s treatment facility.

L. Special Assessments and Connection Charges
Special assessments are fees assessed by the SWPCA for new sewer lines. Interest is charged on the
special assessments outstanding receivable balances at an annual rate set by the SWPCA at the time

the special assessments are assessed. Connection charges are fees assessed for new connections to
existing sewer lines. No interest is charged on connection charges. Accordingly, connection charges
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2019

are recorded net of an imputed interest charge. Amounts receivable for special assessments and
connection charges are stated net of interest and imputed interest. Interest is recognized as it is
earned over the period of collection. The special assessments and the connection charges are
generally payable over periods of 10 to 20 years.

M. Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets plus deferred outflows of resources and liabilities
plus deferred inflows of resources. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation, reduced by any outstanding balances of any borrowings used for the
acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Net position is reported as restricted when
there are limitations imposed on its use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the SWPCA
or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulation of other
governments.

The SWPCA has cash restricted for debt service requirements in accordance with the terms of the
outstanding revenue bonds (see Note 2).

N. Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources
and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

O. Subsequent Events Evaluation by Management

Management has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure and/or recognition in the financial
statements through the date that the financial statements were available to be issued, which date is
December 30, 2019.

2. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

A. Cash Equivalents

As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, cash and cash equivalents, including balances restricted for repayment
of principal and interest on state loans and for capital improvements, consist of the following:

2019 2018
Cash and cash equivalents $ 14567818 $ 10,661,738
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 34,413,725 18,925,036

$ 48,981,543 $ 29,586,774
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2019

Responsibility for custodial credit risks of deposits rests with the City; accordingly, separate disclosure
is not possible. Disclosure of the City’s custodial credit risk of deposits is contained in the City’s basic
financial statements.

The restricted cash balance at June 30, 2019 and 2018 was restricted in accordance with the terms of
various outstanding debt of the SWPCA (Note 5).

B. Investments
As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the SWPCA had the following investments:

Investment Maturities (Years)

Credit More
Investment Type Rating Fair Value Less Than 1 1-10 Than 10
June 30, 2019
Interest-bearing investments:
U.S. Government Securities Aaa $ 7,737,934 $ 7,737,934 $ -3 -
June 30, 2018
Interest-bearing investments:
U.S. Government Securities Aaa $ 6,582,312 $ 6,582,312 $ - $ -

The SWPCA categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements); followed by quoted
prices in inactive markets or for similar assets or with observable inputs (Level 2 measurements); and
the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2019 and 2018:

June 30, Fair Value Measurements Using
2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments by Fair Value Level:
U.S. Government Securities $ 7,737,934 $ 7,737,934 $ -9 -
June 30, Fair Value Measurements Using
2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments by Fair Value Level:
U.S. Government Securities $ 6,582,312 $ 6,582,312 $ - $ -

Debt and equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices
quoted in active markets for those securities.
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2019

3. SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS AND CONNECTION CHARGES RECEIVABLE

The following is a summary of special assessments and connection charges receivable at June 30:

2019
New Sewer Connection Due Within
Line Charges_ Charges Total One Year
Due in the year ending June 30:
2020 * $ 373,458 $ 1,686,860 $ 2,060,318 $ 2,060,318
2021 158,497 1,184,616 1,343,113
2022 153,418 1,158,538 1,311,956
2023 96,949 1,136,960 1,233,909
2024 93,344 1,113,690 1,207,034
Thereafter 332,584 7,245,153 7,577,737
1,208,250 13,525,817 14,734,067 2,060,318
Less imputed interest (3,218,970) (3,218,970)
Receivable Before Interest and Lien Fees Receivable
and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 1,208,250 $ 10,306,847 11,515,097 2,060,318
Plus related interest and lien fees receivable 556,574 556,574
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (1,000,000) (500,000)
Special Assessment and Connection Charges Receivable, Net $ 11,071,671 $ 2,116,892
2018
New Sewer Connection Due Within
Line Charges_ Charges Total One Year
Due in the year ending June 30:
2019 * $ 376,011 $ 1,395,575 $ 1,771,586 $ 1,771,587
2020 169,369 1,012,343 1,181,712
2021 168,200 1,009,462 1,177,662
2022 161,948 981,630 1,143,578
2023 103,205 959,455 1,062,660
Thereafter 450,854 6,202,227 6,653,081
1,429,587 11,560,692 12,990,279 1,771,587
Less imputed interest (2,722,104) (2,722,104)
Receivable Before Interest and Lien Fees Receivable
and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 1,429,587 $ 8,838,588 10,268,175 1,771,587
Plus related interest and lien fees receivable 471,940 471,940
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (1,000,000) (500,000)
Special Assessment and Connection Charges Receivable, Net $ 9,740,115 $ 1,743,527

* Includes past due amounts from prior years.
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2019

4. CAPITAL ASSETS

A summary of capital assets is as follows as of June 30:

2019
Beginning Disposals/ Ending
Balance Additions Transfers Balance
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 2,833,278 $ $ $ 2,833,278
Construction in progress 492,177 34,446 526,623
Total capital assets not being depreciated 3,325,455 34,446 3,359,901
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 130,912,165 2,379,191 133,291,356
Sewer and infrastructure 72,603,169 461,526 73,064,695
Equipment 37,421,089 37,421,089
Total capital assets being depreciated 240,936,423 2,840,717 243,777,140
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements 53,654,123 4,184,936 57,839,059
Sewer and infrastructure 27,608,823 1,149,592 28,758,415
Equipment 27,919,872 814,757 28,734,629
Total accumulated depreciation 109,182,818 6,149,285 115,332,103
Total capital assets being depreciated, net 131,753,605 (3,308,568) 128,445,037
Capital Assets, Net 135,079,060 $ (3,274,122) $ $ 131,804,938
2018
Beginning Disposals/ Ending
Balance Additions Transfers Balance
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 2,833,278 $ $ $ 2,833,278
Construction in progress 475,284 16,893 492 177
Total capital assets not being depreciated 3,308,562 16,893 3,325,455
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 125,710,134 5,202,031 130,912,165
Sewer and infrastructure 72,155,793 447,376 72,603,169
Equipment 37,388,775 32,314 37,421,089
Total capital assets being depreciated 235,254,702 5,681,721 240,936,423
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements 49,636,053 4,018,070 53,654,123
Sewer and infrastructure 26,469,205 1,139,618 27,608,823
Equipment 27,106,517 813,355 27,919,872
Total accumulated depreciation 103,211,775 5,971,043 109,182,818
Total capital assets being depreciated, net 132,042,927 (289,322) 131,753,605
Capital Assets, Net 135,351,489 $ (272,429) $ $ 135,079,060
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2019

5. RESTRICTED ASSETS

Pursuant to the Revenue Bond Indenture, certain funds are required to be maintained for purposes
specified in the applicable agreement. The SWPCA'’s restricted assets were being maintained for the
following purposes as of June 30:

2019 2018
Clean Water Fund - Debt Service Reserve $ 4,430,758 $ 4,428,686
2006 Debt Service Reserve Fund 2,022,932 1,989,910
2003 and 2006 Debt Service Funding Accrual 4,447,548 3,178,185
2012 Debt Service Reserve Fund 1,678,098 1,650,705
2013 Debt Service Service Account 1,029,600
2013 Debt - unspent bond proceeds 6,450 116,434
2015 Debt - unspent bond proceeds 5,023,068 7,561,116
2019 Debt - unspent bond proceeds 15,775,271
$ 34,413,725 $ 18,925,036
6. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
Long-term liability activity was as follows for the years ended June 30:
2019
Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
Bonds payable:
General obligation bonds $ 14,457,869 $ $ 1,297,797 13,160,072 $ 6,930,072
Unamortized premium 1,137,538 149,953 987,585
Revenue bonds 49,240,000 15,700,000 1,330,000 63,610,000 1,905,000
Unamortized premium 3,911,787 2,486,628 201,365 6,197,050
Total bonds payable 68,747,194 18,186,628 2,979,115 83,954,707 8,835,072
Notes payable: 29,936,710 4,077,555 25,859,155 4,159,858
Total bonds and notes payable 98,683,904 18,186,628 7,056,670 109,813,862 12,994,930
Compensated absences 356,614 225,360 230,308 351,666 229,829
Net OPEB liability 3,789,497 336,142 4,125,639
Net pension liability 3,028,099 1,175,909 1,852,190
Long-Term Liabilities $ 105,858,114 $ 18,748,130 $ 8,462,887 $ 116,143,357 $ 13,224,759
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2019

2018
Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
Bonds payable:
General obligation bonds $ 10,440,728 $ 5,312,000 $ 1,294,859 $ 14,457,869 $ 1,297,797
Unamortized premium 116,175 1,034,777 13,414 1,137,538
Revenue bonds 50,505,000 1,265,000 49,240,000 1,330,000
Unamortized premium 4,114,294 202,507 3,911,787
Total bonds payable 65,176,197 6,346,777 2,775,780 68,747,194 2,627,797
Notes payable: 33,933,591 3,996,881 29,936,710 4,077,555
Total bonds and notes payable 99,109,788 6,346,777 6,772,661 98,683,904 6,705,352
Compensated absences 354,016 216,720 214,122 356,614 230,308
Net OPEB liability 3,927,976 138,479 3,789,497
Net pension liability 2,539,385 488,714 3,028,099
Long-Term Liabilities $ 105,931,165 $ 7,052,211 $ 7,125,262 $ 105,858,114 $ 6,935,660

A. General Obligation Bonds

Per Connecticut state law, the SWPCA does not have the authority to directly issue general obligation
bonds. General obligation bonds issued on behalf of the SWPCA are considered general obligation
debt of the City. The SWPCA pays the principal and interest due on its allocable portion of any City
general obligation bonds.

The SWPCA'’s allocable portion of the City’s general obligation bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2019
consisted of the following:

Amount of Balance
Year of Interest Original Outstanding Outstanding
Description Issue Rate (%) Issue June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018
Refunding bonds 2005 400-500 % $ 2,247,600 $ 500,000 $ 949,000
Refunding bonds 2009 3.25-5.00 1,073,431 225,072 483,869
Public improvement 2010 2.80-5.45 10,000,000 6,445,000 6,925,000
Refunding bonds 2010 4.00-5.00 408,000 408,000 408,000
Refunding bonds 2011 2.00-4.00 430,000 270,000 280,000
Refunding bonds 2013 2.00-5.00 1,342,884 100,000
Crossover Refunding 2018 4.00 -5.00 5,312,000 5,312,000 5,312,000
Total $ 13,160,072 $ 14,457,869
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Aggregate debt service requirements subsequent to June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
2020 * $ 6,930,072 $ 345194 $ 7,275,266
2021 837,000 275,520 1,112,520
2022 596,000 239,820 835,820
2023 614,000 209,645 823,645
2024 585,000 180,145 765,145
2025-2029 2,960,000 468,225 3,428,225
2030 638,000 12,760 650,760
Debt service requirement 13,160,072 1,731,309 14,891,381
Plus unamortized premium 987,585 987,585
Total $ 14,147,657 $ 1,731,309 $ 15,878,966

*Includes principal payments on a crossover refunding in the amount of $5,950,000 for the SWPCA.

The SWPCA'’s share of interest expense incurred on general obligation bonds was $422,100 and
$480,243 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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B. Revenue Bonds

Revenue bonds are special limited obligations of the City payable solely from revenues and other
receipts of the SWPCA.

Revenue bonds outstanding consisted of the following as of June 30:

2019 2018

Stamford Water Pollution Control System and Facility Revenue

and Revenue Refunding Bonds - 2013. Issued in the aggregate

amount of $22,095,000, consisting of $12,770,000 of revenue

bonds and $9,325,000 of Refunding Revenue Bonds, in August

2013 at interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 6.0%, due annually,

on August 15. Debt service is paid to the trustee monthly, with

principal maturity paid from August 2013 through August 2044.

The aggregate includes unamortized premiums of $1,852,766

and $1,929,697 at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. $ 21,522,766 $ 22,179,697

Stamford Water Pollution Control System and Facility Revenue

and Revenue Refunding Bonds - 2015. Issued in the aggregate

amount of $31,070,000, consisting of $15,610,000 of revenue

bonds and $15,460,000 of Refunding Revenue Bonds, in July

2015 at interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%, due annually,

on September 15. Debt service is paid to the trustee monthly,

with principal maturity paid from September 2015 through

September 2045. The aggregate includes unamortized

premiums of $1,852,766 and $1,929,697 at June 30, 2019 and

2018, respectively. 30,197,124 30,972,090

Stamford Water Pollution Control System and Facility Revenue
and Bonds - 2019. Issued in the amount of $15,700,000, in June
2019 at interest rates ranging from 4.0% to 5.0%, due annually,
on April 1. Debt service is paid to the trustee monthly, with
principal maturity paid from April 2020 through April 2044. The
aggregate includes unamortized premiums of $2,387,160 at
June 30, 2019. 18,087,160
Total revenue bonds outstanding 69,807,050 53,151,787
Less unamortized premium 6,197,050 3,911,787

Total Long-Term Revenue Bonds Outstanding $ 63,610,000 $ 49,240,000

The City issued these revenue bonds pursuant to a 2001 and 2006 indenture of trust by and among the
City, the SWPCA and the Bank (the Indenture), supplemented through 2019. This Indenture requires
the SWPCA to establish and maintain restricted accounts, and follow certain procedures for future bond
issuance and payment.
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After each fiscal year, the SWPCA is required to review its fees to ensure anticipated revenues are
sufficient to meet the above requirements. If this review discloses any risk of future noncompliance, the
SWPCA must engage an independent industry specialist to undertake a study of its fee schedules.
Within 90 days after the beginning of the fiscal year, the specialists recommended fees must be
implemented at a level adequate to meet the above requirements.

The City has pledged future SWPCA customer revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to repay
$63,610,00 in outstanding SWPCA revenue bonds. Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for the
construction of capital assets or refunded other revenue bonds issued for that purpose. The bonds are
payable solely from SWPCA customer net revenues and are payable through 2045. The net revenues
pledged for the year ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $18,148,012 and $15,233,623, respectively.
SWPCA Revenue Bond principal of $1,330,000 and $1,265,000 and interest of $2,264,819 and
$2,331,719 was paid in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Aggregate debt service requirements subsequent to June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
2020 $ 1,905,000 $ 2712941 $ 4,617,941
2021 1,845,000 2,775,869 4,620,869
2022 1,945,000 2,678,444 4,623,444
2023 2,050,000 2,575,619 4,625,619
2024 2,155,000 2,469,194 4,624,194
2025-2029 12,525,000 10,607,719 23,132,719
2030-2034 15,130,000 7,209,828 22,339,828
2035-2039 12,890,000 4,159,319 17,049,319
2040-2044 12,280,000 1,623,413 13,903,413
2045 885,000 16,592 901,592

63,610,000 $ 36,828,938 100,438,938

Debt Service Requirement ~ $

Interest incurred on revenue bonds was $2,264,819 and $2,331,789 for the years ended June 30, 2019
and 2018, respectively.

C. Notes Payable

In fiscal years 1998 and 2001, the City obtained project loans from the State of Connecticut for various
sewer projects of $864,280 and $3,574,208, respectively, of which $-0- and $212,647 was outstanding
as of June 30, 2019 and $-0- and $421,087 was outstanding as of June 30, 2018. The repayment on
these three loans is not restricted to the funds of the SWPCA. Currently, the SWPCA is repaying these
notes on behalf of the City.

The SWPCA completed a $105 million upgrade of the waste water treatment facility in 2006. To fund
the upgrade project, the City obtained a Project Loan Obligation from the State of Connecticut for
$73,561,481. This loan is a special limited obligation loan of the City that is to be repaid solely from
revenues, funds, accounts, moneys and securities of the SWPCA. The project was also funded
through grants and a local share. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the outstanding balance on the loan
was $25,646,508 and $29,515,623, respectively.
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The loans bear interest at 2%. The loans are payable in monthly installments ranging from
approximately $3,601 to $368,000 through August 2025, plus accrued interest. The combined loan
balances were $25,859,155 and $29,936,710 as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Interest expense incurred on these notes payables was $561,491 and $642,166 for the years ended
June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Aggregate debt service requirements subsequent to June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
2020 $ 4,159,858 $ 479,189 $ 4,639,047
2021 4,026,883 397,206 4,424,089
2022 4,108,163 315,926 4,424,089
2023 4,191,084 233,005 4,424,089
2024 4,275,678 148,411 4,424,089
2025-2026 5,097,489 63,949 5,161,438
Debt Service Requirement $ 25,859,155 $ 1,637,686 $ 27,496,841
7. REVENUE
Sewer use charges are comprised of the following for the years ended June 30:
2019 2018
Sewer use fees $ 22094920 $ 20,998,785
Contract revenue - Town of Darien, CT 1,606,427 1,593,763
Contract revenue - Aquarion 460,679 389,341
Interest 383,403 447,639
Lien fees 120,339 126,635
$ 24665768 $ 23,556,163

Special assessments, connection charges and other are comprised of the following for the years ended
June 30:

2019 2018
Connection charges $ 2,315,809 $ 2,126,515
Capital reimbursement - Town of Darien, CT 1,111,582 885,958
Interest 32,477 378,927
Delinquent interest and lien fees 164,211 6,845
$ 3,624,079 $ 3,398,245

28



STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2019

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
General Contingencies

The SWPCA is a defendant in a lawsuit. In the opinion of the City’s General Counsel and SWPCA'’s
management, the resolution of this matter is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the
future financial condition of the SWPCA.

9. RISK MANAGEMENT

The SWPCA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft or impairment to assets, errors and
omissions, injury to employees, employee health insurance and natural disasters.

The SWPCA is insured through the City’s internal service insurance fund. The City’s self-insurance
fund covers the City, including the SWPCA, per claim for up to $1,000,000 for general and auto liability,
$1,500,000 for workers’ compensation, $100,000 for public officials’ liability and $250,000 for property
losses. The City purchases commercial insurance for claims in excess of these retentions. Costs
associated with these risks are reported in the City’s insurance internal service fund in addition to
claims incurred but not reported. The SWPCA is charged by the City for its share of premium cost and
claims. Settled claims have not exceeded commercial coverage in any of the past three years. For the
years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the SWPCA paid the City approximately $330,000 and
$322,000, respectively, to the City’s internal service insurance fund.

10. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN
A. Plan Description and Benefits Provided

Certain employees of the SWPCA are covered under the City’s Classified Employees’ Retirement Fund
(CERF), a single employer defined benefit plan. Eligibility begins at date of hire and vesting occurs in
full after 5 years of service. Benefits are payable to an employee who retires at age 60 with a minimum
of 10 years of service or an employee who has reached age 58 with at least 15 years of service.
Certain contracts allow employees with 25 years of service to retire. Annual benefits equal 2% per year
of service with maximums up to 70% of final salary for each year of credited service. Employees
contribute 3% of their annual salary until they have reached 33 years of credited service. Some union
contracts allow employees to exchange sick or vacation leave for up to 4% additional pension credit
(1% for each 25 days exchanged). Interest of 5% is credited to the employees’ contribution.

The City uses an independent actuary to determine the allocation of contributions required for the
various departments and groups that participate in the retirement plans, including the SWPCA. For the
years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the SWPCA'’s contribution to the retirement fund was $416,000
and $358,000, representing approximately 5% and 6%, respectively, of total contributions to the CERF
for each year.

The City’s basic financial statements contain CERF activity and funding information as of June 30,
2019. At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the CERF had $226.4 million and $223.1 million in net position,
respectively.

GASB Statement No. 68 requires certain pension related items to be recorded. The items below
provide detail of those items. Refer to the City of Stamford comprehensive annual financial report
(CAFR) for the full pension disclosures.
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B. Net Pension Liability of the SWPCA
The components of the SWPCA's net pension liability at June 30, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018

Total pension liability $ 14,151,390 $ 15,181,198
Plan fiduciary net position 12,299,200 12,153,099
Net Pension Liability $ 1,852,190 $ 3,028,099

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage
of the total pension liability 86.91% 80.05%

C. Changes in the Net Pension Liability - SWPCA'’s Portion of the City’s Employee Retirement
Plan

2019
Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a)-(b)
Balances as of July 1, 2018 $ 15,181,198 $ 12,153,099 $ 3,028,099
Changes for the year:

Service cost 225,781 225,781
Interest on total pension liability 1,078,349 1,078,349
Change in benefit terms (589,689) (589,689)
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses (984,086) (984,086)
Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 114,838 114,838
Employer contributions 416,000 (416,000)
Member contributions 101,344 (101,344)
Net investment income 513,001 (513,001)
Benefit payments, including refund to employee contributions (875,001) (875,001) -
Administrative expenses (9,243) 9,243
Net changes (1,029,808) 146,101 (1,175,909)
Balances as of June 30, 2019 $ 14,151,390 $ 12,299,200 $ 1,852,190
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2018
Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a)-(b)
Balances as of July 1, 2017 $ 13,754,982 $ 11,215,597 $ 2,539,385
Changes for the year:

Service cost 285,518 285,518
Interest on total pension liability 1,029,172 1,029,172
Change in benefit terms 981 981
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses 370,193 370,193
Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 388,504 388,504
Employer contributions 358,000 (358,000)
Member contributions 128,388 (128,388)
Net investment income 1,105,767 (1,105,767)
Benefit payments, including refund to employee contributions (648,152) (648,152) -
Administrative expenses (6,501) 6,501
Net changes 1,426,216 937,502 488,714
Balances as of June 30, 2018 $ 15,181,198 $ 12,153,099 $ 3,028,099

D. Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the SWPCA reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pension from the following sources:

June 30, 2019

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 164,532 $ 681,246
Changes of assumptions 258,054
Net difference between projected and actual earning
on pension plan investments 86,629
Total $ 509,215 §$ 681,246
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June 30, 2018

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $ $
Changes of assumptions 267,362 166,160
Net difference between projected and actual earning 359,856
on pension plan investments 2,307
Total $ 627,218 $ 168,467

Subsequent to June 30, 2019, amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Recognition Year

2020 $ 51,285
2021 (280,734)
2022 (12,390)
2023 69,808

E. Defined Contribution Retirement Plans

Plan Description

The City has established a defined contribution retirement plan for SWPCA employees hired after
certain specified dates in 2012 for all unions except UAW and IUOE/Operations.

11. TRANSACTIONS WITH THE CITY

In the fiscal years 2019 and 2018, the City paid approximately $261,000 and $263,000, respectively, in
sewer use charges to the SWPCA. The City reimbursed the SWPCA approximately $818,000 and
$435,000 for the City’s share of the hurricane barrier maintenance and operations for the years ended
June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

For the fiscal years 2019 and 2018, the SWPCA paid the City approximately $421,000 and $455,000,
for an allocation of central services costs, respectively, and approximately $810,000 and $932,000 to
the City’s internal service medical insurance fund for health insurance coverage of active and retired
employees, respectively.

In connection with the pooled cash arrangement with the City, the SWPCA earned interest income of
approximately $205,000 and $93,000 on balances due from the City during the years ended June 30,
2019 and 2018, respectively.
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12. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
A. Plan Description and Benefits Provided

The City provides certain health care benefits for retired employees through a single employer defined
benefit plan in which the SWPCA participates. The various collective bargaining agreements stipulate
the employees’ covered and the percentage of contribution, if any, to the cost of health care benefits.
Contributions by the City may vary according to length of service. The cost of providing
postemployment health care benefits is shared between the City and the retired employee.
Substantially all of the City’s employees may become eligible for these benefits if they reach normal
retirement age while working for the City. The cost of retiree health care benefits is recognized as an
expense as claims are paid.

The City uses an independent actuary to determine the allocation of contributions required for the
various departments and groups that participate in the retirement plans, including the SWPCA. For the
years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the SWPCA'’s contribution to the OPEB fund was $463,000 and
$488,000, respectively, representing approximately 2% of total contributions to the OPEB fund for each
year.

The City’s basic financial statements contain OPEB activity and funding information as of June 30,
2019. At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the OPEB fund had $139.5 million and $116.3 million in net position,
respectively.

GASB Statement No. 75 requires certain items to be recorded. The items below provide detail of those
items. Refer to the City of Stamford comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) for the full pension
disclosures.

B. Net OPEB Liability - SWPCA'’s Portion of the City’s OPEB Plan

The Town’s net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2019 and 2018. The components of the
net OPEB liability of the Town at June 30, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018

Total OPEB liability $ 6,245,838 $ 5,637,461
Plan fiduciary net position 2,120,199 1,747,964
Net OPEB Liability $ 4,125,639 $ 3,789,497

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage
of the total OPEB liability 33.95% 31.57%
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C. Changes in the Net OPEB Liability - SWPCA'’s Portion of the City’s OPEB Plan

2019
Increase (Decrease)
Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a)-(b)
Balances as of July 1, 2018 $ 5537461 % 1,747,964 $ 3,789,497
Changes for the year:
Service cost 132,164 132,164
Interest on total OPEB liability 402,108 402,108
Change in benefit terms 576,667 576,667
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses (893,532) (893,532)
Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 663,539 663,539
Employer contributions 463,000 (463,000)
Net investment income 82,168 (82,168)
Benefit payments, including refund to employee contributions (172,569) (172,569) -
Administrative expenses (364) 364
Net changes 708,377 372,235 336,142
Balances as of June 30, 2019 $ 6245838 % 2,120,199 $ 4,125,639
2018
Increase (Decrease)
Total OPEB  Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a)-(b)
Balances as of July 1, 2017 $ 5,187,056 $ 1,259,080 $ 3,927,976
Changes for the year:
Service cost 164,658 164,658
Interest on total OPEB liability 393,737 393,737
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses (348,342) (348,342)
Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 347,869 347,869
Employer contributions 488,000 (488,000)
Net investment income 208,673 (208,673)
Benefit payments, including refund to employee contributions (207,517) (207,517) -
Administrative expenses (272) 272
Net changes 350,405 488,884 (138,479)
Balances as of June 30, 2018 $ 5537461 % 1,747,964 $ 3,789,497
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D. OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to OPEB

At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the SWPCA reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

June 30, 2019

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $ $ 878,797
Changes of assumptions 704,623
Net difference between projected and actual earning
on pension plan investments 43,157 62,354
Total $ 747,780 $ 941,151
June 30, 2018
Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $ $
Changes of assumptions 275,771
Net difference between projected and actual earning 275,396
on pension plan investments 83,139
Total $ 275,396 $ 358,910

Subsequent to June 30, 2019, amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year Ending June 30,

2019 $  (66,190)
2020 (66,190)
2021 (66,172)
2022 5,181

13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In August 2019, the SWPCA experienced an explosion resulting in the material destruction of
equipment and damage to existing structures on the premises. Management intends to repair and
upgrade the facility and equipment that was lost during the event. Insurance proceeds in the amount of
$9 million are expected with $1 million received in October 2019.
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

EXHIBIT A-1

Budgeted Amounts

Original

Variance -
Positive
Actual (Negative)

Operating revenues:
Sewer use charges
Contract revenue - Town of Darien, CT
Contract revenue - Aquarion Water Company
Fees and other income
Nitrogen trading credit

21,692,643 $ 21,692,643 $

22,594,537 $ 901,894

Total operating revenues

Nonoperating revenues:
Special assessments, connection charges,

Interest income and change in investment value

Total nonoperating revenues

Capital contributions - grants

Budgetary revenues are different than GAAP revenues because:
Interest subsidy

Total Revenues and Other Financing Sources as Reported on the Statement of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
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1,708,636 1,606,427 (102,209)
342,693 460,679 117,986
661,221 459,729 (201,492)
500,000 2,528,256 2,028,256

24,905,193 27,649,628 2,744,435
2,330,357 3,624,079 1,293,722
40,000 721,592 681,592
2,370,357 4,345,671 1,975,314
76,832 76,832

$ 27,275,550 $ 27,275,550 32,072,131 $__ 4,796,581

(99,577)

5 _31.97255¢



STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF EXPENSES AND OTHER FINANCING USES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

EXHIBIT A-2

Operating expenses:
Administration
Process control
Laboratory
Sludge processing
Regulatory compliance
Building maintenance
Equipment maintenance
Pump station maintenance
Sanitary sewer maintenance
Barrier maintenance
Billing services

Total operating expenses

Nonoperating expenses:
Debt service
Miscellaneous contingency
Capital reserve funding

Total nonoperating expenses

Total

Budgetary expenses are different than GAAP expenses because:
Change in net pension liability

Change in net OPEB liability

Change in deferred outflows of resources
Change in deferred inflows of resources

Depreciation
Interest subsidy
Principal payments on debt

Total Expenses and Other Financing Uses as Reported on the

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
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$

Budgeted Amounts Variance -
Positive

Original Final Actual (Negative)
5,003,563 $ 5,207,563 $ 4,815,460 $ 392,103
3,431,133 3,384,133 3,158,741 225,392
465,479 448,479 346,368 102,111
2,724,585 2,945,585 2,822,895 122,690
117,049 102,049 95,868 6,181
320,000 314,000 241,094 72,906
1,203,661 1,289,661 1,016,779 272,882
894,319 878,319 692,339 185,980
519,823 519,823 457,234 62,589
270,200 172,700 134,629 38,071
462,300 485,800 464,216 21,584
15,412,112 15,748,112 14,245,623 1,502,489
10,358,438 10,358,438 10,327,091 31,347
500,000 164,000 164,000
1,005,000 1,005,000 1,005,000
11,863,438 11,527,438 10,327,091 1,200,347
27,275,550 $ 27,275,550 24,572,714 $ 2,702,836

(1,175,909)
336,142
(354,381)
1,095,020
6,149,285
(99,577)
(6,705,352)

23,817,942




STATISTICAL
SECTION

The objectives of statistical section information are to provide financial statement users with additional
historical perspective, context and detail to assist in using the information in the financial statements,
notes to financial statements and required supplementary information to understand and assess
economic condition

Statistical section information is presented in the following categories:

* Financial trends information is intended to assist users in understanding and assessing how
financial position has changed over time.

* Revenue capacity information is intended to assist users in understanding and assessing the
factors affecting the ability to generate own-source revenues (property taxes, charges for services,
etc.).

» Debt capacity information is intended to assist users in understanding and assessing debt burden
and the ability to issue additional debt.

» Operating information is intended to provide contextual information about operations and resources
to assist readers in using financial statement information to understand and assess economic
condition.

The accompanying tables are presented in the above order. Refer to the Table of Contents for
applicable page number locations.

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in the tables is derived from the basic financial
statements for the relevant year



STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION (in Thousands)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30,

TABLE 1

Operating Revenues:
Total operating revenues

Operating Expenses:
Operations and supplies
Salaries, benefits and claims
Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income

Nonoperating Revenue (Expense):
Special assessments and connection charges
Provision for doubtful accounts - Special
assessments and connection charges
Interest income and change in investment value
Gain on sale of assets
Interest expense
Transfers in
Net Nonoperating Revenue (Expense)

Capital Grants, Transfers Out and Special Items:
Capital grants
Transfers out
Special item - impairment of assets
Total
Change In Net Business

Net position - beginning of year

Restatement for Net Pension Loss per GASB 68
Restatement for net OPEB Loss per GASB 75

Net Position - End of Year

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(Restated) (Restated)
$ 27,550 $24708 $24135 $ 24469 $ 23,769 $22,355 $21,155 $20,305 $18,504 $18,252
7,543 6,704 6,454 7,152 7,153 7,228 8,131 6,120 6,800 6,946
6,182 6,553 6,019 6,356 5,950 4,541 5,196 5,468 4,773 4,346
6,149 5,971 5,714 5,583 5,507 5,373 5,239 5,055 5,087 6,288
19,874 19,228 18,187 19,091 18,610 17,141 18,566 16,642 16,660 17,580
7,676 5,480 5,948 5,378 5,159 5,213 2,589 3,663 1,844 672
3,624 3,398 4,014 2,821 3,911 2,516 2,987 2,703 3,182 2,763
(500) (100)

721 194 (30) 83 18 34 95 98 113 104

8 42
(3,522) (3,320) (3,322) (3,045) (3,227) (3,149) (2,940) (3,133) (3,182) (3,764)

288 1,067

823 272 670 (99) 702 (311) (358) (332) 1,081 (896)

77 191 66 390

(421) (455) (398) (324) (349)
(2,226)
(344) (264) (332) 66 (349) - - - - (2,226)
8,155 5,488 6,286 5,344 5,513 4,902 2,231 3,330 2,925 (2,450)
83,346 77,858 71,572 69,359 63,846 58,943 59,493 56,163 53,238 55,688
(2,780)

(3,131)

$ 91,501 $ 83,346 $ 77,858 $ 71,572 $ 69,359 $63,846 $58,943 $59,493 $56,163 $53,238
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY

NET POSITION (in Thousands)
AS OF JUNE 30,

TABLE 2

Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for debt service and capital improvements
Unrestricted

Restatement for net pension loss per GASB 68

Total Net Position

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
$ 43,877 $45,196  $50,217  $49,195 $50,755 $48,395 $50,460 $46,503 $45,613 $44,538
13,609 11,247 11,170 10,906 9,597 9,532 7,965 7,742 7,811 7,677
34,015 26,903 16,471 14,602 9,007 5,919 3,299 5,248 2,739 1,023
(3,131) (2,780)
$ 91,501 $83,346  $77,858  $71,572 $69,359 $63,846 $58,943 $59,493 $56,163 $53,238
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
REVENUE CAPACITY - CUSTOMER, CONSUMPTION & RATE STATISTICS

TABLE 3

For the Year Annual Average
Ended Consumption Consumption Rate per Annual Rate Residential
June 30, Customers (CCF) Change CCF Change Bill
2019 19,671 4,248,187 1.88% $5.00 2.46% $510.00
2018 19,648 4,169,897 (3.60)% $4.88 3.39% $497.76
2017 19,598 4,325,661 2.06% $4.72 1.72% $481.44
2016 19,619 4,238,192 (3.08)% $4.64 1.98% $473.28
2015 19,470 4,372,971 2.27% $4.55 3.41% $464.10
2014 19,447 4,276,100 0.14% $4.40 8.64% $448.80
2013 19,378 4,270,274 (1.00)% $4.05 4.92% $429.42
2012 19,381 4,313,364 0.83% $3.86 8.43% $393.72
2011 19,360 4,277,668 (6.50)% $3.56 2.89% $391.60
2010 19,066 4,575,000 0.48% $3.46 2.37% $380.60
Notes:

Customers as presented reflects the total number of residential, commercial and industrial customers.
Consumption data reflects hundred cubic feet (CCF) of water consumed.
CCF = 100 cubic feet of water, which is equivalent to 748 gallons.

Source: SWPCA records
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY

REVENUE CAPACITY - PRINCIPAL WATER USERS
CURRENT AND PREVIOUS YEAR (AS OF JUNE 30)

TABLE 4

2019 2018
Annual Billed Annual Billed
Consumption % of Total Consumption % of Total
Property Owner (100 CCF) Consumption Property Owner (100 CCF)  Consumption
1 Stamford Hospital 65,888 1.55% 1 Stamford Hospital 61,470 1.47%
2 Stamford Housing Authority 48,286 1.14% 2 City of Stamford 52,760 1.27%
3 City of Stamford 46,252 1.09% 3 Stamford Town Center 40,668 0.98%
4 Rippowan Park Associates LP 38,430 0.90% 4 Rippowan Park Associates LP 39,368 0.94%
5 SLC Operating LP 32,946 0.78% 5 Stamford Housing Authority 33,912 0.81%
6 Cornerstone Apartments 29,864 0.70% 6 Cornerstone Apartments 28,722 0.69%
7 Hoyt Bedford Apartments 29,190 0.69% 7 Hilton Stamford Hotel 27,504 0.66%
8 Stamford Town Center 27,572 0.65% 8 Hoyt Bedford Apartments 25,106 0.60%
9 Stamford Marriott Hotel 22,628 0.53% 9 SLC Operating LP 24,316 0.58%
10 Hilton Stamford Hotel 21,006 0.49% 10 Stamford Marriott Hotel 21,920 0.53%
Total 362,062 8.52% Total 355,746 8.53%
Total Consumption Billed in CCF 4,248,187 Total Consumption Billed in CCF 4,169,897
Notes:

CCF = 100 cubic feet of water, which is equivalent to 748 gallons.

Source: SWPCA records
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TABLE 5
STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
DEBT CAPACITY - DEBT OUTSTANDING BY TYPE (in Thousands)

For the Year General

Ended Obligation = Revenue Notes Debt Per

June 30, Bonds Bonds Payable Total Debt Customers Customer
2019 $ 13,160 $ 63,610 $ 25,859 $ 102,629 19,671 $ 5,217
2018 14,458 49,240 29,937 93,635 19,648 4,766
2017 10,441 50,505 33,934 94,880 19,598 4,841
2016 11,753 55,981 37,877 105,612 19,619 5,383
2015 12,970 40,620 41,760 95,350 19,470 4,897
2014 14,919 41,337 45,625 101,881 19,447 5,239
2013 16,762 27,614 49,494 93,870 19,378 4,844
2012 18,496 28,345 53,291 100,132 19,381 4,829
2011 20,190 29,051 57,016 106,257 19,360 5,488
2010 21,641 29,733 60,671 112,045 19,066 5,877

Source:

Details of the SWPCA's debt outstanding are included in the notes to the financial statements.
Customers as presented reflects the total number of residential, commercial and industrial customers.
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STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
DEBT CAPACITY - DEBT COVERAGE (in Thousands)

TABLE 6

Operating Less -
Revenues Operating
plus Special Exps. (Restated)
For the Year Assessments (excluding Net Revenue Bonds plus Notes Payable

Ended and Connection Depreciation & Available Debt Service

June 30, Charges Amortization) Revenues Principal Interest Total Coverage
2019 $ 31,174 $ 13,825 $ 17,350 $ 5,560 $ 2,670 $ 8,230 2.1
2018 28,106 12,473 15,634 5,408 2,826 8,234 1.90
2017 28,149 12,580 15,569 5,262 2,974 8,236 1.89
2016 27,289 13,508 13,782 5,153 3,110 8,263 1.67
2015 27,680 13,103 14,578 4,829 2,690 7,519 1.94
2014 24,870 11,769 13,102 4,499 2,803 7,302 1.79
2013 24,142 16,187 7,956 4,415 2,301 6,716 1.18
2012 23,008 11,645 11,363 4,512 2,305 6,817 1.67
2011 21,686 11,573 10,113 4,415 2,406 6,821 1.48
2010 21,016 11,292 9,724 4,320 2,506 6,826 1.42

Source: City and SWPCA records
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TABLE 7
STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
OPERATING INFORMATION - FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT EMPLOYEES (FTE'S)
AS OF JUNE 30,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

FTE's 40 43 44 44 40 41 36 39 41 42

Source: City records
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TABLE 8
STAMFORD WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY

OPERATING INFORMATION - CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

AS OF JUNE 30,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Function/Program
Treatment Plant
Pumps and Motors (units) 134 134 134 134 134 134 134 134 134 134
Bioreactor Volume (million gallons per day) 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15
Clarifiers (units) 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Dryer and Pelletizer Equipment (units) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Stand-by Generators 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Pumping Station
Wastewater Stations (units) 23 23 23 23 23 23 22 22 22 22
Stormwater Stations (units) 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Portable Generators (units) 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 4
Stand-by Generators 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Wastewater
Sanitary sewers (miles - per GIS data) 250 250 250 250 250 275 304 304 304 303
Treatment capacity (million gallons per day) 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24

Source: SWPCA records
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ENGINEER'S REPORT

1 INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE

1.1 Introduction and Purpose

Arcadis U.S., Inc. (Arcadis) has been retained by the City of Stamford, Connecticut (City) and the Water
Pollution Control Authority for the City of Stamford (SWPCA) to provide Consulting Services for the
development of an Engineer’s Report in support of the planned issuance of 2020 Series A Revenue
Bonds and 2020 Series B Revenue Bonds together as Series 2020 Revenue Bonds. The Engineer's
Report (Report) includes:

e A description and condition summary of the SWPCA wastewater system.

e An overview of the SWPCA's organization and management.

o A summary of the status of current and proposed capital projects and improvements.

e Review of regulatory compliance.

e A summary of historical and projected customer statistics.

o Areview of current and projected financial information.

e Conclusions regarding the technical, organizational, and financial aspects of the SWPCA.

The technical and financial data reviewed in preparing this Engineer’'s Report includes existing records
and documents provided by the SWPCA. The Report summarizes the work completed up to the date of
the issuance of the Engineer’s Report. Changed conditions occurring or becoming known after such date
could affect the material presented and the conclusions reached herein to the extent of such changes.

Arcadis has not independently verified the accuracy of the information provided by the SWPCA and
others. However, we believe such sources are reliable and the information obtained to be appropriate for
the analysis undertaken and the conclusions reached herein. To the extent that the information provided
to Arcadis by the SWPCA is not accurate, the conclusions and recommendations contained in this Report
may vary and are subject to change. In addition, the scope of the Arcadis review did not include any
pending or threatened litigation against the SWPCA. The SWPCA has stated that there is no ongoing
litigation which they believe would have any material impact on the SWPCA'’s operations.

In completing this Engineer’s Report for the SWPCA, Arcadis is not serving in the role of a “municipal
advisor” under the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. As such, Arcadis is (a) not
recommending any action on behalf of the SWPCA to municipal financial products or the issuance of
municipal securities; (b) is not acting as a municipal advisor to the SWPCA, and does not owe a fiduciary
duty to the SWPCA pursuant to Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended by the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, with respect to the information and
material prepared in connection with this scope of work; and (c) acting for its own interests. The SWPCA
shall engage a registered municipal advisor and shall discuss any information and material prepared in
connection with this Report with any and all internal and external registered municipal advisors and other
financial advisors and experts whom the SWPCA deems appropriate before acting on this information
and material.
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Stamford Engineers Report_11-18-2020_Final 1-1



ENGINEER'S REPORT

Accordingly, since Arcadis is not a municipal advisor registered with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, SWPCA acknowledges that: (a) it shall retain, and has retained, the services of an
independent registered municipal advisor, who, during the past two years, was not associated with
Arcadis, and that (b) Arcadis is required to comply with the requirements set forth in the federal Exchange
Act, Municipal Advisor Rule (17 CFR 200, 240, 249), which requires that Arcadis (i) receive from the
municipal entity a representation in writing that it is represented by, and will rely on the advice of, an
independent registered municipal advisor; (ii) provide written disclosure to the municipal entity that
Arcadis is not serving as a municipal advisor and, with respect to the municipal entity, is not subject to the
statutory fiduciary duty applicable to municipal advisors under the federal Exchange Act, and (iii) provide
a copy of such disclosure to the municipal entity’s independent registered municipal advisor. Arcadis does
not provide opinions on or advocates for using a financial product (issuing debt) or the choice of financial
products employed. As such, Arcadis submitted its work products to SWPCA's independent registered
municipal advisor for review and approval.

1.2 Purpose of Engineer's Report

The Engineer's Report is prepared to support the planned issuance of 2020 Revenue Bonds. In
preparing this Report, Arcadis has reviewed information and documents prepared by or on behalf of the
SWPCA. The purpose of Arcadis’ review of such documents is to understand and report on the technical
and financial information contained therein as it relates to the Series 2020 Revenue Bonds issuance. For
reference throughout this Report, the SWPCA'’s fiscal year (FY) runs from July 1 to June 30.

arcadis.com
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2 ORGANIZATION AND MANAGEMENT

2.1 Water Pollution Control Authority

The SWPCA is an enterprise fund/agency of the City of Stamford, Connecticut (City) that provides retail
wastewater collection and treatment services to customers in the City and wholesale treatment services
to the Town of Darien, Connecticut (Darien) via an Interlocal Agreement. The SWPCA was established by
the City on November 28, 1996, by Ordinance No. 803, pursuant to statutory authority as set forth in
Chapter 103, Sections 7-245 through 7-273a inclusive, of the Connecticut General Statutes (CGS). Prior
to that date, the functions of the SWPCA operated under the Office of Operations of the City.

In accordance with its governing ordinance, the purpose of the SWPCA is to operate the Water Pollution
Control Facility (WPCF), sanitary sewage collection system, sanitary sewer pumping stations and
hurricane barrier storm water pumping stations for the City; to repair, maintain, upgrade/replace any
component of the system related to the collection, treatment, and disposal of sewage and resulting
byproducts, and to assess fees and charges in connection with the operation, maintenance and
management of the system. The City provides the SWPCA with administrative, financial management and
bond financing support. The SWPCA helps support the City’s stormwater management program by
providing flood control barrier operation and maintenance for the City and other related services;
however, responsibility for stormwater control and management remains with the City.

2.2 Organizational Structure

An overview of the current organizational structure of the SWPCA, as of July 2020, is shown in Figure 2-
1. The SWPCA is governed by a nine-member Board of Directors, all of whom are voting members. By
ordinance, the Board includes the following City personnel: Director of Operations, Director of
Administration, Chairman of the Board of Finance or designee from the Board of Finance, President of
the Board of Representatives or designee from Board of Representatives, and five at-large members
appointed by the Mayor and approved by the Board of Representatives. One of the at-large Board
members must be an accountant or financial manager and one must be an engineer. At-large Board
members are appointed for three-year terms and can serve multiple terms as there is no term limit. In
addition, by ordinance, no more than three at-large members can be of the same political party. Refer to
Section 2.3 and Table 2-1, for a list of the Board of Directors.
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Figure 2-1. SWPCA Organization Chart
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The SWPCA is headed by an Executive Director, who is responsible for all technical and administrative
operations of the SWPCA and the implementation of programs, policies, and procedures at the direction
of the Board. Mr. William Brink, P.E., currently serves as the Executive Director of the SWPCA and has
served in this position since March 2013.

The SWPCA FY2020 budget includes 47 employees; 46 full-time, and 1 permanent part-time, all of whom
are employees of the SWPCA. The number of employees has generally remained consistent since
FY2017.

Each of the full-time and part-time employees belongs to one of three collective bargaining units
represented within the City. The Municipal Administrators Association (MAA) and United Automobile,
Aerospace, and Agricultural Implement Works of America (UAW) collective bargaining contracts are
Citywide. The International Union of Operating Engineers (UOE) collective bargaining contract is with the
SWPCA. The collective bargaining contracts are negotiated through the City’s Office of Legal Affairs.

The collective bargaining agreement between the SWPCA and UOE Local 30 representing the SWPCA
operators, mechanics and utility workers expires on June 30, 2021.

The collective bargaining agreement between the City and UAW who represent the SWPCA laboratory
and clerical staff and electricians expired on June 30, 2017. The City has been in negotiations with the
UAW for a new contract. Based on discussions with the SWPCA, the new agreement is not anticipated to
have a significant impact on SWPCA'’s operations or operating expenses.

The collective bargaining agreement between the City and the Stamford Municipal Supervisory
Employees Union Local #2657 of Council #4 of the American Federation of State, County and Municipal
Employees, AFL-CIO representing SWPCA administrators and supervisors, including the Executive
Director, expires on June 30, 2023.

In FY2018, upon the Plant Supervisor, William Degnan, retiring the Assistant Plant Supervisor, Robert
Pudelka, commenced serving as the Acting Plant Supervisor until FY2020 when he assumed the official
role as of Plant Supervisor. The SWPCA has reported that the WPCF organizational structure and
Department head positions will continue to remain the same with both a Plant Supervisor and Assistant
Plant Supervisor. The Plant Supervisor and Assistant Plant Supervisor positions both require a
Connecticut Wastewater Operator Class IV (Class V) license, which is the highest Operator certification
level.

Since FY2018, when the Laboratory Director retired, the Assistant Plant Supervisor also assumed some
of the Laboratory Director responsibilities, including, but not limited to regulatory data review and
reporting. At that time, the SWPCA evaluated the Laboratory Department organizational structure and
determined not to fill the Laboratory Director position, but, instead, to slightly reorganize the Department
creating the new position of Plant Chemist who oversees two (2) Lab Technicians and reports to the
Assistant Plant Supervisor. This reorganized structure remains in place in FY2020 and, the laboratory has
continued to operate successfully.

In FY2020, the Supervising Engineer, Prakash Chakravarti, retired. The SWPCA opened a requisition
and hired Ann Brown, P.E. to fill this position.

In FY2020, the SWPCA created a new position of Environmental Technician to assist the Regulatory
Compliance Coordinator with the Fats, Oil and Grease (FOG) abatement program.
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The organizational structure of the SWPCA is generally consistent with similar-sized wastewater utilities
and, it appears that all required functions of the SWPCA are adequately staffed. Currently, there are three
open positions at the SWPCA, the Assistant Plant Supervisor, Shift Foreman, and Mechanic. There are
no observed shortcomings in the operation and maintenance of the system due to the open staffing
positions.

2.3 Board of Directors

At the time of this Report, the SWPCA Board of Directors currently consists of the following members
listed in Table 2-1.

Table 2-1. SWPCA Board of Directors

Edward Kelly Chairman

Merrit Nesin Vice Chairman (Engineer)

Mark McGrath Member, City of Stamford Director of Operations
Monica DiCostanzo Member, City of Stamford Board of Representatives
David Mannis Member, City of Stamford Board of Finance

Sandra Dennies Member, City of Stamford Director of Administration
Robert Barocas Member

Adam Perlaky Member (Financial Manager)

Steven Bagwin Member

2.4 Management and Operational Staff

Biographies of key management and operational staff are provided below. In general, there is stability in
the organization with key members having longevity and significant experience with the SWPCA.

e William P. Brink, P.E., BCEE, Executive Director — Mr. Brink has more than thirty years progressive
experience in engineering and management of large environmental projects, and having a unique
combination of skills in business management (MBA in finance from University of Connecticut)
leadership, wastewater utility operations, finance and engineering. He holds a P.E. in Connecticut
and received his B.S. in Civil Engineering and M.E. in Sanitary Engineering from Drexel University,
PA and Cornell University, NY, respectively. Prior to the SWPCA, Mr. Brink worked for Stearns and
Wheeler (now GHD Inc.) leading multi-disciplinary project teams on large wastewater collection and
treatment project including, but not limited to, projects for the Hartford Metropolitan District
Commission, Danbury Water Pollution Control Plant, and Bridgeport Water Pollution Control Authority
since 1992.

¢ Robert Pudelka, Plant Supervisor — Mr. Pudelka supervises the operation and maintenance of the
Stamford Water Pollution Control Facility and is responsible for compliance of the facility with its
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National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) discharge permit. He has thirteen years’
experience in the wastewater industry, joining SWPCA in December 2016 as Assistant Plant
Supervisor. He became Acting Plant Supervisor in July 2018 upon the retirement of the previous
Plant Supervisor, and became Plant Supervisor in February 2020. Prior to joining SWPCA, Mr.
Pudelka was Superintendent of the New Milford, Connecticut Wastewater Treatment Facility, and was
a Plant Operator at the Town of Greenwich Water Pollution Control Facility. He has a Class IV
(highest level) Wastewater Treatment Plant Operator’s license in Connecticut.

e Ann Brown, P.E., Supervising Engineer — Ms. Brown assists the Executive Director in the planning
and managing of engineering and capital projects including design, preparation and review of contract
plans and specifications, plant and pumping station construction management, and sanitary sewer
repair and construction management. She also oversees staff and consultants assigned to the
construction projects. Ms. Brown is a Professional Engineer in the states of Connecticut and New
Jersey with over 30 years of experience in the environmental and civil engineering field. She earned
a Bachelor of Engineering degree from Stevens Institute of Technology in Hoboken, NJ where she
majored in Mechanical Engineering. Since 2006, Ms. Brown has worked for the City of Stamford
Engineering Department on the Stamford Urban Transitway project as well as the Coordinator of
Inspections and Plan reviews. She is experienced in civil and environmental design, project
management and engineering during construction, and well established in federal and state
procurement and project reporting requirements. Prior to her work with the City, Ann worked for
consulting engineering firms in New Jersey on various wastewater and municipal engineering
projects.

¢ Rhudean Bull, Administration Manager — Ms. Bull is responsible for planning, developing, analyzing,
evaluating, and improving various management control systems, policies, work methods and
procedures for the efficient operation of the SWPCA. She assists the Executive Director in identifying
its financial, personnel, and material needs and problems. She manages various administrative
activities and human resources functions as well as the Billing function for the SWPCA. Ms. Bull
received a B.S. Degree from South Carolina State University and a master’s degree in Public
Administration with a concentration in Human Resources Management from City University of New
York — John Jay College. She has been certified as a Professional in Human Resources by the
Society of Human Resources Management since 2001 and has over twenty years’ experience in
management and human resources management fields.

e Mark Turndahl, Accountant — Mr. Turndahl joined SWPCA in 2012 and is responsible for the financial
management of the WPCA - monitoring and recording cash receipts, preparing monthly financial
statements including budget variance reports and analysis, reconciling bank accounts, approving
invoices for payment and preparing monthly receivable reports. In addition, he ensures monthly debt
service payments are made, prepares requests for grant and construction loan funding and works
with the Auditors preparing the annual financial statement. Mr. Turndahl earned a B.S. degree from
the University of Buffalo in Business Administration, a MBA degree from Pace University
concentrating in accounting and passed the CPA exam. He has over thirty years of experience
having held audit, financial analysis and controller/treasurer positions in local town and school
governments, as well as major metropolitan New York firms.
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e Stephen Pietrzyk, Collection System Supervisor — Mr. Pietrzyk has been with the SWPCA for ten
years, and serves as the Collection System Supervisor responsible for the SWPCA'’s Capacity,
Management, Operation and Maintenance (CMOM) program via planning, coordinating, and
supervising mechanics to operate and maintain the collection system and pumping stations and the
hurricane barrier storm water pumping stations, and the Regulatory Compliance Coordinator who
inspects food preparation establishments for compliance with the Fats, Oil and Grease (FOG)
abatement program. Prior to this he owned and operated two environmental consulting businesses
for over twenty years participating in numerous residential, commercial and industrial development
projects. Mr. Pietrzyk received his MS and BS Degrees from the University of Connecticut and AS
Degree in Landscape Development from State University of New York Cobleskill.

2.5 Interactions with the City

The SWPCA is a water pollution control authority established by the City pursuant to Chapter 103,
Sections 7-245 through 7-273a of the Connecticut General Statutes. The City provides key administrative
and support services to the SWPCA, and the SWPCA is responsible for operating and maintaining the
WPCF, sanitary sewage system, wastewater pumping stations, and the City’s hurricane barrier. The
SWPCA operations are financed primarily through direct charges to the users of its services. The costs of
operating and maintaining the City’s hurricane barrier are back-charged to the City. Historically, the City
has commissioned the firm of Maximus to conduct an annual study that identifies the SWPCA'’s allocation
share of City support services costs.

Additionally, the City can advance funds to the SWPCA to meet operating cash flow requirements and
capital expenditures prior to capital improvement bond increases. The City of Stamford specifically
provides the following:

e Procurement, accounts payable, and payroll services;
o Budget and capital improvement bond issuance related support;

e Technology Management Services (IT) support for e-mail, voicemail, network services, PC support
services, MS Office applications, accounting software including general ledger and fixed asset
modules, and SWPCA-specific software applications;

e Human Resources support for hiring, terminations, and retirements;
¢ Risk Management support for employee safety and workers’ compensation claims;

e Legal support, as needed, for agreements by the SWPCA and claims for and against the SWPCA,;
and

e Revenue Services Department support for billing and collection of sewer assessment and sewer
connection charges

As noted, the City can provide financial support to the SWPCA from the City pool cash account. The
SWPCA can access this account to fund unexpected or not yet funded, but approved capital
improvements (capital account) and during periods when its cash on hand balances are not sufficient to
meet its operating needs (operating account). The SWPCA reimburses the City from its cash reserves as
required, with any unpaid balance subject to interest charges at the City’s current quarterly interest
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earnings rate for its Short-Term Investment Fund (STIF) account. As discussed in Section 8, currently the
SWPCA does not require financial support from the City.

In conjunction with the SWPCA'’s sewer extension projects, the City can request that the SWPCA make
other infrastructure improvements as well, including those related to stormwater and drainage, road
widening and alignment, and other curb and sidewalk improvements. The costs of these improvements
are paid for by the City or reimbursed to the SWPCA by the City.

Based on the audited financial statements, in FY2018 and FY2019, the City paid approximately $263,000
and $261,000, respectively in sewer use charges to the SWPCA. The City also reimbursed the SWPCA
approximately $435,000 and $818,000 for the City’s share of the hurricane barrier maintenance and
operations for the years ended June 2018 and 2019, respectively.

In FY2018 and FY2019, the SWPCA paid the City approximately $455,000 and $421,000 for an allocation
of central services costs, respectively, and approximately $932,000 and $810,000 to the City’s internal
service medical insurance fund for health insurance coverage of active and retired employees,
respectively.

2.6 Overview of Service Contracts and Agreements

The City and the SWPCA have numerous contracts in place for the management and operation of the
system. There are several key or major agreements to support delivery of services and to secure
revenues, which are pertinent to the financial review summarized in this Report. A summary of these is
provided below:

e Sludge Processing Agreement with Synagro — The SWPCA performs sludge thickening and
dewatering, and contracts with Synagro for sludge drying, transportation and disposal services.
Synagro is responsible for processing the sludge received from the WPCF to produce a marketable
product. This includes testing of the product, marketing the product, and disposing of the processing
residuals. Ultimate disposal of the sludge by Synagro is through land application, incineration at one
of Connecticut’s permitted facilities (e.g., Naugatuck, Waterbury, or Hartford), or landfill (e.g., York,
PA). Sludge processing costs accounted for approximately 20 percent of the SWPCA'’s annual
operating costs for FY2019 and are currently budgeted at 17.3 percent of operating costs for FY2020.
The agreement with Synagro expired on March 2, 2019, and the SWPCA negotiated an amendment
(Second Amendment) to the contract with Synagro, which was effective March 3, 2019 and extended
the contract an additional five years. Through First and Second Amendment modifications, the current
agreement includes the following major items: dryer operation 24-hours, five days a week, SWPCA'’s
maximum sludge delivery is 6,240 dry tons per year, cost of disposal of sludge cake is a varied price
per disposal facility of $84 to 118 per wet ton, and the base operating charge from $1,776,241.62.

As part of the agreement, Synagro is responsible for making a capital contribution in an amount up to
$300,000 toward the cost of one or more capital modifications at the sludge drying facility and/or the
wastewater treatment plant over the five-year contract term. Due to an explosion of the sludge dryer
in August 2019, Synagro was unable to process sludge until repairs were completed in October 2020.
During that time, sludge cake was hauled offsite and disposed at sludge incinerators, landfills, or
composting facilities. Refer to Section 4.2.3.2 for more information on the sludge management.
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¢ Billing and Collection Agreement with Computil — The SWPCA contracts with Computil to provide
billing and collection service assistance as well as consumption data analysis, customer service and
reporting. A new contract was executed on June 4, 2020 for a term of three years with an option to
extend for two successive periods of one year each. According to the terms of the contract, the
SWPCA is to pay Computil a lump sum fee of $443,850 for each contract year for the duration of this
agreement (including any extensions).

o Darien Interlocal Agreement — The City provides wholesale treatment and discharge services to the
Town of Darien via an Interlocal Agreement. The agreement includes both capital reimbursement and
operation and maintenance cost share components. The capital reimbursement and operation and
maintenance cost share is based primarily on measured wastewater flow contribution (by volume).
Under the current agreement, the Town of Darien is limited to an average annual daily flow of not
more than 3.7 million gallons per day (MGD) and a combined peak flow of not more than 9.25 MGD.
However, if flows from Darien exceed the allowable maximum, the SWPCA shall be held harmless
from liability, cost, or expense resulting from any incurred penalties, cleanup, and repair costs. If a
regulatory agency takes action against the SWPCA in connection with flow discharges above the
limits, payment of costs, fines, penalties, or damages will be apportioned between the SWPCA and
Darien. Additionally, the Town of Darien will share nitrogen trading credits generated through the
operation of SWPCA'’s water pollution control facility (WPCF), based on the greater of 12 percent or
the percentage by volume represented by Darien’s flow. The Agreement provides a formula for
compensation to the SWPCA for operation and maintenance costs and for capital improvements of
SWPCA’s WPCF and collection sewers which convey Darien’s wastewater. Darien contracted
revenue (including both capital and operation and maintenance components) for FY2019, accounts
for approximately 5.8 percent of SWPCA'’s total operating revenue. The prior Darien Interlocal
Agreement expired on June 30, 2018 and a new agreement was executed on July 26, 2019,
retroactive to October 1, 2018. The new Interlocal Agreement includes flow metering at two
additional interlocal connections (Heather Lane and Lake Drive) from Darien. The two interlocal
connections were not metered previously due to reportedly low and/or intermittent flow; however, it
was identified during the flow metering program for the Infiltration and Inflow Study that the flows from
those interlocal connections are higher than expected. The FY2019 flow charges to Darien were
retroactive to October 1, 2018. Based upon the total flow increase, annual revenue from Darien
increased 10% in FY2019 and increased 6% in FY2020.

e Agquarion Agreement — The City accepts water treatment plant sludge from the Aquarion Water
Company’s (Aquarion) Stamford Water Treatment Plant (SWTP) pursuant to the terms and conditions
of Aquarion’s agreement with the SWPCA. Aquarion's residual sludge revenue is approximately
$300,000 annually to the SWPCA. Historically, this has represented approximately 1 percent of the
SWPCA'’s total income. Aquarion is addressing previous issues related to solids buildup in the
SWPCA's gravity sewer lines and increased aluminum content in the SWTP sludge from Aquarion’s
SWTP operations and pilot programs, through the installation of centrifuges at the SWTP. The
SWPCA has notified Aquarion that a condition to Aquarion’s General Permit is that the centrifuges
are installed and the discharge of SWTP sludge to the SWPCA sanitary sewer be discontinued as
soon as possible. The centrifuges are anticipated to be installed by April 2022. In the meantime, the
SWPCA monitors the gravity sewer lines and has implemented preventative maintenance cleaning to
mitigate surcharging events, which is billed to Aquarion. In addition, any additional disposal costs to
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the SWPCA related to aluminum content in the sludge will be charged to Aquarion, but has not
occurred at the time of this Report.

e City Pooled Cash Arrangement — Under a long-standing agreement with the City, the SWPCA shares
in a pooled cash account controlled by, and in the name of, the City. The SWPCA draws from this
account to fund unexpected or not yet funded capital improvements and to cover operating costs
during the periods when the SWPCA'’s on hand cash balances are not sufficient to meet its operating
needs. The SWPCA'’s share of this pooled cash account had historically been in a deficit. The total
deficiency in FY2013 was approximately $8.0 million. Pursuant to the MOA dated May 13, 2014
between the City and the SWPCA, the SWPCA agreed to repay the City over a five-year period with
interest at the Connecticut State Treasurer’s Investment Fund rate. However, the SWPCA
accelerated their repayment schedule to the City and effectively paid the City back in FY2016, which
was less than three years versus the five-year period established in the MOA. In addition to paying
back the City, the SWPCA, at the end of FY2019, had approximately $22.3 million in the operating,
capital reserve, and surplus fund accounts. In FY2019 and FY2020, the SWPCA maintained a
positive pooled cash balance and did not require any cash advances from the City to cover short-term
cash needs.
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3 SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

3.1 Service Area

The City of Stamford is divided into four geographic taxing districts, based upon municipal services
furnished to the jurisdiction. As the City extends sanitary sewer lines into previously unsewered areas,
municipal garbage collection is also extended, and the tax district classification is changed accordingly.

The service area of the SWPCA includes the two City taxing districts that are served by sanitary sewer
lines, namely taxing districts A (1) and C/S (4). Within the City, the service area is generally bounded by
the Merritt Parkway to the north, the Noroton River (constituting the border line with Darien) to the east,
Old Greenwich to the west, and the Long Island Sound to the south. The service area includes
residential, commercial, government and non-profit customers. The service area boundaries are shown in
Figure 3-1.

The SWPCA also provides transmission and treatment services to sewered areas within the Town of
Darien, as noted previously. Pump stations owned and operated by the Town of Darien convey
wastewater to the east side of the City where the wastewater is then conveyed through the SWPCA'’s
collection system to Stamford’s WPCF.

The areas north of the Merritt Parkway are predominantly served by septic systems. The City’s current
Master Plan (2015-2025) focuses on encouraging new housing units and developments to utilize existing
sewer main. Although the current Master Plan makes no mention of extending the sanitary sewer system
into areas currently not served by public sewers, a number of sewer extension projects were completed in
recent years. However, discussions with SWPCA executive staff and a review of the SWPCA capital
improvement plan (CIP) (as discussed in Section 5) indicate that two previously planned sewer extension
projects have been either put on hold or will not be constructed.
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Figure 3-1. SWPCA Service Area

arcadis.com
Stamford Engineers Report_11-18-2020_Final

Merritt P

\-95

arkway

Map Key

Sanitary Gravity Main
Pressurized Main

4 City of Stamford Schools

Hydrology
Parks

= |-95 & Merritt Pkwy

Maijor Arterials
—— All Other Roads

—~——— Railroads

3-2



ENGINEER'S REPORT

3.2 Water Pollution Control Facility

At the core of the SWPCA operations is the Water Pollution Control Facility (WPCF), located at 111
Harbor View Avenue. There has been wastewater treatment at this site since 1900. The first plant was
built in 1943, followed by an upgrade in 1976, and the latest completed major upgrade in 2006. The
WPCEF is currently undergoing a substantial upgrade as described further herein.

The WPCF'’s operation is regulated by the U.S. Water Pollution Control Act (Clean Water Act) under the
direction of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). The EPA has delegated permitting
authority to the Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection (CTDEEP) which
administers the NPDES permit program. The previous NPDES permit for the Stamford WPCF (NPDES
No. CT0101087) was issued by the CTDEEP on June 25, 2013 and expired on June 24, 2018. The
current NPDES permit was finalized and effective on January 1, 2019. Between June 25, 2018 and
December 31, 2018, the SWPCA operated under the previous 2013 NPDES permit until the new 2019
NPDES permit was finalized. There were no changes made between the previous 2013 and final 2019
NPDES permit; however, bacteria limit changes became effective on January 1, 2015. The WPCF has a
permitted capacity of 24 million gallons per day (MGD) annual average flow and provides the following
unit processes: screenings, raw wastewater pumping, primary clarification, primary sludge degritting,
biological treatment, secondary clarification, gravity thickening and belt filter pressing. The thickened
solids are conveyed to the solids drying facility, where they are converted to Class A biosolids. The plant
uses ultraviolet disinfection and Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) systems. The plant
discharges treated effluent to Stamford Harbor, which is an inlet from Long Island Sound (Sound). As a
discharger into Long Island Sound, the plant is subject to nutrient limitations imposed by the Sound’s
Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL), which is discussed in further detail later in this Report.

All sanitary sewage collected by the City and Darien sewer systems passes through the influent collecting
well. Stamford has two separate collection systems: one for wastewater and one for stormwater. From the
collecting well, wastewater flow enters the Raw Sewage Pumping Station for preliminary treatment, which
consists of three bar screens with 3/4-inch clear bar spacing that are designed to remove large solids.
After the bar screens, flow is pumped by five main sewage pumps to two, circular primary clarifiers to
remove settleable and floatable solids by gravity settling and flotation. Primary sludge is degritted and
sent directly to gravity thickeners. Primary effluent is directed to the suspended growth activated sludge
system which consists of three rectangular aeration tanks, or trains, in which microorganisms biologically
transform dissolved, colloidal, and non-settleable biodegradable organic materials into energy and
settleable solids.

There are two reactor trains, Train 1 and Train 2. Each train has a primary anoxic zone followed by an
aerobic zone. Primary effluent, return activated sludge (RAS), and recycled mixed liquor enter the first
anoxic zone, in which nitrogen removal begins. The mixture, called mixed liquor, then flows to the aerobic
zones. At the discharge end of each of the primary aerobic zones, there are four recycle pumps which
return nitrate-rich mixed liquor to the primary anoxic zone for additional denitrification. Some of the
activated sludge is wasted as mixed liquor from the end of the first aerobic zone and proceeds to the
gravity belt thickeners. The remaining mixed liquor proceeds on to Train 3, where methanol is then added
into the secondary anoxic zone to enhance nitrogen removal. Denitrified mixed liquor continues to the
final re-aeration zone and exits the biological reactors.
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Aeration tank effluent is directed to four, circular secondary clarifiers that provide final clarification of the
wastewater. Settled solids are returned to the aeration tanks with a portion of the excess solids wasted.
Finally, disinfection is accomplished via ultraviolet (UV) light, that provides inactivation of pathogens.
Currently, there are two UV channels, each with two banks of lamps. Each bank has 16 modules, and
each module has 18 lamps, for a total of 432 UV lamps. A UV system upgrade is underway, which
increases the UV channels to a total of three channels with three banks of lamps. During high tide
conditions, the effluent is pumped via three effluent pumps before discharge to the East Branch of
Stamford Harbor (Harbor). During low tide conditions, the flow is discharged directly by gravity to the
Harbor.

Waste mixed liquor from the aeration tanks is thickened via gravity belt thickeners (GBT) that reduce the
volume of the sludge. In addition, waste activated sludge from the secondary clarifiers can be directed to
the gravity thickeners, where it is combined with primary sludge. Thickened primary sludge from the
gravity thickeners and GBTs is combined in two sludge blend tanks prior to delivery to belt filter presses
(BFP) for dewatering. The dewatered sludge is then conveyed to the on-site pelletizing facility where it is
heat dried to achieve Class A EQ biosolids status and is made into small sludge pellets for beneficial
reuse via land application, as a fertilizer, or incineration. The sludge pelletizing operation is managed by
Synagro, under contract to the SWPCA. The pelletizer was originally constructed in hopes of also
developing an on-site waste-to-energy facility which would use the pellets as a fuel source. The waste-to-
energy project, however, was never implemented due to concerns regarding economic viability.

At the end of 2019, the average daily flow at the WPCF was approximately 17.1 MGD, or 71 percent, of
design capacity. Hydraulically, the plant has been designed to handle up to 68 MGD under peak
conditions.

3.3 Sewage Pump Stations

The City owns, operates and maintains 23 sewage pump stations, which are utilized to transport sanitary
wastewater flow where gravity is not a viable transport option. The pump stations range in design
capacity from approximately 100,000 gallons per day to 5 MGD. SWPCA mechanics and utility workers
operate and maintain the pump station structures and equipment and perform landscaping activities. A
full listing of the pump stations and discussion of condition is included in Section 4 of this Report.

3.4 Sewage Collection System

The City’s wastewater collection system comprises approximately 242 miles of sanitary sewers (ranging
in size from 6 to 60 inches in diameter) and 8 miles of sanitary force mains. The SWPCA is responsible
for the management and operation of this collection system, which is a completely separate sanitary
sewer system. The City’s storm sewers are not the responsibility of the SWPCA and are not part of the
sewage collection system.
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4 CONDITION OF SYSTEM

4.1 Condition Assessment Approach

Arcadis previously conducted condition assessments of the SWPCA system in 2012, 2015, and 2018 as
part of the 2013, 2015, and 2019 Series A Bond issuances. The condition assessments included site
visits to the WPCF and 22 of the SWPCA'’s pump stations. In July and September 2020, a condition
review was performed based on the compilation of existing information provided by the SWPCA,
discussions with SWPCA staff, and visual observations during limited field visits of the facilities. The key
purpose of this condition review was to confirm current and anticipated conditions and assess any
significant changes which may have occurred since the 2012, 2015, and 2018 inspections. In performing
this assessment, the following key documents and information were reviewed:

¢ Regulatory compliance records

e Operations records and staff accounts
e Renewal and replacement programs
e Capital improvement plans

e 2012, 2015, and 2018 condition assessment findings

Based on the type of facilities, available documents related to the facilities and our experience with these
facilities, a representative sample of facilities was visually inspected in 2020 on a limited basis. Such field
investigations included the following facilities:

e Stamford WPCF visited on July 28, 2020

e 10 sewage pump stations visited on September 1, 2020

During the site visits to the Stamford WPCF and pump stations, issues faced by the SWPCA during and
since the previous inspections were discussed, including the steps taken to address these issues. The
condition of the pump stations and WPCF equipment was also discussed. Key findings are discussed in
the subsequent sections.

For buried infrastructure (i.e., sewer interceptors, laterals, force mains, manholes, etc.), the condition
assessment relies on existing information provided by the SWPCA. This includes collection system
reports and preliminary Geographic Information System (GIS) information, such as age and materials of
sewer pipes to the extent the information is available. No field investigations were conducted by Arcadis
of the buried infrastructure.

The condition assessment of the critical assets at each of the above-ground assets was based on
numerical ratings within the following categories:

¢ Reliability

e Operations and maintenance (O&M) performance
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e Capacity

e Regulatory Compliance

Based on the evaluations using the above categories, an overall risk rating was assigned to each of the
critical assets. The risk ratings for each of the above four categories are outlined in Table 4-1.

Table 4-1. Summary of Rating System

Numerical Interpretation of Description
Rating Rating P

1 Little to no risk Relatively new and in good physical and operating condition

2 Some risk Good condition, no known capital requirements

3 Moderate risk Agec? or worn put generally |.n good operating condition may
require capital investment within 5-years

4 S iR ral Qperatlonal but .nearlng end of Ilfe and/or. |.’eqU|res
investment to bring to full operating condition

5 High risk Should be on high priority for renewal and/or replacement

When considering the rating assigned to a critical asset, the criticality of that asset was also considered.
For assets that are critical to the overall operation and regulatory compliance of the facility, the allowable
risk is small. Thus, highly critical assets tend to be given more stringent ratings.

4.2 Condition of Water Pollution Control Facility

4.2.1 Flows

The SWPCA'’s customer base has generally increased over the past few years with a minor decline in
FY2017. Overall, the WPCF flows have generally been trending downwards, until 2018, as summarized in
Table 4-2. This decreasing trend in plant flows is most likely attributable to water conservation measures
and increased public awareness of water usage, which eventually leads to less wastewater generation; in
addition to the SWPCA'’s efforts to mitigate infiltration and inflow (I/l) from entering the system.

In 2018, there was an increase in average flow to 17.5 MGD, and, in 2019 the average flow, while
decreased to 17.1 MGD, was still higher than the average flow in 2012 through 2017. It should be noted
that the average flow in 2018 and 2019 is still below the WPCF'’s rated capacity of 24 MGD. The
increased and higher than historical average flow in 2018 and 2019, respectively, may be related to the
significantly higher rainfall in 2018 and 2019 (58% and 37% increase when compared to 2017). Although
the average flow increased or was historically higher in 2018 and 2019, the ratio of average annual plant
flow compared to total annual rainfall was less than all prior years listed in Table 4-2; therefore, indicating
that the I/l removal program has been effective in reducing the amount of extraneous flow from entering
the collection system.
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Table 4-2. Stamford WPCF Average Annual Flow

Average Flow (MGD)

2006 18.3
2007 17.5
2008 17.2
2009 16.4
2010 16.4
2011 18.5
2012 15.6
2013 15.1
2014 16.0
2015 15.4
2016 14.9
2017 15.1
2018 17.5
2019 171
2020 1 15.4
Notes:

1) Represents the average flow for the period of January 1, 2020 through August 31, 2020.

As can be seen from this table, the plant has been well under its rated capacity of 24 MGD, and there is
ample capacity for growth in the service area.

4.2.2 Treatment Performance

For the purposes of this Report, Arcadis reviewed Discharge Monitoring Reports (DMRs) and Monthly
Operating Reports (MORs) for the Stamford WPCF from April 2019 to August 2020. The plant
performance data was compared against the limits established in the two primary regulatory permits
governing the discharge of wastewater from the Stamford WPCF: NPDES permit (NPDES No.
CT0101087) and the General Permit for Discharge of Nitrogen from Publicly-Owned Treatment Works
(POTWs). These permits are discussed in more detail in Section 6.

For comparison purposes, plant operational performance from 2014 through August 2020 is summarized
in Table 4-3. While the 2013 NPDES permits eliminated the limit on the average monthly flow rate, this
data was included in Table 4-3 for comparison purposes.
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Table 4-3. Stamford WPCF Performance

Annual Average Value

2020 (12

Parameter Limit Type

Average Daily

Flow (MGD) Monthly Average - 16.0 15.4 14.9 15.1 17.5 17.1 15.4
FODs=mied. - 222 197 207 217 199 225 247
(mg/L)

BODs —Effluent  Monthly Average /5 45 59 25 25 2.2 26 2.5 26
(mg/L) Daily Maximum

BODs

(% Removal) Monthly Average 85 98 99 99 99 99 99 99
TSS —Influent ] - 311 293 322 309 310 370 331
(mg/L)

TSS — Effluent quthly Ayerage/ 20/40 7.8 5.1 5.6 47 6.0 6.2 54
(mg/L) Daily Maximum

TSS Monthly Average 85 97 98 98 98 98 98 98

(% Removal)
Ammonia (as N) —
Effluent (mg/L) Monthly Average  -- 0.35 0.2 0.04 0.17 0.07 0.02 0.12
November - May

Ammonia (as N) —

Effluent (mg/L) Monthly Average 2 0.06 0.01 0.06 0.06 0.05 0.05 0.11
June - October

. 30-day
Fecal Coliform . 200 (88)
(CFU/100 mL) Geometric Mean / /260 © 515 3.2 3.7 4.9 3.9 2.8 16
Instantaneous
Fecal Coliform 7-day ) ] ) ] ] ] ]
(CFU/100 mL) Geometric Mean  *°° 12.7
Enterococci 30-day ) o
(CFU/100 mL) Cemmaiin Yeen o0 58 59 4.2 4.0 4.4 3.6 2.7
UV Dose ("
®)

(MW, s/cmA2) Instantaneous >30 59 46 61 63 57 99 113
Nitrogen = Efiluent yyonthiy Average 926 408 278 265 261 293 302 275
(Ibs/day)
Number of Annual
EXCEedances. -- 3/56@4 0/536) 0/221 0/24® 0/18©® 0/16 (10 0/601
(effluent quality /
UV dose)

Notes:

1) UV Dose is not reported on DMRs. Data is obtained from MORs and includes data from UV Channel Nos. 1 and 2 Low Dose.
Average values rounded to nearest whole number.

2) Data only available for September through December 2014.

3) Data only available for July through December 2014.

4) Three exceedances related to effluent quality (1 total coliform, 1 TSS, 1 BOD); however, 56 occurrences noted for low UV
dosage in MORs.

5) New bacterial limits effective January 1, 2015: Fecal coliform monthly standard decreased from 200 CFU/100 mL to 88
CFU/100 mL, weekly fecal coliform standard no longer applicable, implemented instantaneous percentage based fecal coliform
standard (no more than 10% of monthly samples shall exceed 260 CFU/100 mL), and implemented Enterococci standards.

6) Zero exceedances related to effluent quality, but 53 occurrences noted for low UV dosage in MORs.

7) Zero exceedances related to effluent quality, but 22 occurrences noted for low UV dosage in MORs.
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8) Zero exceedances related to effluent quality, but 24 occurrences noted for low UV dosage in MORs.

9) Zero exceedances related to effluent quality, but 18 occurrences noted for low UV dosage in MORs.

10) Zero exceedances related to effluent quality, but 16 occurrences noted for low UV dosage in MORs.

11) Zero exceedances related to effluent quality, but 6 occurrences noted for low UV dosage (January through September 2020) in
MORs.

12) Data only available from January 2020 through August 2020 (unless otherwise noted). Data subject to change based on
receipt of additional data.

In general, the plant is performing very well in comparison to permit limits established in its NPDES and
General Permit. Both biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) and total suspended solids (TSS) removals are,
on average, exceeding permit requirements. In addition, the plant is almost completely removing
ammonia under most circumstances via its biological nutrient removal (BNR) process. In order to perform
the secondary treatment upgrade, one aeration tank at a time has been removed from service during
construction. The SWPCA has been closely monitoring the system and any potential process impacts,
and, through August 2020, there have been no reported operational or compliance issues.

The following summarizes plant performance observations from April 2019 to August 2020:

e Average Daily Flow — The SWPCA'’s current NPDES permit does not include limits on flow; however,
the previous NPDES permit that expired 2013 had a limit of 24 MGD on a monthly average basis. The
average daily flow consistently falls well within the previous NPDES permit flow limit and the 24 MGD
design flow of the WPCF.

e Peak Flow — During wet weather, flows to the plant increase significantly. Although the SWPCA’s
collection system is a separated system, the high flow events during wet weather appear to be an
indication of inflow/infiltration, which is also not unusual amongst collection systems in aging, coastal
cities, such as Stamford. The SWPCA recently completed a comprehensive I/l study and started
implementing a phased approach and annual program for addressing I/l, which is discussed in more
detail in Section 4.4. Hydraulically, the plant has been designed to handle up to 68 MGD under peak
conditions. In prior years, peak flow levels greater than 68 MGD were registered at the plant.
However, from April 2019 through August 2020 the maximum average daily flow did not exceed 52
MGD, which may be due to the storm event conditions (e.g. duration, intensity, antecedent storm
events) during the evaluated timeframe, in addition to the SWPCA'’s efforts to remove extraneous flow
from the collection system.

e BOD - Effluent BOD concentration is well within the NPDES limits, and there were no exceedances
recorded from April 2019 through August 2020. Furthermore, average removal of BOD has remained
relatively steady at 98 to 99 percent.

e TSS - Effluent TSS concentration is well within the NPDES limits, and there were no exceedances
recorded from April 2019 through August 2020. In addition, the TSS removal percentages have
remained steady at 98 percent, and the effluent TSS concentrations have decreased overall since
2014 due to improved plant operations and a reduction in high flow events.

e Ammonia — Although the effluent ammonia concentration has fluctuated between 2014 and 2020, it is
still consistently well below the NPDES limits. There are no reported exceedances for this data set.

e Fecal Coliform — Fecal coliform was generally well within the NPDES limits with no fecal coliform
exceedances recorded in this dataset. The new bacteria monitoring requirements were effective on
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January 1, 2015 (refer to Section 6 for more information). The 30-day geometric mean has remained
relatively steady since 2014.

e Enterococci — Enterococci was generally well within the NPDES limits with no exceedances occurring
since the new bacteria monitoring requirements were effective on January 1, 2015 (refer to Section 6
for more information). The annual 30-day geometric mean has remained relatively steady since
2014.

e UV Dose — Plant performance data indicates that the UV dose occasionally drops below the minimum
30 mW, s/cm2 NPDES permit limit. Plant staff are aware of the UV dose issue and have
continuously discussed it with the UV system vendor and the CTDEEP. As discussed further in
Section 4.2.3.1, since 2014, the SWPCA has made UV system controls changes, plant
improvements, and preventative maintenance changes to address the UV low dose occurrences. It is
important to note that not all the low dose incidences were related to a UV system issue. With the
current system control configuration, any time the UV channel is taken offline for maintenance, a zero
dose is recorded. In addition, any time there is power disruption, the current UV system takes
approximately 3-minutes to reset, during which the UV system is not active and/or at full power.
Although there is some loss of disinfection to the final effluent during this time, it is not related to an
operational error or plant performance issue. In addition, as discussed further in Section 4.2.3.1 and
5.2.1, there are capital projects recently completed and underway to address UV system issues,
including a comprehensive UV system upgrade (nearing completion) and installation of effluent
launder covers in the secondary clarifiers to mitigate algae growth (completed). While the data
indicates that improvements have been successful in reducing noncompliance events, there were 16
low dose instances in 2019, which were primarily caused by mechanical issues with the outlet gates,
overload alarms due to electrical faults, and intensity sensor malfunctions. The SWPCA has
performed required repairs to address the mechanical and electrical issues. Since repairs were
performed in September 2019, the SWPCA has reported only one low dose reading in December
2019 and six in August and September 2020 (start-up testing related). The UV system start-up
testing was extended an additional 30-days to ensure the new UV channels are functioning with no
performance issues. The low dose event in December was related to the RAS pumps, which the
SWPCA addressed and performed necessary repairs. Replacement of the RAS pumps is included in
the SWPCA'’s CIP (FY2022).

e Nitrogen — The WPCF has generally decreased the total nitrogen discharged each year. Based on
the nitrogen limits dictated by the General Permit for Discharge of Nitrogen, municipalities will either
pay or receive money from the Nitrogen Credit Exchange that is managed by the CTDEEP.
Although the number of Stamford WPCF nitrogen trading credits has increased, the cost per credit
established by CTDEEP had generally decreased until 2018. In 2019, the significant rainfall events
and high flows, had an impact on the overall nitrogen removal efficiency at Connecticut POTWs;
therefore, resulting in a higher nitrogen credit for buyers. Although the WPCF discharged a slightly
higher annual average of 302 pounds/day of total nitrogen than in 2018, it was still well below the
nitrogen limits dictated by the General Permit making the SWPCA the largest seller of nitrogen credits
in 2019 with proposed revenues from credit sales exceeding $1.5 million. It is important to note that,
while other POTWs in Connecticut likely require major capital investments to remove nitrogen, or are
faced with large expenditures to purchase nitrogen credits, the recent WPCF upgrades have placed
Stamford in a good position whereby no major upgrades are likely to be necessary to meet the
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General Permit requirements. The SWPCA continues to monitor the potential impacts of nitrogen
removal related to the secondary treatment upgrade currently underway, which requires one aeration
tank to be offline at a time during construction.

e Bypasses — Besides permit related exceedances, bypass events (e.g., loss of UV disinfections, raw
sewage spills) occurring at the WPCF were also reviewed. Bypass events related to loss of UV
disinfection bypasses were discussed in the ‘UV Dose’ bullet earlier in this section. From April 2019
through August 2020, there were no reported bypass events related to sewage spills at the WPCF.

4.2.3 Condition Assessment

The last major plant upgrade was completed in 2006 by the SWPCA. This upgrade included new
aeration tanks with provisions for BNR, a fourth secondary clarifier, a new UV disinfection facility, solids
handling facilities, a new standby generator, and other miscellaneous improvements. Facilities
constructed under this upgrade are generally in good condition based on the visual observations made.
However, as discussed further in this Report, there have been on-going issues with a few of the plant
processes that are planned to be addressed under the SWPCA'’s current CIP (FY2021 through FY2026).
In addition, many of the facilities not upgraded during the 2006 plant upgrade are approaching their
estimated useful life and/or have some operational issues. The WPCF is currently undergoing a
substantial upgrade of the preliminary and secondary treatment and degritting and UV systems, as
described further herein. For more details on the SWPCA'’s CIP, refer to Section 5.

4.2.3.1 Wet Stream

In general, the preliminary treatment equipment, which includes the bar screens and raw sewage pumps,
is approaching the end of its estimated useful life and has had some operating issues. There is no grit
removal from the headworks, which causes grit to travel to downstream processes, causing pre-mature
wear on piping and equipment. The three bar screens are approximately 25 years old and have moderate
signs of corrosion, but are functional and have sufficient capacity. However, since the bar screens only
provide coarse screening, plant staff have reported that rags and other large debris pass through the bar
screens, which create issues in downstream processes. The SPWCA'’s plan to address these issues are
discussed below.

In addition, the plant receives approximately 250,000 gallons of septage per month from septage haulers
which results in approximately 12 to 15 deliveries to the WPCF per day. There is no screening or grit
removal of the septage, which flows directly into the influent channel upstream of the bar screens from
the haulers’ discharge location. This lack of screening is a cause of downstream issues, and the
discharge site is a location for potential odor release as well. Modifications were made, approximately
seven years ago, to address odors, including an automatic closing septage discharge connection and a
granular activated carbon-based air treatment system at a manhole near the plant entrance gate, which
significantly reduced odors and continues to operate satisfactorily. The downstream issues are largely
attributed to added maintenance and operational challenges; however, such issues do not appear to have
adversely impacted meeting discharge regulations based on current conditions. The SPWCA'’s plan to
further address these issues are discussed below.
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The raw sewage pumps are over 40 years old. These pumps continue to function, but have increased
repair needs and are worn, such that their capacity has been reduced, according to a Raw Sewage
Condition Assessment, prepared for the SWPCA in 2015. All five raw sewage pumps are used under
peak flow conditions, leaving no redundancy. There are currently two smaller constant speed pumps and
three larger variable speed pumps. One of the smaller constant speed pumps was replaced a few years
ago, and the other four pumps have been rebuilt numerous times. The SPWCA'’s plan to further address
these issues are discussed below.

The issues identified with the preliminary treatment equipment are being addressed as part of a
preliminary treatment upgrade project. The construction project was packaged with the secondary
treatment and UV disinfection upgrade projects (discussed later in this section) and awarded in April 2019
for $26.8 million. Construction is anticipated to commence in October 2020 with a completion date of
June 2021. There is currently approximately $7.3 million budgeted in the 6-year CIP (FY2021) for the
preliminary treatment upgrade, start-up services, and engineering services during construction. Note that
some design services and construction related costs were incurred and encumbered in FY2020, and the
$7.3 million represents the budgeted costs in the CIP. The major items included in the upgrade are:

e Replacement of the bar screens with enclosed 1/4-inch screens to provide finer screening and odor
control

¢ Installation of a new enclosed shaftless screw conveyor and grinder-washer/compactor to allow for
screenings to be disposed of as municipal solid waste rather than as Special Waste

e Replacement of the raw sewage pumps to meet peak flow with required redundancy and maximizing
efficiency at average flow conditions

¢ Installation of manual rake screen at septage receiving station to provide septage and holding tank
waste screening and rock removal

¢ Modifications to existing odor control and installation of new activated carbon odor control system for
RSPS exhaust air treatment

The two primary clarifiers are in fair to good condition, operate well, and provide ample capacity, even if
one is taken out of service. The mechanisms and drive for Primary Clarifier #1 were replaced in 2005
and there is light to moderate corrosion throughout with isolated heavy corrosion on the skimmer arm.
Repairs to Primary Clarifier #2 were completed in 2017, and included replacement of the mechanisms
and drive, which are in good condition. The concrete on both primary clarifiers is reported to be in good
condition for its age. One of the effluent gate actuators was recently replaced, and the SWPCA reported
that all gates are operable and reliable.

The process air equipment and aeration tanks have experienced various issues over the years, which are
being addressed as part of a secondary treatment upgrade project that is currently underway and
anticipated to be completed by June 2021. Information on the upgrade project scope and construction
progress is summarized later in this section. Presented below is the condition of the system not taking
into account the current upgrade modifications underway:

e Blowers — There are five aeration blowers that are approximately 25 years old and reaching the end
of their useful lives. Although the blowers are generally reliable, they are oversized and have limited
turndown. In addition, the existing aeration system has limited dissolved oxygen and airflow
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monitoring and controls relying primarily on the blower inlet valve to control airflow into the system.
Due to limited airflow control and the configuration of the air header piping, the system is unable to
operate with less than two blowers in service. These system limitations can result in over aeration
and inefficient operation. Note that blower replacement is underway as part of the secondary
treatment upgrades.

e Standby Generator — Back-up power to three of the blowers is provided by a 900 kW standby
generator, which is the original generator for the plant and is reaching the end of its estimated useful
life. Note that generator replacement is complete as part of the secondary treatment upgrades.

e Aeration Tanks — There are three aeration tanks that are generally in good condition and function
well. Two of the three aeration tanks are new to the 2006 upgrade. Over the years, the SWPCA has
added additional dissolved oxygen sensors to allow for more comprehensive system monitoring. In
addition, flow meters were recently added to the RAS suction lines to assist with flow and distribution
monitoring to the aeration tanks. Note that aeration tank improvements are underway as part of the
secondary treatment upgrades.

The secondary treatment upgrade project was packaged with the preliminary treatment and UV
disinfection upgrade projects (discussed previously and later in this section) and awarded in April 2019 for
$26.8 million. The major items included in the upgrade are:

¢ Replacement of blowers with more efficient units to provide necessary turndown and modification of
piping to allow for flexibility of blower operation

¢ Modifications to the aeration tanks to optimize the removal of BOD and nitrogen, including
expanding/converting zones, adding mixers, and raising baffle walls

e Modifications to the aeration tank control strategy, including the replacement and/or installation of
new instrumentation, valves and meters

e Replacement of standby generator

At the time of the July 2020 site inspection, construction was underway, and Train No. 1 was removed
from service. The following secondary treatment upgrade work has been completed at the time of this
Report:

e Replaced fine bubble diffusers in Train No. 1 and modified stainless steel air supply piping
e Replaced fine bubble diffusers in post aeration tanks (Train No. 3)

¢ Installed new 2,000 kW standby generator

¢ Demolished two existing aeration blowers

Approximately $3.5 million is budgeted in the 6-year CIP (FY2021) to complete the aeration upgrades,
including start-up services and engineering services during construction.

Due to the large size of the two newer aeration tanks, the SWPCA is monitoring process impacts when
removing these tanks during construction; however, the system has been operating well with no major
process issues.
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Supporting systems for the plant’s biological nutrient removal system are generally in good condition. Two
of the NRCY pumps were recently replaced and the older pumps, while approximately 20 years old, have
not had any major issues and operate well. In addition, the SWPCA has spare NRCY pumps available, if
needed. In addition, the SWPCA installed two banana blade submersible mixers in the aeration tanks, as
part of a pilot program, which the SWPCA will continue to evaluate after the secondary treatment upgrade
is completed.

There are five RAS pumps with one pump per secondary clarifier and one for redundancy. Additionally,
the piping arrangement is such that there is operational flexibility in the pumping. One pump was replaced
approximately five years ago, and one was added during the 2006 upgrade. The remaining three pumps
are approximately 40 years old, but have been rebuilt over the years and the motors were replaced in
2005. One pump recently had the shaft replaced and another pump will be repaired soon. The pumps
have signs of moderate corrosion, as to be expected for their age, and experience increased vibration
during peak flow operation, but are reported to be overall reliable and are closely monitored by the
SWPCA. To account for the fact that the RAS pumps are approaching the end of their useful life, there is
currently $7 million budgeted in the 6-year CIP (FY2021 and FY2022) for design, construction, and
engineering design during construction to replace the RAS pumps in conjunction with the waste activated
sludge (WAS) pumps and plant water pumps (discussed in Section 4.2.3.3).

During the 2018 site inspection, the three WAS pumps were not in operation, as wasting was performed
directly from the aeration tanks. The SWPCA is currently utilizing the WAS pumps and wasting from the
secondary clarifiers. The WAS pumps are approximately 20 years old and have recently experienced
operational issues. Subsequently, one of the VFDs associated with the pumps was replaced and one
pump was completely rebuilt. As discussed above, the replacement of the WAS pumps is currently
included in the 6-year CIP (FY2021 and FY2022).

There are four secondary clarifiers constructed at different stages and have undergone various repair and
replacement work over the years. Secondary Clarifiers #1 and 2 are original to the plant and underwent
repairs in 2012, including replacement of the mechanisms, manifold, and drive and concrete repairs. In
addition, the drive was replaced on Secondary Clarifier #2 in 2019. Both of these secondary clarifiers are
in good condition with isolated corrosion on mechanisms and manifold, which the SWPCA reported may
be due to spray water. Secondary Clarifier #3 was constructed in the late 1980’s and underwent partial
repairs in 2017, including replacement of the ducking skimmer and installation of effluent launder covers
to mitigate algae growth (which impacts the UV treatment process downstream). While the clarifier
operates well from a process perspective, there is minor corrosion on the mechanisms and moderate
corrosion on the center manifold. Secondary Clarifier #4 was added as part of the 2006 upgrade and
underwent replacement of the rubber scrapers in 2018. While the SWPCA reported that the concrete is
in good condition for its age, moderate corrosion was observed on the mechanisms at the time of the site
inspection. In 2019, effluent launder covers were installed on Secondary Clarifiers #1, 2, and 4. Since
installation, the SWPCA reported that there has been a significant reduction in algae growth and, in
effect, maintenance of effluent launders and UV system. To address corrosion issues the SWPCA
budgeted approximately $225,000 in the 6-year CIP (FY2021 and FY2022) to apply a protective paint
coating to Secondary Clarifiers #1, 2 and 4. In addition, there is $450,000 budged in the 6-year CIP
(FY2022) for the replacement of the Secondary Clarifier #3 collection mechanisms and drives.
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In 2017, a flow distribution box was added to combine effluent flow from each aeration tank and distribute
to the secondary clarifiers via four separate channels with weir gates. The SWPCA reported that the
modified system continues to operate well with no overloading issues related to flow distribution.

Final effluent disinfection is accomplished in two UV channels. The UV system has experienced periodic
problems related to low dosing, as discussed in Section 4.2.2. Both UV system control issues and algae
growth were a major contributor to the low dose readings, which the SWPCA has been addressing over
the years through major programming and control changes; increased cleaning frequency for the UV
screens; installation of a brush cleaning system for the secondary clarifier weirs, scum baffles and effluent
launders; and, most recently, installation of effluent trough and weir covers for the secondary clarifiers.
While these modifications have resulted in significant improvements overall, there are still UV dose drops
below permit limits. The SWPCA staff note that UV dosage is intentionally kept at 50, above the minimum
of 30, so that the minimum required dose can be achieved despite some of these issues. This results in
increased energy consumption, but has generally allowed for increased compliance with permit limits.

The issues identified with the UV system are being addressed as part of an upgrade project, which is
currently underway and anticipated to be completed by June 2021. The construction project was
packaged with the preliminary and secondary treatment upgrade projects (discussed previously in this
section) and awarded in April 2019 for $26.8 million. The major items included in the upgrade are:

e Construct two new channels and install new UV system and controls consisting of three banks per
channel (two banks required for duty service; one bank on standby).

o Retrofit existing two channels and install new UV system and controls in only one channel consisting
of three banks (two banks required for duty service; one bank on standby). The other retrofitted
channel will be reserved for future expansion, if needed.

¢ Install two new power panel (one per basin) that shall be electrically connected to provide system
redundancy.

At the time of the July 2020 site inspection, the two new channels were constructed and undergoing
functional and performance start-up testing by the manufacturer. The third channel is anticipated to be
retrofitted by December 2020. Approximately $1.7 million is budgeted in the 6-year CIP (FY2021) to
complete the UV system upgrades, including start-up services and engineering services during
construction. Throughout construction, the SWPCA has continued to work with the UV system vendor and
consultants to address issues with this system, as they arise.

The three plant effluent pumps run on VFDs and are critical for the proper functioning of the plant during
daily high tides, as treated effluent cannot flow by gravity to the outfall during these events. Between
2015 and 2019, the SWPCA addressed several operational and mechanical issues with the pumps
through modification of the discharge header to increase capacity, rebuilding all three motors, replacing
two VFDs, repairs to internal mechanical components, and replacement of electrical components. After
performing repairs, the pumps were generally reliable, but recently experienced additional mechanical
issues. Due to the frequency of repairs in the past five years and critical nature of the effluent water
pumps, all three pumps were fully reconditioned in 2020. One of the reconditioned pumps is being
utilized as a spare and a new pump was installed. The SWPCA reported that the new and reconditioned
pumps are operating well and continue to only require two pumps to run during peak flow conditions with
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the third pump on standby, thereby providing vital redundancy in this critical system. In addition, the
pumps are operating at a lower speed, which contributes to energy savings.

4.2.3.2 Solids Handling

Sludge from the primary clarifiers is pumped to cyclone degritters and grit classifiers for grit removal.
However, this system is reported to be undersized and not maximizing grit removal, which causes grit to
travel to downstream processes leading to premature wear on piping and equipment. Due to heavy wear,
the grit system and associated piping needs frequent repairs, and the SPWCA maintains spare
equipment for frequently replaced and/or critical equipment. Recently the degritters were rebuilt,
including replacement of the troughs and augers. In 2016 and 2017, the primary sludge pipes were
replaced and/or repaired, and the SWPCA reported that there have been no further issues with the pipes
since work was performed.

The primary sludge pumps are approximately 30 years old and near the end of their useful lives. While
the pumps continue to function with no recent issues reported by the SWPCA, the pumps are undersized
in relation to the degritting system. The SPWCA replaced one of the motors in 2020 and has a spare
pump available for use if an existing pump requires repairs and/or replacement.

The issues identified with the grit classifiers and primary sludge pumps are being addressed as part of a
sludge degritting system upgrade project. There is currently $4.4 million budgeted in the 6-year CIP
(FY2021) for replacement of the sludge degritting equipment and primary sludge pumps and engineering
services during construction. Currently, the major items in the scope of work include:

¢ Replacement of existing cyclone and classifier with new grit separation and dewatering system.
e Replacement of three primary sludge pumps with larger pumps.
o Replacement of primary clarifier progressive cavity scum pump with a chopper pump.

e Replacement of primary sludge pump suction and discharge piping with common suction and
discharge header to provide system flexibility and redundancy.

The primary clarifier scum pump was replaced during the 2006 upgrade and recently underwent
replacement of the rotor, stator, and gearbox, and is in good condition.

The three gravity thickeners were constructed in the 1970s and were upgraded in 2012, including
replacement of all mechanical equipment and repairs to the concrete. Typically, only two of the three
thickeners are operated. Recently all three tanks were separately drained, cleaned, and inspected, and
the SPWCA reported that only Gravity Thickener #1 had minor concrete issues, which will be monitored.
While the gravity thickeners were reported by the SWPCA to generally operate well, preventative
maintenance flushing of the scum pipes is performed due to previous clogging issues. In addition, the
SPWCA performs daily preventative maintenance on the gravity thickener drives.

The four thickened sludge pumps (gravity thickener underflow) were replaced approximately five years
ago and the pressure gauges were replaced in 2018. The pumps are reported to operate well, but exhibit
minor to isolated moderate corrosion and experience occasional operational issues due to ragging, which
will be addressed with the installation of grinders in 2020.
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The gravity thickener scum pump was replaced in 2017 and, at that time, a second pump was added for
redundancy. Although the pumps are new, there is minor to isolated moderate corrosion, in addition to,
mechanical issues with the pumps. Both pumps are scheduled to be rebuilt in 2020. The thickened
sludge and gravity thickener scum pumps are in the same room and are possibly exhibiting signs of
premature corrosion. A HVAC system evaluation may help to identify if ventilation modifications are
necessary.

The two sludge blend tanks are over 15 years old and underwent repairs in 2012. The sludge blend
tanks operate well, but occasionally have issues with ragging. Consequently, a StrainPress® coarse
material separator was installed approximately seven years ago on the feed line to the sludge blend
tanks, which has helped, but not fully mitigated the issue. In addition, to reduce particle size entering the
sludge blend tanks, there is one grinder on the tank feed line, which recently had the cutter cartridge
replaced and operates well. In 2020, the SWPCA modified the sludge blend tank shafts with a pedestal
to reduce movement and mitigate unbalancing, which occasionally occurs when ragging accumulates
within the tanks. The tanks have been operating well with the recent modification. As part of the
preliminary treatment upgrade, the bar screens will be replaced to provide finer screening of solids to
mitigate fouling of downstream equipment. In addition, as part of corrosion preventative maintenance, the
tanks and other equipment in the sludge blend tank room (grinder and belt filter press pumps) were
painted in 2018.

The two GBTs are over 15 years old, and under the current wasting strategy (discussed in Section
4.2.3.1) only one GBT runs under typical operating conditions providing redundancy with the system. The
GBTs were fully refurbished in 2018 and 2019, including new rollers, belts, and gaskets, and are reported
to be operating well. The GBT support equipment is in good condition with the recent refurbishment of
the thickened waste activated sludge pumps and replacement of the level sensors for the discharged
thickened sludge, which has improved system operation and reliability.

The three BFPs are over 15 years old. While the BFPs operate well, the belts are replaced frequently due
to heavy wear and the rollers have been damaged over time leading to corrosion. In 2019, refurbishment
of BFP #1 was completed by the SWPCA, including replacement of the rollers, belts, and gaskets. For
the refurbishment of BFP #2 and 3, the SWPCA will be procuring parts and contracting installation work.
The SWPCA has received parts for BFP #3. There is currently $250,000 budgeted for FY2021 to
refurbish the remaining two BFPs. Under normal flow conditions, occasionally only one BFP can be
operated, but typically two BFPs are required; therefore, when repairs are underway on one BFP there is
sometimes no redundancy in the system. When BFP #1 was offline for repairs, the SWPCA closely
monitored the other two BFPs with no reported issues. The same approach will be taken during the
refurbishment of BFP #2 and #3, and, the SWPCA will evaluate and adjust operating strategy, if needed.

The three belt filter press pumps are over 15 years old and are reported to operate well. As part of
corrosion preventative maintenance, the pumps were painted in 2018.

The chemical feed system for the belt filter presses and gravity belt thickeners, includes two polymer
makeup units and five polymer feed pumps. One polymer feed pump was recently rebuilt, and a hot
water heating system was installed to assist with maintenance. The chemical feed system is in good
condition with only minor corrosion and reported to operate well.
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The sludge pelletization facility, operated and managed by Synagro, is over 10 years old and was
operating well until the sludge dryer experienced a dust explosion in August 2019. The explosion
damaged the dryer equipment and building masonry, in addition to blowing out the building’s windows,
door, and skylights, but no major structural damage occurred. Repairs were completed and the system
was back online in October 2020.

Prior to the explosion, the sludge dryer was operating at or close to capacity with limited options for
disposal of sludge cake due to incinerators operating at their capacity and landfills closing or not
accepting sludge cake. The SWPCA recently awarded a consultant to evaluate options for sludge
processing and disposal and develop a long-term Sludge Management Plan, which is anticipated to take
12 to 18 months to complete.

As previously mentioned, Synagro is responsible for a capital contribution up to $300,000 toward the cost
of one or more capital modifications at the sludge pelletization facility and/or the WPCF over the five-year
contract term. Synagro is in the process of evaluating capital improvements for the current contract term.
During the previous contract term, a few of the larger capital projects included: replacement of the
exhaust fan, ceramic media, and burners in the regenerative thermal oxidizer; improvements to the dryer
drums; and replacement of the conveyor bearings. In addition, a dust hazard analysis was completed in
2019, and the recommendations were implemented as part of the dryer replacement and building repairs.

4.2.3.3 Support Systems

The plant has two standby generators. One was installed with the 2006 upgrade and is exercised
regularly. This generator is rated for 2,000 kW and can power most plant needs. The plant also
previously maintained a second, older and smaller generator (900 kW) for standby power to the aeration
blowers, as previously noted. This generator was original to t